Cerebellar structure and function in psychotic disorders: From mechanisms to clinics

Edited by Ann K. Shinn, Wenbin Guo and Hengyi Cao

Published in Frontiers in Psychiatry





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-4178-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-4178-4

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Cerebellar structure and function in psychotic disorders: From mechanisms to clinics

Topic editors

Ann K. Shinn — McLean Hospital, United States Wenbin Guo — Central South University, China Hengyi Cao — Center for Psychiatric Neuroscience, Feinstein Institute for Medical Research, United States

Citation

Shinn, A. K., Guo, W., Cao, H., eds. (2024). *Cerebellar structure and function in psychotic disorders: From mechanisms to clinics*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-4178-4

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

- 04 Editorial: Cerebellar structure and function in psychotic disorders: from mechanisms to clinics Hengvi Cao. Ann K. Shinn and Wenbin Guo
- 07 Alterations of cerebellar white matter integrity and associations with cognitive impairments in schizophrenia Xuebin Chang, Xiaoyan Jia, Yulin Wang and Debo Dong
- **16 Big contributions of the little brain for precision psychiatry** Sheeba Anteraper, Xavier Guell and Susan Whitfield-Gabrieli
- 22 Cerebellar correlates of social dysfunction among individuals at clinical high risk for psychosis Isabelle R. Frosch, Katherine S. F. Damme, Jessica A. Bernard and Vijay A. Mittal
- 33 Cerebellar stimulation in schizophrenia: A systematic review of the evidence and an overview of the methods
 Jessica P. Y. Hua, Samantha V. Abram and Judith M. Ford
- 54 Cerebellar gray matter volume changes in patients with schizophrenia: A voxel-based meta-analysis Xing Li, Naici Liu, Chengmin Yang, Wenjing Zhang and Su Lui
- 64 Cerebellar transcranial magnetic stimulation in psychotic disorders: intermittent, continuous, and sham theta-burst stimulation on time perception and symptom severity Ann K. Shinn, Aura M. Hurtado-Puerto, Youkyung S. Roh, Victoria Ho, Melissa Hwang, Bruce M. Cohen, Dost Öngür and Joan A. Camprodon

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Ingrid Melle, University of Oslo, Norway

*CORRESPONDENCE Hengyi Cao 🖂 hcao2@northwell.edu

RECEIVED 26 November 2023 ACCEPTED 27 November 2023 PUBLISHED 07 December 2023

CITATION

Cao H, Shinn AK and Guo W (2023) Editorial: Cerebellar structure and function in psychotic disorders: from mechanisms to clinics. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1344882. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1344882

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Cao, Shinn and Guo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Cerebellar structure and function in psychotic disorders: from mechanisms to clinics

Hengyi Cao^{1,2,3*}, Ann K. Shinn^{4,5} and Wenbin Guo⁶

¹Institute of Behavioral Science, Feinstein Institutes for Medical Research, Manhasset, NY, United States, ²Division of Psychiatry Research, Zucker Hillside Hospital, Glen Oaks, NY, United States, ³Department of Psychiatry, Zucker School of Medicine at Hofstra/Northwell, Hempstead, NY, United States, ⁴Schizophrenia and Bipolar Disorder Program, McLean Hospital, Belmont, MA, United States, ⁵Department of Psychiatry, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ⁶Department of Psychiatry, National Clinical Research Center for Mental Disorders and National Center for Mental Disorders, The Second Xiangya Hospital of Central South University, Changsha, China

KEYWORDS

cerebellum, psychotic disorders, neuroimaging, neuromodulation, cognition

Editorial on the Research Topic

Cerebellar structure and function in psychotic disorders: from mechanisms to clinics

Research on cerebellar mechanisms in psychotic disorders has gained momentum in the past few years. A growing body of evidence has emerged to show the critical role of the cerebellum in cognition (1, 2) and pathogenesis of psychosis (3-6), and to demonstrate its potential value in treatment of schizophrenia (7, 8). In this Research Topic titled "Cerebellar Structure and Function in Psychotic Disorders: From Mechanisms to Clinics", we collated a range of studies highlighting recent advances in the understanding of cerebellar structure and function in psychotic disorders. These studies, conducted primarily in patient samples, approached this topic by leveraging two major strategies commonly used in clinical neuroscience research, namely, neuroimaging and neuromodulation. Neuroimaging research utilizes techniques such as structural (sMRI), diffusional (dMRI), and functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) to investigate gray matter morphometry, white matter microstructure, and neural activity and connectivity in vivo, linking their alterations to cognition and psychopathology. A more direct causal relationship from neural alterations to human behaviors can be informed by neuromodulation, including transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) as a widely used technique that regulates brain function by stimulation of a target region.

Three studies employed neuroimaging techniques to dissect region- and circuit-specific cerebellar abnormalities related to schizophrenia. Li et al. conducted a voxel-based metaanalysis to pinpoint the topography of cerebellar gray matter volume (GMV) changes in schizophrenia. Including a total of 25 studies comprising approximately 1,000 patients and 1,100 healthy subjects, they found that patients are associated with GMV reductions primarily in the left Crus II, right lobule VI, and right lobule VIII, three areas of the posterior cerebellum that have been linked to cognition in humans. Moreover, left Crus II GMV was negatively associated with patient age and illness duration, suggesting that this change may develop in tandem with illness progression, or reflect early neurodegeneration in the cerebellum in patients. These findings align well with the "cognitive dysmetria" hypothesis (9) that cognitive dysfunction may be an intermediate mechanism linking cerebellar abnormality and psychotic disorders. As another support for this hypothesis, Frosch et al. found that impaired social functioning (as measured by the Global Functioning Scale) in individuals at clinical high risk for psychosis was significantly correlated with reduced restingstate functional connectivity in Crus II and lobule VIII, the same cerebellar subfields reported in the above meta-analysis. This finding showed high regional specificity (i.e., was not observed in another control region, cerebellar lobule X) and was reversed in healthy subjects, suggesting that functional deficits in these specific cerebellar subfields may relate to difficulty in generating meaningful social behaviors and to future development of psychotic disorders. Together, these studies point to Crus II and lobule VIII as potential target areas for the treatment of cognitive and social deficits in schizophrenia.

The maintenance of the cerebellum's cognitive functions entails a delicate communication between the cerebellum and higherorder associative cortex in the cerebrum. Such communication is supported by white matter tracts, and deficits in cognitive functions may reflect alterations in white matter microstructure. To test this hypothesis, Chang et al. conducted a dMRI study to investigate voxel-wise changes in the cerebellar white matter and their associations with cognition in patients. The authors identified decreased fractional anisotropy (FA) and increased radial diffusivity (RD) mainly located at the left middle and inferior cerebellar peduncles, suggesting a potentially disrupted myelination in these peduncles. Notably, the FA and RD measures in these peduncles were found to be significantly associated with multiple cognitive domains including processing speed, working memory, and attention vigilance in healthy subjects but not patients, supporting the notion that intact microstructure of cerebellar white matter fibers is crucial to cognitive control in humans. However, due to the lack of direct association in the patient sample, it remains to be determined whether the detected alterations act as a causal mechanism for cognitive deficits or a secondary phenomenon emerged from the disorder or treatment. This calls attention to the need for more in-depth investigations of the cerebellum's input and output circuits, as proposed by Anteraper et al. in their perspective article. In the paper, the authors discussed the nuanced connections of the cerebellar-thalamo-cortical circuitry, with a particular focus on the dentate nuclei (DN), the primary output of the entire cerebellum. They argue that the DN can be functionally divided into three subfields, namely, the default-mode, salience-motor, and visual units. The detailed mapping of these functional units may add precision to the understanding of cerebellar connections and their function in psychiatric disorders, although more advanced imaging techniques such as 7-T MRI may be required to reach this goal.

On top of neuroimaging, two studies focusing on cerebellar TMS have brought this Research Topic closer to the clinic. Shinn et al. compared the effects of three commonly used cerebellar TMS protocols—intermittent (iTBS), continuous (cTBS), and sham theta burst stimulation—on timing-related cognition in patients with psychosis. By using a crossover design and an interval discrimination task, they found significantly reduced task reaction time after iTBS when compared with both cTBS and Sham, suggesting that the effect of cerebellar TMS on timing behaviors is dissociable and protocol-dependent. This study provides empirical evidence that may help guide the curation of cerebellar TMS protocol for future research and clinical use.

The choice of TMS protocol is only one of the many considerations in this research field. Hua et al. conducted a systematic review on present findings of cerebellar TMS in schizophrenia and discussed the current issues and obstacles to be overcome. With a total of 20 published studies, they found that cerebellar TMS is effective in the alleviation of negative and depressive symptoms, as well as increasing frontalcerebellar connectivity in patients. Relatively less evidence was shown for cognitive improvement, which, however, may relate to the methodological issues they have discussed. These include, among others, the precise location of the stimulation, stimulus intensity, treatment length, how sham is defined, and issues of sample size and sample heterogeneity. It will not be until these questions are fully addressed that cerebellar TMS can be more effectively harnessed for clinical translation. Despite these limitations, this review presented data that clearly support the cerebellum as a promising neuromodulation target for the treatment of psychotic disorders.

In sum, the collection of articles in this Research Topic highlights the nuanced connections linking cerebellum, cognitive and related functions, and schizophrenia, while also highlighting the potential value of the cerebellum in the development of novel treatment strategies for schizophrenia.

Author contributions

HC: Writing – original draft. AS: Writing – review & editing. WG: Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Schmahmann JD, Sherman JC. The cerebellar cognitive affective syndrome. *Brain.* (1998) 121(Pt 4):561–79.

2. Schmahmann JD, Guell X, Stoodley CJ, Halko MA. The theory and neuroscience of cerebellar cognition. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* (2019) 42:337–64. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-070918-050258

3. Moberget T, Doan NT, Alnæs D, Kaufmann T, Córdova-Palomera A, Lagerberg TV, et al. Cerebellar volume and cerebellocerebral structural covariance in schizophrenia: a multisite mega-analysis of 983 patients and 1349 healthy controls. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2018) 23:1512–20. doi: 10.1038/mp.2017.10

4. Cao H, Chén OY, Chung Y, Forsyth JK, McEwen SC, Gee DG, et al. Cerebello-thalamo-cortical hyperconnectivity as a state-independent functional neural signature for psychosis prediction and characterization. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:3836. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-06350-7

5. Cao H, Wei X, Zhang W, Xiao Y, Zeng J, Sweeney JA, et al., Cerebellar functional dysconnectivity in drug-naïve patients with first-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2022) 49:417–27. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbac121

6. Chambers T, Escott-Price V, Legge S, Baker E, Singh KD, Walters JTR, et al. Genetic common variants associated with cerebellar volume and their overlap with mental disorders: a study on 33,265 individuals from the UK-Biobank. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2022) 27:2282–90. doi: 10.1038/s41380-022-0 1443-8

7. Garg S, Sinha VK, Tikka SK, Mishra P, Goyal N. The efficacy of cerebellar vermal deep high frequency (theta range) repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) in schizophrenia: a randomized rater blind-sham controlled study. *Psychiatry Res.* (2016) 243:413–20. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.07.023

8. Brady RO Jr., Gonsalvez I, Lee I, Öngür D, Seidman LJ, Schmahmann JD, et al., Cerebellar-prefrontal network connectivity and negative symptoms in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2019) 176:512–20. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.180 40429

9. Andreasen NC, Paradiso S, O'Leary DS. "Cognitive dysmetria" as an integrative theory of schizophrenia: a dysfunction in cortical-subcortical-cerebellar circuitry? *Schizophr Bull*. (1998) 24:203–18.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Hengyi Cao, Feinstein Institute for Medical Research, United States

REVIEWED BY

Roscoe Owen Brady, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center and Harvard Medical School, United States Zhiqiang Sha, Max Planck Institute for Psycholinguistics, Netherlands

*CORRESPONDENCE

Yulin Wang yulin.wang90.swu@gmail.com Debo Dong debo.dong@gmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 14 July 2022 ACCEPTED 08 September 2022 PUBLISHED 26 September 2022

CITATION

Chang X, Jia X, Wang Y and Dong D (2022) Alterations of cerebellar white matter integrity and associations with cognitive impairments in schizophrenia. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:993866. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.993866

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Chang, Jia, Wang and Dong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC DV) The user distribution process.

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Alterations of cerebellar white matter integrity and associations with cognitive impairments in schizophrenia

Xuebin Chang^{1†}, Xiaoyan Jia^{2†}, Yulin Wang^{3,4}* and Debo Dong^{3,4,5}*

¹Department of Information Sciences, School of Mathematics and Statistics, Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, China, ²The Key Laboratory of Biomedical Information Engineering, Ministry of Education, Department of Biomedical Engineering, School of Life Science and Technology, Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, China, ³Key Laboratory of Cognition and Personality, Southwest University (SWU), Ministry of Education, Chongqing, China, ⁴Faculty of Psychology, Southwest University (SWU), Chongqing, China, ⁵Institute of Neuroscience and Medicine, Brain and Behaviour (INM-7), Research Centre Jülich, Jülich, Germany

"Cognitive dysmetria" theory of schizophrenia (SZ) has highlighted that the cerebellum plays a critical role in understanding the pathogenesis and cognitive impairment in SZ. Despite some studies have reported the structural disruption of the cerebellum in SZ using whole brain approach, specific focus on the voxel-wise changes of cerebellar WM microstructure and its associations with cognition impairments in SZ were less investigated. To further explore the voxel-wise structural disruption of the cerebellum in SZ, the present study comprehensively examined volume and diffusion features of cerebellar white matter in SZ at the voxel level (42 SZ vs. 52 controls) and correlated the observed alterations with the cognitive impairments measured by MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery. Combing voxel-based morphometry (VBM) and diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) methods, we found, compared to healthy controls (HCs), SZ patients did not show significant alteration in voxel-level cerebellar white matter (WM) volume and tract-wise and skeletonized DTI features. In voxel-wise DTI features of cerebellar peduncles, compared to HCs, SZ patients showed decreased fractional anisotropy and increased radial diffusivity mainly located in left middle cerebellar peduncles (MCP) and inferior cerebellar peduncles (ICP). Interestingly, these alterations were correlated with overall composite and different cognitive domain (including processing speed, working memory, and attention vigilance) in HCs but not in SZ patients. The present findings suggested that the voxel-wise WM integrity analysis might be a more sensitive way to investigate the cerebellar structural abnormalities in SZ patients. Correlation results suggested that inferior and MCP may be a crucial neurobiological substrate of cognition impairments in SZ, thus adding the evidence for taking the cerebellum as a novel therapeutic target for cognitive impairments in SZ patients.

KEYWORDS

schizophrenia, cerebellum, cerebellar peduncle, white matter, cognitive impairment

Introduction

Schizophrenia (SZ) is a devastating disease with suspected neurodevelopmental origins and a life trajectory (1). Since SZ has been recognized as a brain disease, neuroscience has been attempted to unravel the neuropathological mechanism of SZ (2). In recent years, advances in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), especially diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) and high-resolution structural imaging (T1), have led to a new wave of research revealing white matter (WM) connectivity interruptions in patients with SZ. Most of the existing work has used well-established and widely used diffusion metrics, such as fractional anisotropy (FA), mean diffusivity (MD), axial diffusivity (AD), and radial diffusivity (RD) to characterize the microstructure of global WM in SZ (3) with a particular interest in cerebral WM tracts (4), and mainly found changes in the frontotemporal, interhemispheric, and frontal thalamic WM tracts (5, 6). Reductions in FA are considered to be a sign of myelin abnormalities and/or axonal impairment (7). However, there is a lack of specific focus on the cerebellar WM microstructure in SZ in the literature.

Traditionally, the cerebellum is thought to be mainly dedicated to motor coordination (8). However, in recent years, numerous studies suggested that the cerebellum not only contributes to control of action but also involves in high-level cognitive and emotional functions (9–13). Last two decades, the critical role of the cerebellum in the pathogenesis and cognitive impairments of SZ has been emphasized by the "cognitive dysmetria" theory (also referred to as the "dysmetria of thought" theory). And previous animal and human neuroimaging studies have provided converging evidence for the involvement of cerebellar function in various behaviors that are dependent on circuits connecting the cerebellum with multiple cerebral cortical regions (14).

The output fibers of the cerebellum (excluding the vestibular cerebellum to the vestibular nucleus) primarily originate from the four deep cerebellar nuclei: the dentate nucleus, the embolic nucleus, the globular nucleus, and the parietal nucleus. The superior cerebellar peduncle (SCP) is the mainly cerebellar efferent pathway that connects the cerebellum to cerebral regions through the thalamus. In addition, the inferior cerebellar peduncles (ICP) contain efferent connections from the cerebellum to the vestibular nuclei (15, 16). All input

fibers of the cerebellum need to pass through the middle cerebellar peduncles (MCP) (15). After the cerebellar structural and functional lesion, patients with neurological disorders were found to exhibit a range of cognitive deficits, including impaired executive function, spatial cognition, language processing, and emotional regulation (17). Cerebellar dysfunction has been proposed to explain the cognitive-affective deficits and symptom heterogeneity observed in SZ (13). Consistent with this idea, existing studies have reported that patients with SZ have reduced volume in the cerebellar vermis (18). In addition, the SZ patients showed the disrupted network topography architecture of cerebellum in SZ (9, 19, 20). Some studies investigated the structural WM disruption of the cerebellum in SZ often using parcellation-based approach (21-23). Using whole brain voxel-wise approach, some studies have reported cerebellar and cerebral WM abnormalities in first episode SZ (24, 25). To the best of our knowledge, only one study investigated the voxel-wise abnormalities of cerebellar WM skeletonized features using Tract-Based Spatial Statistics (TBSS) and evaluated its associations with cognition function in SZ (26). This study found decreased FA in the MCP in SZ and such alteration was associated with cognitive impairments in SZ. Given that this study was mainly focused on the deep WM of cerebellum, more studies are needed to explore and validate the findings of this study and further investigate the voxel-wise WM abnormalities of cerebellum not only in deep WM but also in all regions of cerebellar WM peduncles (27).

The purpose of this study is to comprehensively examine volume and diffusion features of cerebellar WM in SZ at voxel level (42 SZ vs. 52 controls) and correlate the observed alterations with the cognitive impairments measured by Measurement and Treatment Research to Improve Cognition in SZ (MATRICS) Consensus Cognitive Battery. Specifically, Cerebellar-specific voxelbased morphometry (VBM) analysis was performed using the Spatially Unbiased Infratentorial template to characterize cerebellar WM volume. Diffusion metrics (FA, MD, AD, and RD) of cerebellar WM were calculated from the diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) data. We hypothesized that SZ patients would show altered WM features, and such alteration would correlate with the cognitive deficits in SZ patients.

Materials and methods

Participants

This study included 42 SZ patients and 52 healthy controls (HCs). The imaging and phenotypic information of data were downloaded from the Collaborative Informatics and Neuroimaging Suite Data Exchange tool (COINS)¹ (28) and data collection was performed at the Mind Research Network, funded by a Center of Biomedical Research Excellence (COBRE) grant from the National Institutes of Health. The diagnostic confirmation of SZ was confirmed by the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders. Psychopathological symptoms of SZ were evaluated using the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) (29). All patients were treated with antipsychotics, and the antipsychotic medication was converted to chlorpromazine equivalents. The MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery (MCCB) cognitive battery of all participants was additionally included in this study. All participants were excluded for a history of substance abuse or dependence within the last 12 months, a history of neurological illness, and traumatic brain injury. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants according to institutional guidelines required by the Institutional Review Board at the University of New Mexico (UNM). Five patients and three HCs were excluded because the whole cerebellum was not fully covered during the scanning of the T1 and/or DTI. Finally, 37 SZ patients and 49 HCs were included in the final analysis. The detailed demographic, clinical, and cognitive information of all patients and HCs are shown in Table 1.

Data acquisition

All images were collected on a 3-T Siemens Trio scanner with a 12-channel radio-frequency coil at the Mind Research Network. High resolution T1-weighted structural images were obtained using a five-echo MPRAGE sequence with following imaging parameters: time of repetition (TR) = 2.53 s, echo time (TE) = 1.64, 3.5, 5.36, 7.22, 9.08 ms, inversion time (TI) = 1.2 s, flip angle = 7°, filed of view (FOV) = 256 × 256 mm, number of excitations = 1, slice thickness = 1 mm. The scan parameters of DTI were as follows: TR = 9 s; TE = 84 ms; field of view (FOV) = 256 × 256 mm; slice thickness = 2 mm; number of slices = 72; slice gap = 2 mm; voxel resolution 2 × 2 × 2 mm; flip angle = 90°; number of diffusion gradient directions = 35, b = 800 s/mm². All images of DTI were registered to the first b = 0 image.

TABLE 1 Demographic characteristics of the schizophrenia patients and healthy controls.

Variables	SZ (<i>n</i> = 37)		HC $(n = 49)$		P-value	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD		
Age (years)	38.73	13.79	38.90	12.07	0.952	
Gender (male: female)	28:9		36: 13		0.816	
Handedness (right: left: both)	34: 2: 1		45: 2: 2		0.907	
Processing speed	34.51	11.59	53.73	8.14	< 0.001	
Attention vigilance	33.86	13.73	50.36	9.91	< 0.001	
Verbal working memory	37.46	13.70	48.22	11.08	< 0.001	
Verbal learning	37.86	8.36	45.02	6.59	< 0.001	
Visual learning	35.43	11.64	46.84	9.85	< 0.001	
Reasoning problem solving	42.00	10.25	54.70	7.66	< 0.001	
Social cognition	40.35	11.97	52.78	9.78	< 0.001	
Overall composite	29.25	12.83	49.74	8.98	< 0.001	
Chlorpromazine equivalents (mg/d)	396.78	354.14	-	-		
Duration of illness (years)	18.19	13.77	-	-		
PANSS-positive	14.35	4.60	-	-		
PANSS-negative	15.03	5.45	-	-		
PANSS-general	29.35	8.07	-	-		
PANSS-total	58.73	13.71	-	-		

SZ, schizophrenia; HC, healthy controls; SD, standard deviation; PANSS, Positive and negative Syndrome Scale.

Cognitive testing

To evaluate cognitive ability, the test of MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery was conducted for each participant (30). MATRICS measures cognitive performance in seven domains: processing speed, attention/vigilance, verbal working memory, verbal learning, visual learning, reasoning, problem solving, and social cognition. MATRICS has been regarded as the standard tool for comprehensively assessing cognitive deficits in individuals diagnosed with SZ and related disorders with excellent reliability and validity (30).

Voxel-based morphometry analysis

To investigate the structural morphological characteristics of cerebellar WM in patients with SZ, the cerebellar-specific VBM analysis was performed using the Spatially Unbiased

¹ http://coins.mrn.org/dx



FIGURE 1

Infratentorial template (SUIT)² (31) toolbox implemented in Statistical Parametric Mapping, Version 12 (SPM 12).3 Before the calculation of VBM, quality control of T1 images was carried out, and subjects without a complete cerebellar scan were excluded in the subsequent analysis. The steps of VBM analysis were as following (32). First, individual T1weighted sequences were manually reoriented the image origin at the anterior commissure. Next, the segment and isolate the function of SUIT were used to isolate the infratentorial structure (cerebellum and stem) from the surrounding tissue and segment the infratentorial structure into WM, gray matter, and cerebrospinal fluid. Then, the individual WM was normalized to the SUIT space using the Diffeomorphic Anatomical Registration Through Exponentiated Lie Algebra (DARTEL) algorithm and modulated by the deformation fields to preserve the original volume of the tissue. Finally, the resulted WM volume maps were smoothed using a 6 mm full width at half-maximum (FWHM).

Diffusion tensor imaging analysis

To investigate the structural diffusion features of cerebellar WM in patients with SZ, the DTI data were analyzed using the FMRIB Software Library (FSL).⁴ First, non-brain tissues were removed from the DTI data using the brain extraction tool algorithm in FSL. Next, head motion and eddy current corrections were carried out by the affine transformation between the gradient images and the baseline b = 0 image. Then, diffusion tensors were calculated using drift tool in FSL, and subsequently, FA, MD, AD, and RD maps were obtained. Besides, all subjects' FA maps were aligned with the

Montreal Neuroimaging Institute (MNI 152) template space using the non-linear registration tool FNIRT. Furthermore, the deformation fields from FA maps were used to project the registered MD, AD, and RD maps onto the FA skeleton. Finally, the resulted maps were smoothed using a 6 mm FWHM.

Statistical analysis

The independent *t*-tests and chi-square tests were used to compare the continuous and categorical variables demographic characteristics separately between of patients and HCs.

The significant group difference in VBM between patients and HCs was determined by permutation-based non-parametric test with 5,000 permutations and using the threshold-free cluster enhancement (TFCE) method in FSL Randomize (33), and age, gender, and cerebellar WM volume were regressed out as covariates. The significance was set at p < 0.05, family wise error (FWE) corrected for multiple comparisons.

Voxel-wise comparison of DTI features within the three cerebellar peduncles (27) between patients and HCs was performed using the same statistical method of volume analysis. Results with a cluster extent threshold of 100 contiguous voxels were reported. The statistical maps of the analyses were binarized at the threshold of p < 0.05, FWE corrected for multiple comparisons. Then, the binarized maps were multiplied to create cerebellar WM masks to determine WM changes within the cerebellum. Besides, between-group voxelwise comparisons of cerebellar skeleton were conducted using TBSS.5 The cerebellar skeleton obtained by multiplying the mean FA skeleton mask by the regional mask of cerebellar peduncles (27). The voxel-wise comparisons of DTI features

² http://www.diedrichsenlab.org/imaging/suit.htm

³ https://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm/software/spm12/

⁴ www.fmrib.ox.ac.uk/fsl

⁵ https://fsl.fmrib.ox.ac.uk/fsl/fslwiki/TBSS

DTI metrics	Brain regions	1	MNI coordinat	es	Cluster size	Peak <i>p</i> -value	
		x	у	z			
FA (SZ < HC)	ICP	-10	-39	-45	1,729	0.002	
	MCP	18	-44	-41	248	0.016	
	МСР	29	-52	-36	199	0.041	
RD (SZ > HC)	MCP	-18	-49	-40	480	0.005	

TABLE 2 Significant differences of voxel-wise DTI metrics between SZ and HC.

SZ, schizophrenia; HC, healthy controls; DTI, diffusion tensor imaging; MNI, Montreal Neurological Institute; FA, fractional anisotropy; RD, radial diffusivity; MCP, middle cerebellar peduncles; ICP, inferior cerebellar peduncles.

within cerebellar skeleton were performed using permutationbased non-parametric testing with 5,000 permutations, with age, gender, and cerebellar WM volume included as nuisance covariates. The statistical significance was set at p < 0.05 after adjusting for multiple comparisons using the TFCE method in FSL Randomize (33).

In terms of statistical analysis of tract-wise DTI features, we used the probabilistic atlas of cerebellar WM in the MNI152 space and created masks of three pairs of cerebellar peduncles (27). The FA map was then multiplied to create inclusive masks with the masks of cerebellar peduncles. The average FA values from each tract were extracted by averaging all voxels belonging to the tract. The between-group comparisons of tract-wise FA values of each tract were analyzed using the Mann-Whitney test with age, gender, and cerebellar WM volume included as nuisance covariates. In addition, similar processing and statistics were also carried out in MD, AD, and RD maps. The statistical significance was set at p < 0.05 (false discovery rate corrected).

Finally, to investigate the correlation between altered WM features of the cerebellum and the cognition assessments in the patient group and the HCs group, respectively, we calculated the Spearman correlations between the overall composite assessment and altered WM features within each group since the data of DTI metrics were not normally distributed (Shapiro-Wilk *W*-test, p < 0.05). Meanwhile, to help clarify the specific correlation between different cognitive domain and altered WM features, we also conducted correlation analyses between each cognitive domain and altered WM features as exploratory analysis without controlling the multiple testing correction.

Results

Cognitive performance

As expected, SZ patients showed cognitive deficits across all the seven domains: processing speed, attention/vigilance, verbal working memory, verbal learning, visual learning, reasoning, problem solving, and social cognition (**Table 1**). The group of SZ patients matched well with the group of healthy controls at basic demographic variables, i.e., age, gender, and handedness.

Voxel-based morphometry analysis

To investigate the structural morphological differences in cerebellar WM between SZ patients and HCs, we contrasted the cerebellar WM volume maps between the two groups. The SZ patients did not differ from HCs regarding the cerebellar WM volume at voxel level.

Diffusion tensor imaging analysis

In voxel-wise DTI features, compared to HCs, SZ patients showed WM changes in a region across MCP and ICP. In detail, SZ patients showed decreased FA in left ICP and right MCP (**Figure 1** and **Table 2**) and increased RD in left MCP (**Figure 1** and **Table 2**). The significant group differences were mainly located in the left cerebellum (**Figure 1**). The SZ patients did not differ from HCs regarding MD and AD. Besides, no significant group difference was found in terms of cerebellar skeletonized DTI metrics.

In tract-wise DTI features, no significant difference was found between SZ patients and HCs in any DTI features.

Correlations between altered white matter features and cognitive assessments

For the correlations between altered WM features and overall composite assessment, a significant positive correlation was found between the mean FA value in the altered region across ICP and MCP and overall composite in HCs but not in SZ patients. The mean FA value in the altered region in HCs was positively correlated with overall composite ($\rho = 0.320$, p = 0.037, **Figure 2A**), but no significant correlation was found in SZ patients (**Figure 2A**).

Besides, for the correlations between altered WM features and different cognitive domain, a significant positive correlation was found between mean FA value in the altered region and different cognitive domain in HCs but not in SZ patients. Similarly, a significant negative correlation was observed



between the mean RD value in the altered region and different cognitive domain in HCs but not in SZ patients. In detail, the mean FA value in the altered region in HCs was positively correlated with processing speed ($\rho = 0.417$, p = 0.003), working memory ($\rho = 0.337$, p = 0.018), and attention vigilance ($\rho = 0.335$, p = 0.025), but no significant correlation was found in SZ patients (**Figure 2B**). Besides, the mean RD value in the altered region in HCs was negatively correlated with attention vigilance ($\rho = -0.296$, p = 0.046), but no significant correlation was found in SZ patients (**Figure 2B**).

Furthermore, we also investigated the Spearman correlation between cognitive assessments and mean FA values in three cerebellar peduncles (27) separately as exploratory analysis. Similar to the main findings, cognitive assessments correlated with mean FA values in cerebellar peduncles in HCs but not in SZ patients (Supplementary Figure 1). Besides, to be reassuring that the findings observed in ENIGMA consortium (34) can be replicated in the COBRE dataset, we evaluated the group difference of mean FA in anterior corona radiata (the most associated with cognition in ENIGMA study) and further investigated the Spearman correlation between cognitive assessment and mean FA in anterior corona radiata. Compared with HCs, SZ patients showed decreased FA in anterior corona radiata (t = -3.29, p = 0.002). The mean FA values in anterior corona radiata in HCs was positively correlated with attention vigilance ($\rho = 0.302$, p = 0.044), but no significant correlation was found in SZ patients.

Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to comprehensively investigate the WM features of the cerebellum at the voxel-level in patients with SZ, and further assess the correlation between altered WM features and cognitive assessments in SZ. The key findings of this study were that we observed voxel-wise WM abnormalities (FA and RD) mainly across the left MCP and ICP. However, no significant difference was found between SZ patients and HCs in any tract-wise and skeletonized DTI features and voxel-level cerebellar WM volume. Importantly, significant correlations between the altered WM features and cognitive assessments only revealed in HCs but not in SZ patients. The present findings suggested that the voxel-wise WM integrity analysis might be a more sensitive way to investigate the cerebellar WM abnormalities in SZ patients. And these findings also highlighted the important role left MCP and ICP in cognitive disruption in SZ.

Previous studies have investigated the WM structural connectivity (35-37) or VBM (38-40) in the whole brain in SZ patients. Although a previous meta-analysis study has investigated changes of gray matter in the cerebellum (41), no study has comprehensively focused on cerebellar WM abnormalities by a combined VBM and DTI method. This study filled this gap and found that SZ patients did not show significant abnormality in cerebellar WM volumes and significant abnormality in tract-wise and skeletonized WM structural connectivity while showing decreased FA and increased RD mainly in a region across left MCP and ICP in voxel-wise WM structural connectivity. These findings were consistent with the previous study that evidenced the voxelbased diffusion data analysis is more sensitive than tractwise analysis in identifying WM abnormalities (36). Besides, despite the analysis of voxel-wise cerebellar WM structural connectivity revealed significant effect in cerebellar peduncles but not cerebellar skeleton in our work. This findings was inconsistent with Kim et al.'s study (26), which demonstrated significant effect in the cerebellar skeleton. Interestingly, we found significant decreased FA in MCP, which was consistent with the impaired regions observed in Kim et al.'s study (26). These points highlighted future studies with large sample size are needed to further validate these observed results. Previous study indicated that reduction of FA might reflect damage or disordered WM and fiber structure caused by axonal loss or demyelization while elevation of RD can result from reduced myelin integrity (7). Therefore, we suspected that decreased

FA together with increased RD might reflect demyelination of the cerebellum in patients with SZ. Interestingly, our previous meta-analysis study documented that, compared to HCs, SZ patients exhibited widespread reduced FA in the left side of the brain (6), and the previous WM studies of whole brain also found that such changes were mainly located in the left side of the brain in SZ (42, 43). The present observed that such changes in WM of cerebellum were located in the left cerebellum, which provided further evidence for the leftward changes in some key white-matter tracts in SZ (44). It should be noted that the cerebellar MCP and ICP peduncles, as the input fiber of the cerebellum, are the main pathway to communicate with the cerebrum and cerebellum. Decreased FA and increased RD in cerebellar peduncles in SZ patients might be related to the cerebrocerebellar dysconnectivity (26, 45). In addition, in VBM, we did not find significant abnormality in cerebellar WM volume in SZ patients. In SZ, although FA changes are usually associated with atrophy, they may not have volume changes depending on the method, the region studied and the underlying pathological changes (46). Collectively, the present study provided precise location for the changes of cerebellar WM in SZ and observed changes of WM integrity in MCP and ICP provided a further structural basis for the well-documented abnormal cerebellar-cerebral functional connectivity in SZ (9, 47, 48).

Interestingly, the cognitive assessments were positively correlated with FA and negatively correlated with RD in left cerebellar peduncles in HCs but not in SZ patients. Similarly, the cognitive assessments were positively correlated with FA in anterior corona radiata in HCs but not in SZ patients. These findings were conceptually similar to the previous study that demonstrated the positive correlation between FA in inferior and middle frontal gyrus and cognitive assessments in HCs but not in patients with SZ (43). This finding not only suggests that the ACR alteration can be replicated in the present study but also implies that prior large-scale studies such as ENIGMA may have missed a significant finding in cerebellar peduncle by excluding the cerebellum from comparisons of WM differences between schizophrenia and controls. In addition, we observed significant positive correlation the mean FA values of anterior corona radiata and cognition function in HCs but not in SZ groups. This finding was not consistent with Kochunov et al.s' study, which observed such correlation both in SZ patients and HCs. Such inconsistence calls on future studies to pay more attention on the heterogeneity of the included sample. Besides, previous studies demonstrated that executive dysfunction is one of the most common dysfunctions in the course of SZ (49, 50), the observed impairments across all the domains of MATRICS further supported this idea. The integrity of the cerebellar peduncles WM connectivity plays a crucial role in the reciprocal communication between the cerebellum and the cerebral cortex (10), thus it can

reasonably explain that the FA of the cerebellar peduncles will be related to the processing speed and attention vigilance in HCs but not in SZ patients. Functional imaging studies have suggested that the dysfunction of the prefrontal cortex is a critical neural substrate for cognitive dysfunction in SZ via hypoconnectivity with prefrontal-cerebellar regions (especially during working memory tasks) (51-53). Our results showed that cerebellar peduncles predicted attention and working memory behavioral performance in healthy subjects, supporting the fact that cerebellar MCP and ICP have a critical role in working memory and attention performance in healthy controls (54, 55). However, the cerebellar WM-cognition relationships were disrupted in patients with SZ. This result suggests that cerebellar peduncles, i.e., MCP and ICP, might be a meaningful neurobiological basis for cognitive performance and a novel therapeutic target for cognitive impairment in SZ patients.

Notwithstanding its implications, the limitations of this study should be acknowledged. The relatively small samples of patients and controls were enrolled in this study, which might limit the generalization of the observed findings. Nonetheless, the current study still provides some evidence supporting that the WM of the cerebellum plays a critical role in the cognitive impairments of SZ. The other limitation is the effect of antipsychotic drugs, a common issue in many other studies in the field. While we cannot eliminate the effects of medication on WM structures and cognition impairments, we found that the altered WM of the cerebellum still did not correlate with cognitive assessments in SZ group after regressed out the Chlorpromazine equivalents (p > 0.05), suggesting that these associations are unlikely to be mainly driven by medication. Besides, the psychiatric comorbidities are common issue of patients with SZ, which might affect the observed results. However, the dataset of COBRE did not provide the information of comorbidities, which limit us to evaluate the potential effect of the comorbidity on the observed results.

In summary, we found voxel-wise WM abnormalities (FA and RD) in the left MCP and ICP of the cerebellum. We did not find tract-wise and skeletonized WM structural connectivity and volume abnormality of the cerebellum in patients with SZ. These results might suggest that the voxel-wise WM diffusion data analysis is more sensitive than tract-wise analysis in identifying WM abnormalities of cerebellum in SZ patients. Our correlation analyses showed that the FA of MCP and ICP was significantly associated with processing speed in HCs but not in SZ patients, suggesting that cerebellar peduncles might be a meaningful neurobiological basis of cognitive impairments and a novel therapeutic target for cognitive impairments in SZ patients.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the University of New Mexico. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

XC, XJ, and DD generated the idea of the study. XC and XJ downloaded the data and finished the calculation. XC, XJ, YW, and DD drafted and revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work has been funded by the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (grant no. SWU2209505).

Acknowledgments

Data were downloaded from the Collaborative Informatics and Neuroimaging Suite Data Exchange tool (COINS; http://coins.mrn.org/dx) and data collection was performed at the Mind Research Network, funded by a Center of Biomedical Research Excellence (COBRE) grant (5P20RR021938/P20GM103472) from the NIH to Dr. Vince Calhoun.

References

1. McCutcheon RA, Reis Marques T, Howes OD. Schizophrenia-an overview. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2020) 77:201–10. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.3360

2. Dong D, Wang Y, Chang X, Luo C, Yao D. Dysfunction of large-scale brain networks in schizophrenia: A meta-analysis of resting-state functional connectivity. *Schizophr Bull.* (2018) 44:168–81. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx034

3. Lee SH, Kubicki M, Asami T, Seidman LJ, Goldstein JM, Mesholam-Gately RI, et al. Extensive white matter abnormalities in patients with first-episode schizophrenia: A diffusion tensor iimaging (Dti) study. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 143:231–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.11.029

4. Kochunov P, Hong LE. Neurodevelopmental and neurodegenerative models of schizophrenia: White matter at the center stage. *Schizophr Bull.* (2014) 40:721–8. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu070

5. McIntosh AM, Munoz Maniega S, Lymer GK, McKirdy J, Hall J, Sussmann JE, et al. White matter tractography in bipolar disorder and schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2008) 64:1088–92. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.07.026

6. Dong D, Wang Y, Chang X, Jiang Y, Klugah-Brown B, Luo C, et al. Shared abnormality of white matter integrity in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: A comparative voxel-based meta-analysis. *Schizophr Res.* (2017) 185:41–50. doi: 10. 1016/j.schres.2017.01.005

7. Alexander AL, Lee JE, Lazar M, Field AS. Diffusion tensor imaging of the brain. *Neurotherapeutics*. (2007) 4:316–29. doi: 10.1016/j.nurt.2007.05.011

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fpsyt.2022.993866/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

The correlation between mean fractional anisotropy in cerebellar peduncles and cognitive assessments. (A) The correlation between mean fractional anisotropy in cerebellar peduncles and overall composite. (B) The correlation between mean fractional anisotropy in cerebellar peduncles and different cognitive domain. SZ, schizophrenia; HC, healthy controls; FA, fractional anisotropy; ICP, inferior cerebellar peduncles; MCP, middle cerebellar peduncles; SCP, superior cerebellar peduncles.

8. Thach WT, Goodkin HP, Keating JG. The cerebellum and the adaptive coordination of movement. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* (1992) 15:403–42. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ne.15.030192.002155

9. Dong D, Luo C, Guell X, Wang Y, He H, Duan M, et al. Compression of cerebellar functional gradients in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2020) 46:1282–95. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbaa016

10. Ramnani N. The primate cortico-cerebellar system: Anatomy and function. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2006) 7:511–22. doi: 10.1038/nrn1953

11. Hoppenbrouwers SS, Schutter DJ, Fitzgerald PB, Chen R, Daskalakis ZJ. The role of the cerebellum in the pathophysiology and treatment of neuropsychiatric disorders: A review. *Brain Res Rev.* (2008) 59:185–200. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev. 2008.07.005

12. Molinari M, Chiricozzi FR, Clausi S, Tedesco AM, De Lisa M, Leggio MG. Cerebellum and detection of sequences, from perception to cognition. *Cerebellum.* (2008) 7:611–5. doi: 10.1007/s12311-008-0060-x

13. Picard H, Amado I, Mouchet-Mages S, Olie JP, Krebs MO. The role of the cerebellum in schizophrenia: An update of clinical, cognitive, and functional evidences. *Schizophr Bull.* (2008) 34:155–72. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm049

14. Schmahmann JD, Guell X, Stoodley CJ, Halko MA. The theory and neuroscience of cerebellar cognition. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* (2019) 42:337–64. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-070918-050258

15. Keser Z, Hasan KM, Mwangi BI, Kamali A, Ucisik-Keser FE, Riascos RF, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging of the human cerebellar pathways and their interplay with cerebral macrostructure. *Front Neuroanat.* (2015) 9:41. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2015. 00041

16. Mirbagheri S, Kamali A, Cai C, Kasaie P, Pillai JJ, Gujar SK, et al. Quantitative assessment of changes in diffusion tensor imaging (Dti) metrics along the courses of the cortico-ponto-cerebellar tracts secondary to supratentorial human brain glial tumors. *Cancer Rep.* (2018) 1:e1108. doi: 10.1002/cnr2.1108

17. Hoche F, Guell X, Vangel MG, Sherman JC, Schmahmann JD. The cerebellar cognitive affective/schmahmann syndrome scale. *Brain.* (2018) 141:248–70. doi: 10.1093/brain/awx317

18. Ichimiya T, Okubo Y, Suhara T, Sudo Y. Reduced volume of the cerebellar vermis in neuroleptic-naive schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2001) 49:20–7. doi: 10.1016/s0006-3223(00)01081-7

19. Kim DJ, Kent JS, Bolbecker AR, Sporns O, Cheng H, Newman SD, et al. Disrupted modular architecture of cerebellum in schizophrenia: A graph theoretic analysis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2014) 40:1216–26. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu059

20. Dong D, Guell X, Genon S, Wang Y, Chen J, Eickhoff SB, et al. Linking cerebellar functional gradients to transdiagnostic behavioral dimensions of psychopathology. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2022) 36:103176. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2022. 103176

21. Liu H, Fan G, Xu K, Wang F. Changes in cerebellar functional connectivity and anatomical connectivity in schizophrenia: A combined resting-state functional mri and diffusion tensor imaging study. *J Magn Reson Imaging*. (2011) 34:1430–8. doi: 10.1002/jmri.22784

22. Okugawa G, Nobuhara K, Minami T, Takase K, Sugimoto T, Saito Y, et al. neural disorganization in the superior cerebellar peduncle and cognitive abnormality in patients with schizophrenia: A diffusion tensor imaging study. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry.* (2006) 30:1408–12. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp. 2006.05.014

23. Okugawa G, Nobuhara K, Minami T, Tamagaki C, Takase K, Sugimoto T, et al. Subtle disruption of the middle cerebellar peduncles in patients with schizophrenia. *Neuropsychobiology*. (2004) 50:119–23. doi: 10.1159/000079101

24. Zhang XY, Fan FM, Chen DC, Tan YL, Tan SP, Hu K, et al. Extensive white matter abnormalities and clinical symptoms in drug-naive patients with first-episode schizophrenia: A voxel-based diffusion tensor imaging study. *J Clin Psychiatry.* (2016) 77:205–11. doi: 10.4088/JCP.14m09374

25. Yang M, Gao S, Zhang X. Cognitive deficits and white matter abnormalities in never-treated first-episode schizophrenia. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2020) 10:368. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-01049-0

26. Kim SE, Jung S, Sung G, Bang M, Lee SH. Impaired cerebro-cerebellar white matter connectivity and its associations with cognitive function in patients with schizophrenia. *NPJ Schizophr.* (2021) 7:38. doi: 10.1038/s41537-021-00169-w

27. van Baarsen KM, Kleinnijenhuis M, Jbabdi S, Sotiropoulos SN, Grotenhuis JA, van Cappellen van Walsum AM. A probabilistic atlas of the cerebellar white matter. *Neuroimage*. (2016) 124(Pt A):724–32. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.09. 014

28. Wood D, King M, Landis D, Courtney W, Wang R, Kelly R, et al. Harnessing modern web application technology to create intuitive and efficient data visualization and sharing tools. *Front Neuroinform*. (2014) 8:71. doi: 10.3389/fninf. 2014.00071

29. Kay SR, Fiszbein A, Opler LA. The positive and negative syndrome scale (Panss) for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (1987) 13:261–76. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ 13.2.261

30. Nuechterlein KH, Green MF, Kern RS, Baade LE, Barch DM, Cohen JD, et al. The matrics consensus cognitive battery, part 1: Test selection, reliability, and validity. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2008) 165:203–13. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07010042

31. Diedrichsen J, Balsters JH, Flavell J, Cussans E, Ramnani NA. Probabilistic Mr Atlas of the human cerebellum. *Neuroimage*. (2009) 46:39–46. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroimage.2009.01.045

32. Qin Z, He XW, Zhang J, Xu S, Li GF, Su J, et al. Structural changes of cerebellum and brainstem in migraine without aura. *J Headache Pain*. (2019) 20:93. doi: 10.1186/s10194-019-1045-5

33. Winkler AM, Ridgway GR, Webster MA, Smith SM, Nichols TE. Permutation Inference for the general linear model. *Neuroimage*. (2014) 92:381–97. doi: 10.1016/ j.neuroimage.2014.01.060

34. Kochunov P, Coyle TR, Rowland LM, Jahanshad N, Thompson PM, Kelly S, et al. Association of white matter with core cognitive deficits in patients with schizophrenia. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2017) 74:958–66. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry. 2017.2228

35. Chen YJ, Liu CM, Hsu YC, Lo YC, Hwang TJ, Hwu HG, et al. Individualized prediction of schizophrenia based on the whole-brain pattern of altered white matter tract integrity. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2018) 39:575–87. doi: 10.1002/hbm.23867

36. Mamah D, Ji A, Rutlin J, Shimony JS. White matter integrity in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: Tract- and voxel-based analyses of diffusion data from the connectom scanner. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2019) 21:101649. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2018. 101649

37. Meng L, Li K, Li W, Xiao Y, Lui S, Sweeney JA, et al. Widespread whitematter microstructure integrity reduction in first-episode schizophrenia patients after acute antipsychotic treatment. *Schizophr Res.* (2019) 204:238–44. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2018.08.021

38. Kim GW, Jeong GW. White matter volume change and its correlation with symptom severity in patients with schizophrenia: A Vbm-dartel study. *Neuroreport.* (2015) 26:1095–100. doi: 10.1097/WNR.00000000000471

39. Lei W, Li N, Deng W, Li M, Huang C, Ma X, et al. White matter alterations in first episode treatment-naive patients with deficit schizophrenia: A combined Vbm and Dti study. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:12994. doi: 10.1038/srep12994

40. Onay A, Yapici Eser H, Ulasoglu Yildiz C, Aslan S, Tali ETA. Combined Vbm and Dti study of schizophrenia: Bilateral decreased insula volume and cerebral white matter disintegrity corresponding to subinsular white matter projections unlinked to clinical symptomatology. *Diagn Interv Radiol.* (2017) 23:390–7. doi: 10.5152/dir.2017.16519

41. Ding Y, Ou Y, Pan P, Shan X, Chen J, Liu F, et al. Cerebellar structural and functional abnormalities in first-episode and drug-naive patients with schizophrenia: A meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging.* (2019) 283:24–33. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2018.11.009

42. Ellison-Wright I, Bullmore E. Meta-analysis of diffusion tensor imaging studies in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2009) 108:3–10. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008. 11.021

43. Nazeri A, Chakravarty MM, Felsky D, Lobaugh NJ, Rajji TK, Mulsant BH, et al. Alterations of superficial white matter in schizophrenia and relationship to cognitive performance. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2013) 38:1954–62. doi: 10. 1038/npp.2013.93

44. Ribolsi M, Daskalakis ZJ, Siracusano A, Koch G. Abnormal asymmetry of brain connectivity in schizophrenia. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2014) 8:1010. doi: 10. 3389/fnhum.2014.01010

45. Okugawa G, Nobuhara K, Sugimoto T, Kinoshita T. Diffusion Tensor imaging study of the middle cerebellar peduncles in patients with schizophrenia. *Cerebellum.* (2005) 4:123–7. doi: 10.1080/14734220510007879

46. Santillo AF, Martensson J, Lindberg O, Nilsson M, Manzouri A, Landqvist Waldo M, et al. Diffusion tensor tractography versus volumetric imaging in the diagnosis of behavioral variant frontotemporal dementia. *PLoS One.* (2013) 8:e66932. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0066932

47. Cao H, Chen OY, Chung Y, Forsyth JK, McEwen SC, Gee DG, et al. Cerebello-thalamo-cortical hyperconnectivity as a state-independent functional neural signature for psychosis prediction and characterization. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:3836. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-06350-7

48. Brady RO Jr., Gonsalvez I, Lee I, Ongur D, Seidman LJ, Schmahmann JD, et al. Cerebellar-prefrontal network connectivity and negative symptoms in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2019) 176:512–20. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2018. 18040429

49. Alvarez JA, Emory E. Executive function and the frontal lobes: A metaanalytic review. *Neuropsychol Rev.* (2006) 16:17–42. doi: 10.1007/s11065-006-9002-x

50. Dugbartey AT, Rosenbaum JG, Sanchez PN, Townes BD. Neuropsychological assessment of executive functions. *Semin Clin Neuropsychiatry*. (1999) 4:5–12. doi: 10.1053/SCNP00400005

51. Dreher JC, Koch P, Kohn P, Apud J, Weinberger DR, Berman KF. Common and differential pathophysiological features accompany comparable cognitive impairments in medication-free patients with schizophrenia and in healthy aging subjects. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2012) 71:890–7. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.01.002

52. Eisenberg DP, Berman KF. Executive function, neural circuitry, and genetic mechanisms in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2010) 35:258–77. doi: 10.1038/npp.2009.111

53. Wu G, Palaniyappan L, Zhang M, Yang J, Xi C, Liu Z, et al. Imbalance between prefronto-thalamic and sensorimotor-thalamic circuitries associated with working memory deficit in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2022) 48:251–61. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbab086

54. Buckner RL. The cerebellum and cognitive function: 25 years of insight from anatomy and neuroimaging. *Neuron.* (2013) 80:807–15. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2013.10.044

55. Stoodley CJ. The cerebellum and cognition: Evidence from functional imaging studies. *Cerebellum.* (2012) 11:352–65. doi: 10.1007/s12311-011-0 260-7

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Hengyi Cao, Feinstein Institute for Medical Research, United States

REVIEWED BY

Charles Laidi, Assistance Publique Hopitaux De Paris, France Debo Dong, Southwest University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Sheeba Anteraper sheeba@mit.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 17 August 2022 ACCEPTED 15 September 2022 PUBLISHED 17 October 2022

CITATION

Anteraper S, Guell X and Whitfield-Gabrieli S (2022) Big contributions of the little brain for precision psychiatry. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:1021873. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1021873

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Anteraper, Guell and Whitfield-Gabrieli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Big contributions of the little brain for precision psychiatry

Sheeba Anteraper^{1,2,3*}, Xavier Guell⁴ and Susan Whitfield-Gabrieli^{3,5}

¹Stephens Family Clinical Research Institute, Carle Foundation Hospital, Urbana, IL, United States, ²Department of Bioengineering, University of Illinois Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, IL, United States, ³Department of Psychiatry, Massachusetts General Hospital and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ⁴Department of Neurology, Massachusetts General Hospital and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ⁵Department of Psychology, Northeastern University, Boston, MA, United States

Our previous work using 3T functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI) parcellated the human dentate nuclei (DN), the primary output of the cerebellum, to three distinct functional zones each contributing uniquely to default-mode, salience-motor, and visual brain networks. In this perspective piece, we highlight the possibility to target specific functional territories within the cerebellum using non-invasive brain stimulation, potentially leading to the refinement of cerebellar-based therapeutics for precision psychiatry. Significant knowledge gap exists in our functional understanding of cerebellar systems. Intervening early, gauging severity of illness, developing intervention strategies and assessing treatment response, are all dependent on our understanding of the cerebello-cerebral networks underlying the pathology of psychotic disorders. A promising yet under-examined avenue for biomarker discovery is disruptions in cerebellar output circuitry. This is primarily because most 3T MRI studies in the past had to exclude cerebellum from the field of view due to limitations in spatiotemporal resolutions. Using recent technological advances in 7T MRI (e.g., parallel transmit head coils) to identify functional territories of the DN, with a focus on dentato-cerebellothalamo-cortical (CTC) circuitry can lead to better characterization of brainbehavioral correlations and assessments of co-morbidities. Such an improved mechanistic understanding of psychiatric illnesses can reveal aspects of CTC circuitry that can aid in neuroprognosis, identification of subtypes, and generate testable hypothesis for future studies.

KEYWORDS

cerebellum, psychotic disorder, functional connectivity, dentate nuclei, cerebellothalamo-cortical circuitry

Introduction

Cerebellum's role in schizophrenia, led by Andreasen's work on the role of cerebello-thalamo-cortical (CTC) circuitry ["cognitive dysmetria" hypothesis (1, 2)], following Schmahmann's "dysmetria of thought" theory (3) is now widely acknowledged. Functional connectivity (FC) abnormalities have been reported in first-episode schizophrenia (4) and in individuals at clinical high risk (CHR) for psychosis (5–15). In spite of this mounting evidence, the FC of the dentate nuclei (DN), the primary "doorout" of the cerebellum is yet to be systematically investigated in psychotic disorders.

The DN, clusters of neuronal bodies embedded in the white matter (WM) of the cerebellum (16), link the cerebellar cortex to the extracerebellar regions, and contributes to the modulation of many aspects of motor and non-motor behavior (17). However, significant knowledge gaps exist in our functional understanding of cerebellar systems (18) in imaging-based systems neuroscience. This can be attributed to spatiotemporal limitations in functional MRI, because prior to the advent of simultaneous multi-slice imaging (19), cerebellum was often excluded from the field of view. It remains to be established whether abnormalities in dentato-cerebellar functional connectivity (FC) precede the manifestation of symptoms in psychiatric diseases. Critically, we lack an effective predictive model of disease onset/progression that takes the dentato-CTC FC into account.

A recent study (20), acknowledged as a pivotal work (21), provides causal evidence for cerebellar dysfunction in schizophrenia. The basis of this advancement is on the premise that greater network-wide modulation could be achieved with cerebellar stimulation compared to cerebral cortical stimulation (22). A large and expanding body of evidence from tract tracing studies in rodents and monkeys (23-26) has revealed DN-thalamic and DN-cerebellar anatomical relations. To date, no study has comprehensively characterized dentato-CTC FC networks in humans. A further refined mechanistic picture underlying the development, regulation, and modulation of behaviors characterizing the pathophysiology in psychiatric and neurological diseases can be gained by utilizing a circuit level approach including the DN in cerebellar-focused investigations. In this perspective piece, we highlight some of the ways to go about gaining a refined mechanistic understanding of CTC circuity and improving our causal understanding of symptom amelioration in treatment strategies such as transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS).

Probing dentato-CTC connectivity

Heterogeneous FC arrangement of the cerebellar cortex with extracerebellar structures emerges from the backdrop of a homogenous cerebellar cortical cytoarchitecture. Anatomical connections between cerebellar cortex and extracerebellar territories engaged in cognition and affect form the basis of the neuroscience of cerebellar behavioral neurology and psychiatry (27). Improved understanding of the functional anatomy of DN provides a novel avenue to study CTC circuitry. The deep cerebellar nuclei have reciprocal connections with cerebellar cortical areas (28). The thalamic nuclei, that are anatomically linked with virtually all macroscale networks of brain organization, including dopaminergic pathways (29), receive connections from the DN and also have reciprocal projections with specific cerebral cortical areas (30). For example, DN stimulation modulates prefrontal dopamine (31), a neurotransmitter system implicated in working memory (32). Pontine nuclei receive connections from each cerebral cortical territory targeted by the DN (33), and serves as a "door-in" to the cerebellar cortex (34). These reverberating connections that link the dentate nuclei to the rest of the brain are part of the complex circuitry of the nuclei of the cerebellum (Figure 1), and establish the significance of the DN in cerebello-cerebral interactions.

Characterization of functional territories in dentate nuclei in early psychosis

About one-third of individuals with clinical high-risk (CHR) for psychosis develop psychotic symptoms later on. For the reliable implementation of cerebellar-based therapeutics, a thorough understanding of dentate-cerebello-cerebral FC is imperative. DN, the largest and most lateral structure of the cerebellar nuclei system, receive projections from all aspects of the cerebellar cortex lateral to the paravermis (35). DN projects mainly to thalamus, connecting cerebellar cortex to thalamo-cortical projections, thus playing a central role in CTC circuitry. Multiple reverberating patterns exist in the connectivity between cerebellar cortex, cerebellar nuclei, and extracerebellar structures (Figure 1). These anatomical circuits establish DN as a central node in the cerebellar output circuitry, with functional specialization spanning the whole spectrum of primary, task-positive, and task-negative domains of brain function (41). The functional specialization in the DN echoes a similar set of macroscale divisions as that of the cerebral cortex. Default-mode processing [functional territory 1, FT1, in (41)] is the apex of the central axis of brain organization. Salience processing (FT2) is the cognitive opposite pole of defaultmode processing, and is linked to sensorimotor control in the brain. Visual processing (FT3) is the unimodal opposite pole of sensorimotor function, and represents the third and last central component of human DN specialization. This continuous unimodal-to-transmodal view is not only a theoretical construct of cognitive science, but also an anatomical reality in the cerebral cortex (42).

The functional parcellation of DN (41) can add precision to the selection of seed regions of interest in studies of psychotic disorders (43, 44). In Anteraper et al. (43), we analyzed 153 participants with CHR and 93 age-, sex-, and educationmatched healthy controls (HC) in the Shanghai At Risk for Psychosis (SHARP) program. Twenty-three subjects converted to psychosis (CHR+) before the next clinical follow-up, a year later. There were no significant differences in baseline Structured Interview of Psychosis-risk Syndromes (SIPS) scores in CHR+ compared to those who did not develop psychosis (CHR-). While functional abnormalities were detected in all FTs of the DN, the DMN territory revealed more statistically significant differences compared to FT2 and FT3. Lack of anti-correlations



between FT1 and DLPFC (cluster 4 in Figure 2) may indicate difficulties in executive control (43). Xie et al. (44) studied 92 patients and 86 controls, and reported that dentato-cerebello-cerebral FC abnormalities may contribute to schizophrenia symptoms and its pathophysiology.

Improvement of our causal understanding of symptom amelioration in treatment strategies such as TMS

Precision medicine relies on the degree of our causal understanding of response to treatment. The prediction accuracy of disease status/sub-types can accelerate progress in this domain. Prediction of disease status prior to symptom manifestation (early detection) is another key component of this. Specific examples of how functional changes in brain network organization can be used for prediction has been reported previously in the context of conversion to psychosis (45). When combined with longitudinal behavioral measures, FC measures are emerging as promising biomarkers to understand vulnerability to predict clinical outcome in the prodromal stage of schizophrenia (46). Since the cerebellum is capable of operating in a compensatory role to restore function in response to insult, building on and leveraging non-invasive cerebellarcentric neuromodulation strategies (20) can gather a refined mechanistic understanding of brain response mechanisms in psychosis. This can aid in the development of personalized treatment approaches. DN stimulation may be achieved with TMS, although TMS will necessarily induce stimulation in the areas of cerebellar cortex located in between the stimulator and the DN, and will not achieve levels of spatial precision required to stimulate sub-regions of the DN. These two limitations, namely, the inability to avoid the cerebellar cortical surface, and the inability to stimulate specific DN sub-regions, may be both overcome by two emerging methods of noninvasive stimulation. Low-intensity focused ultrasound has shown spatially precise modulation of brain activity in deep brain regions located beneath the cerebral cortex, such as the amygdala (47). Temporally Interfering Electric Fields, another emerging method of non-invasive brain stimulation, has shown successful modulation of deep brain territories such as the hippocampus without affecting neighboring lateral or surface areas (48).

Future directions

Building upon our work, we envision that further exploration of the cerebellar output circuitry will generate valuable contributions to the field of translational and precision psychiatry. Novel gradient-based analysis strategies (49) can be used to complement existing brain mapping approaches (50), and to detect functional abnormalities in psychiatric disorders that may remain hidden using other methods of analysis (51, 52). Cerebellum's interplay with cerebral cortical dynamics is still poorly understood. New results have demonstrated



that blocking/stimulating cerebellar cortical output through DN via the thalamus (CTC pathway) can modulate cerebral cortical dynamics as demonstrated by suppression/triggering of movement initiation (53). Extensive disruptions in CTC connectivity has been linked to "cognitive dysmetria" (1, 2) and increased risks for psychosis conversion (6, 7). Future research might investigate the possibility that some of these alterations may be specific to particular psychiatric disorders, while others may be linked to broader domains of psychopathology [as in (51)]. We recently estimated effective connectivity using spectral dynamic causal modeling (DCM) (54) in the Human Connectome Project dataset to examine cerebello-cerebral interactions indexed by FC between the cerebellar and cerebral cortex (55). This work supports the Universal Cerebellar Transform (UCT) theory, which posits that the neurological processes underlying cerebellar modulation of movement, thought and emotion (3, 56, 57) are the same. The existence of a UCT is a fundamental underpinning of the dysmetria

of thought theory that may be further interrogated using DN-targeted non-invasive stimulation in the future. Lastly, emerging methods of non-invasive brain stimulation may allow the development of spatially precise targets within DN as tools for the treatment of disease and for the study of cerebellar functional anatomy.

Technological advances in MRI

Blood oxygenation level dependent (BOLD) MRI contrast to noise (CNR) ratio, which is directly proportional to temporal signal-to-noise ratio (tSNR), is remarkably better at ultra-high field strengths. When used in combination with parallel transmit head coils (58) and optimized pulse sequences (59), 7T can offer unprecedented improvements in tSNR and spatiotemporal resolution for fMRI (60). Superior BOLD CNR that comes with these technological advances can be used for investigating the full range of DN-cerebral, DN-thalamic and DN-cerebellar FC. The field of cerebellar functional neuroanatomy is emerging with novel theories, which include functional gradients that dictate the position and relationship between cerebellar FTs. Identifying FTs of the DN with 7T resting-state fMRI and using these functional parcels to better characterize functional abnormalities in cerebellar-linked neuropathology can thus generate valuable contributions to the field of cerebellar neuroscience and translational psychiatry.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Boards at Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center and also by the Shanghai Mental Health Center. Written informed consent to participate in this study was not obtained since no human studies are present.

Author contributions

SA conceived the presented idea. SA and XG performed the data analysis and verified the analytical methods for the two publications that are highlighted in this perspective piece. SW-G contributed the data needed for the work and fueled the critical thinking needed to accomplish the work. All authors discussed the results and contributed to the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Andreasen NC, O'leary DS, Cizadlo T, Arndt S, Rezai K, Ponto LL, et al. Schizophrenia and cognitive dysmetria: a positron-emission tomography study of dysfunctional prefrontal-thalamic-cerebellar circuitry. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (1996) 93:9985–90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.18.9985

2. Andreasen NC, Paradiso S, O'leary DS. "Cognitive dysmetria" as an integrative theory of schizophrenia: a dysfunction in cortical-subcortical-cerebellar circuitry? *Schizophr Bull*. (1998) 24:203–18. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033321

3. Schmahmann JD. An emerging concept. The cerebellar contribution to higher function. *Arch Neurol.* (1991) 48:1178–87. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1991.00530230086029

4. Cao H, Wei X, Hu N, Zhang W, Xiao Y, Zeng J, et al. Cerebellothalamo-cortical hyperconnectivity classifies patients and predicts long-term treatment outcome in first-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2022) 48:505– 13. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbab112

5. Anticevic A, Cole MW, Repovs G, Murray JD, Brumbaugh MS, Winkler AM, et al. Characterizing thalamo-cortical disturbances in schizophrenia and bipolar illness. *Cereb Cortex.* (2014) 24:3116–30. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bh165

6. Anticevic A, Haut K, Murray JD, Repovs G, Yang GJ, Diehl C, et al. Association of thalamic dysconnectivity and conversion to psychosis in youth and young adults at elevated clinical risk. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2015) 72:882–91. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.0566

7. Cao H, Chen OY, Chung Y, Forsyth JK, Mcewen SC, Gee DG, et al. Cerebello-thalamo-cortical hyperconnectivity as a state-independent functional neural signature for psychosis prediction and characterization. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:3836. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-06350-7

8. Chen YL, Tu PC, Lee YC, Chen YS, Li CT, Su TP. Resting-state fMRI mapping of cerebellar functional dysconnections involving multiple largescale networks in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 149:26–34. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.05.029

9. Collin G, Hulshoff Pol HE, Haijma SV, Cahn W, Kahn RS, Van Den Heuvel MP. Impaired cerebellar functional connectivity in schizophrenia patients and their healthy siblings. *Front Psychiatry*. (2011) 2:73. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2011.00073

10. Guo W, Liu F, Chen J, Wu R, Zhang Z, Yu M, et al. Resting-state cerebellarcerebral networks are differently affected in first-episode, drug-naive schizophrenia patients and unaffected siblings. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:17275. doi: 10.1038/ srep17275

11. Guo W, Zhang F, Liu F, Chen J, Wu R, Chen DQ, et al. Cerebellar abnormalities in first-episode, drug-naive schizophrenia at rest. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2018) 276:73–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2018.03.010

12. Kim DJ, Moussa-tooks AB, Bolbecker AR, Apthorp D, Newman SD, O'donnell BF, et al. Cerebellar-cortical dysconnectivity in resting-state associated with sensorimotor tasks in schizophrenia. *Hum Brain Mapp*. (2020) 41:3119–32. doi: 10.1002/hbm.25002

13. Repovs G, Csernansky JG, Barch DM. Brain network connectivity in individuals with schizophrenia and their siblings. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2011) 69:967–73. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.11.009

14. Shinn AK, Baker JT, Lewandowski KE, Ongur D, Cohen BM. Aberrant cerebellar connectivity in motor and association networks in schizophrenia. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2015) 9:134. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015. 00134

15. Whalley HC, Simonotto E, Marshall I, Owens DG, Goddard NH, Johnstone EC, et al. Functional disconnectivity in subjects at high genetic risk of schizophrenia. *Brain.* (2005) 128:2097–108. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh556

16. Sultan F, Hamodeh S, Baizer JS. The human dentate nucleus: a complex shape untangled. *Neuroscience*. (2010) 167:965–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.03. 007

17. Yu X, Ba W, Zhao G, Ma Y, Harding EC, Yin L, et al. Dysfunction of ventral tegmental area GABA neurons causes mania-like behavior. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2020). doi: 10.1101/684142

18. Voogd J. What we do not know about cerebellar systems neuroscience. Front Syst Neurosci. (2014) 8:227. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2014.00227

19. Feinberg DA, Setsompop K. Ultra-fast MRI of the human brain with simultaneous multi-slice imaging. *J Magn Reson.* (2013) 229:90–100. doi: 10.1016/j.jmr.2013.02.002

20. Brady RO Jr, Gonsalvez I, Lee I, Ongur D, Seidman LJ, Schmahmann JD, et al. Cerebellar-Prefrontal Network Connectivity and Negative Symptoms in Schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2019) 176:512–20. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.18040429

21. Cao H, Cannon TD. Cerebellar dysfunction and schizophrenia: from "cognitive dysmetria" to a potential therapeutic target. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2019) 176:498–500. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2019.19050480

22. Halko MA, Farzan F, Eldaief MC, Schmahmann JD, Pascual-leone A. Intermittent theta-burst stimulation of the lateral cerebellum increases functional connectivity of the default network. *J Neurosci.* (2014) 34:12049–56. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1776-14.2014

23. Steele CJ, Anwander A, Bazin PL, Trampel R, Schaefer A, Turner R, et al. Human cerebellar sub-millimeter diffusion imaging reveals the motor and non-motor topography of the dentate nucleus. *Cereb Cortex.* (2017) 27:4537–48. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhw258

24. Prevosto V, Graf W, Ugolini G. Cerebellar inputs to intraparietal cortex areas LIP and MIP: functional frameworks for adaptive control of eye movements, reaching, and arm/eye/head movement coordination. *Cereb Cortex*. (2010) 20:214–28. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhp091

25. Lu X, Miyachi S, Ito Y, Nambu A, Takada M. Topographic distribution of output neurons in cerebellar nuclei and cortex to somatotopic map of primary motor cortex. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2007) 25:2374–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05482.x

26. Hashimoto M, Takahara D, Hirata Y, Inoue K, Miyachi S, Nambu A, et al. Motor and non-motor projections from the cerebellum to rostrocaudally distinct sectors of the dorsal premotor cortex in macaques. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2010) 31:1402–13. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07151.x

27. Schmahmann JD, Guell X, Stoodley CJ, Halko MA. The theory and neuroscience of cerebellar cognition. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* (2019) 42:337–64. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-070918-050258

28. Dietrichs E. The cerebellar corticonuclear and nucleocortical projections in the cat as studied with anterograde and retrograde transport of horseradish peroxidase. *IV The paraflocculus Exp Brain Res.* (1981) 44:235–42. doi: 10.1007/BF00236560

29. Sanchez-gonzalez MA, Garcia-cabezas MA, Rico B, Cavada C. The primate thalamus is a key target for brain dopamine. *J Neurosci.* (2005) 25:6076–83. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0968-05.2005

30. Guillery RW. Anatomical evidence concerning the role of the thalamus in corticocortical communication: a brief review. *J Anat.* (1995) 187:583–92.

31. Mittleman G, Goldowitz D, Heck DH, Blaha CD. Cerebellar modulation of frontal cortex dopamine efflux in mice: relevance to autism and schizophrenia. *Synapse.* (2008) 62:544–50. doi: 10.1002/syn.20525

32. Froudist-walsh S, Bliss DP, Ding X, Rapan L, Niu M, Knoblauch K, et al. A dopamine gradient controls access to distributed working memory in the large-scale monkey cortex. *Neuron.* (2021) 109:3500–20.e13. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2021.08.024

33. Schmahmann JD, Pandya DN. The cerebrocerebellar system. Int Rev Neurobiol. (1997) 41:31–60. doi: 10.1016/S0074-7742(08)60346-3

34. Kelly RM, Strick PL. Cerebellar loops with motor cortex and prefrontal cortex of a nonhuman primate. *J Neurosci.* (2003) 23:8432–44. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-23-08432.2003

35. Felten DL, O'banion MK, Maida MS, Netter FH. Netter's Atlas of Neuroscience. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier (2016).

36. De Zeeuw CI, Simpson JI, Hoogenraad CC, Galjart N, Koekkoek SK, Ruigrok TJ. Microcircuitry and function of the inferior olive. *Trends Neurosci.* (1998) 21:391–400. doi: 10.1016/S0166-2236(98)01310-1

37. Schmahmann JD, Pandya DN. Anatomical investigation of projections to the basis pontis from posterior parietal association cortices in rhesus monkey. *J Comp Neurol.* (1989) 289:53–73. doi: 10.1002/cne.902890105

38. Schmahmann JD, Pandya DN. Projections to the basis pontis from the superior temporal sulcus and superior temporal region in the rhesus monkey. *J Comp Neurol.* (1991) 308:224–48. doi: 10.1002/cne. 903080209

39. Schmahmann JD, Pandya DN. Anatomic organization of the basilar pontine projections from prefrontal cortices in rhesus monkey. *J Neurosci.* (1997) 17:438–58. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.17-01-00438.1997

40. Schmahmann JD, Rosene DL, Pandya DN. Motor projections to the basis pontis in rhesus monkey. *J Comp Neurol.* (2004) 478:248–68. doi: 10.1002/cne.20286

41. Guell X, D'mello AM, Hubbard NA, Romeo RR, Gabrieli JDE, Whitfieldgabrieli S, et al. Functional territories of human dentate nucleus. *Cereb Cortex.* (2020) 30:2401–17. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhz247

42. Margulies DS, Ghosh SS, Goulas A, Falkiewicz M, Huntenburg JM, Langs G, et al. Situating the default-mode network along a principal gradient of macroscale cortical organization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2016) 113:12574–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1608282113

43. Anteraper SA, Guell X, Collin G, Qi Z, Ren J, Nair A, et al. Abnormal function in dentate nuclei precedes the onset of psychosis: a resting-state fmri study in high-risk individuals. *Schizophr Bull.* (2021) 47:1421–30. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbab038

44. Xie Y, Xi Y, Cui LB, Li C, Xu Y, Zhang Y, et al. Altered functional connectivity of the dentate nuclei in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2021) 233:16–23. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2021.06.035

45. Collin G, Seidman LJ, Keshavan MS, Stone WS, Qi Z, Zhang T, et al. Functional connectome organization predicts conversion to psychosis in clinical high-risk youth from the SHARP program. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2020) 25:2431–40. doi: 10.1038/s41380-018-0288-x

46. Collin G, Nieto-castanon A, Shenton ME, Pasternak O, Kelly S, Keshavan MS, et al. Brain functional connectivity data enhance prediction of clinical outcome in youth at risk for psychosis. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2020) 26:102108. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2019.102108

47. Folloni D, Verhagen L, Mars RB, Fouragnan E, Constans C, Aubry JF, et al. Manipulation of subcortical and deep cortical activity in the primate brain using transcranial focused ultrasound stimulation. *Neuron.* (2019) 101:1109–16.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2019.01.019

48. Grossman N, Bono D, Dedic N, Kodandaramaiah SB, Rudenko A, Suk HJ, et al. Noninvasive deep brain stimulation *via* temporally interfering electric fields. *Cell.* (2017) 169:1029–41.e16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.024

49. Guell X. Functional gradients of the cerebellum: a review of practical applications. *Cerebellum*. (2021). doi: 10.1007/s12311-021-01342-8. [Epub ahead of print].

50. Van Essen DC, Ugurbil K. The future of the human connectome. *Neuroimage*. (2012) 62:1299–310. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.01.032

51. Dong D, Guell X, Genon S, Wang Y, Chen J, Eickhoff SB, et al. Linking cerebellar functional gradients to transdiagnostic behavioral dimensions of psychopathology. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2022) 36:103176. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2022.103176

52. Dong D, Luo C, Guell X, Wang Y, He H, Duan M, et al. Compression of cerebellar functional gradients in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2020) 46:1282–95. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbaa016

53. Dacre J, Colligan M, Clarke T, Ammer JJ, Schiemann J, Chamosa-pino V, et al. A cerebellar-thalamocortical pathway drives behavioral context-dependent movement initiation. *Neuron.* (2021) 109:2326–38.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2021.05.016

54. Razi A, Kahan J, Rees G, Friston KJ. Construct validation of a DCM for resting state fMRI. *Neuroimage*. (2015) 106:1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014. 11.027

55. Bukhari Q, Ruf SF, Guell X, Whitfield-gabrieli S, Anteraper S. Interaction between cerebellum and cerebral cortex, evidence from dynamic causal modeling. *Cerebellum*. (2021) 21:225–233. doi: 10.1007/s12311-021-01284-1

56. Guell X, Gabrieli JDE, Schmahmann JD. Embodied cognition and the cerebellum: perspectives from the dysmetria of thought and the universal cerebellar transform theories. *Cortex.* (2018) 100:140–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2017.07.005

57. Guell X, Hoche F, Schmahmann JD. Metalinguistic deficits in patients with cerebellar dysfunction: empirical support for the dysmetria of thought theory. *Cerebellum.* (2015) 14:50–8. doi: 10.1007/s12311-014-0630-z

58. Wu X, Auerbach EJ, Vu AT, Moeller S, Van De Moortele PF, Yacoub E, et al. Human connectome project-style resting-state functional MRI at 7 Tesla using radiofrequency parallel transmission. *Neuroimage.* (2019) 184:396–408. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.09.038

59. Moeller S, Yacoub E, Olman CA, Auerbach E, Strupp J, Harel N, et al. Multiband multislice GE-EPI at 7 tesla, with 16-fold acceleration using partial parallel imaging with application to high spatial and temporal whole-brain fMRI. *Magn Reson Med.* (2010) 63:1144–53. doi: 10.1002/mrm.22361

60. Raimondo L, Oliveira LAF, Heij J, Priovoulos N, Kundu P, Leoni RF, et al. Advances in resting state fMRI acquisitions for functional connectomics. *Neuroimage*. (2021) 243:118503. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2021.118503

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Wenbin Guo, Central South University, China

REVIEWED BY Tsutomu Takahashi, University of Toyama, Japan Anirban Dutta, University of Lincoln, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Isabelle R. Frosch isabellefrosch2026@u.nothwestern.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 25 August 2022 ACCEPTED 01 November 2022 PUBLISHED 01 December 2022

CITATION

Frosch IR, Damme KSF, Bernard JA and Mittal VA (2022) Cerebellar correlates of social dysfunction among individuals at clinical high risk for psychosis. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:1027470. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1027470

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Frosch, Damme, Bernard and Mittal. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Cerebellar correlates of social dysfunction among individuals at clinical high risk for psychosis

Isabelle R. Frosch^{1*}, Katherine S. F. Damme^{1,2}, Jessica A. Bernard^{3,4} and Vijay A. Mittal^{1,2,5,6,7}

¹Department of Psychology, Northwestern University, Evanston, IL, United States, ²Institute for Innovations in Developmental Sciences, Northwestern University, Evanston, IL, United States, ³Department of Psychological and Brain Sciences, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, United States, ⁴Texas A&M Institute for Neuroscience, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, United States, ⁵Department of Psychiatry, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States, ⁶Department of Medical Social Sciences, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States, ⁷Institute for Policy Research, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States

Introduction: Social deficits are a significant feature among both individuals with psychosis and those at clinical high-risk (CHR) for developing psychosis. Critically, the psychosis risk syndrome emerges in adolescence and young adulthood, when social skill development is being fine-tuned. Yet, the underlying pathophysiology of social deficits in individuals at CHR for psychosis remains unclear. Literature suggests the cerebellum plays a critical role in social functioning. Cerebellar dysfunction in psychosis and CHR individuals is well-established, yet limited research has examined links between the cerebellum and social functioning deficits in this critical population.

Method: In the current study, 68 individuals at CHR for developing psychosis and 66 healthy controls (HCs) completed social processing measures (examining social interaction, social cognition, and global social functioning) and resting-state MRI scans. Seed-to-voxel resting-state connectivity analyses were employed to examine the relationship between social deficits and lobular cerebellar network connectivity.

Results: Analyses indicated that within the CHR group, each social domain variable was linked to reduced connectivity between social cerebellar subregions (e.g., Crus II, lobules VIIIa and VIIIb) and cortical regions (e.g., frontal pole and frontal gyrus), but a control cerebellar subregion (e.g., lobule X) and was unrelated to these social variables.

Discussion: These results indicate an association between several cerebellar lobules and specific deficits in social processing. The cerebellum, therefore, may be particularly salient to the social domain and future research is need to examine the role of the cerebellum in psychosis.

KEYWORDS

cerebellum, social functioning, clinical high risk (CHR) for psychosis, prodrome, resting state

Introduction

Social deficits appear early during the clinical high-risk period (CHR) for developing psychosis and persist throughout the clinical course (1, 2). Poor social abilities predict poor clinical and functional outcomes for both individuals at CHR for psychosis and those with a psychosis diagnosis (1, 3–7). Therefore, the social domain may be a powerful

treatment target that could impact disease course and functional outcomes. Treatments targeting social deficits are limited as the neural mechanisms underlying them are poorly understood in this population. Parallel work in other populations [i.e., autism spectrum disorder (ASD)] and in healthy social processing suggests that the cerebellum may play a critical role in social ability (8). Yet, this possibility has not been explored in individuals at CHR for psychosis.

Three crucial components of social ability particularly relevant to the psychosis spectrum are: social cognition, social interaction, and social functioning. Social skills represent the dynamic and synchronous combination of complex behaviors. Competency in one social skill can give rise to another. For example, the ability to engage in a social interaction successfully relies on the ability to accurately appraise and respond to social situations. Together, the ability to conduct successful social interactions and apply appropriate social cognition, is paramount to building and maintaining a strong and extensive social network. It is important to consider broad and specific social skills given their complexity and interrelated nature. Here, the three primary social abilities of are imagined as interrelated layers, where social cognition is a core tenet of successful interactions, which then enables and reinforces successful social functioning. An extensive literature has already identified numerous facets of social processing impairment across the psychosis spectrum, yet their underlying biological mechanisms remain unclear (9-17). Understanding these mechanisms is fundamental for isolating specific treatment targets.

Biological mechanisms of social impairments in the CHR period for psychosis can provide critical information about the nature of social deficits. The neurobiology of social cognition among individuals at CHR for psychosis implicates cortical regions including anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), superior temporal gyrus (STG), medial prefrontal cortex (MPFC), orbitofrontal cortex (OFC), postcentral gyrus, supramarginal gyrus (SMG), insula, and temporoparietal junction (TPJ) (18–21). Extant work primarily focuses on cortical regions indicated in emotional processing and has not considered the contributions of subcortical regions associated with similar social deficits in other clinical populations.

Social difficulties experienced by autistic individuals¹ and those with psychotic disorders are markedly similar (23–26). Despite the clinical similarity, neuroimaging work in these respective disorders considers separate neural correlates to social challenges. The cerebellum is the primary and most consistent site of ASD-related symptoms, particularly social behaviors (27– 29). Although the psychosis field has predominantly focused on cortical and limbic regions implicated in social deficits (20, 30, 31). Cognitive and sensorimotor research indicates a central role of the cerebellum in psychosis and psychosis risk, its contribution to social deficits remains largely unexplored. To date, most studies of psychosis and individuals at CHR for psychosis are focused on cerebellar contributions to motor abnormalities, timing abnormalities, predictive learning, and symptom severity within the psychosis domain (32–36).

The current study investigated cerebellar resting-state functional connectivity within the context of social deficits (social interaction, cognition, and function) in those at CHR for psychosis syndrome. A multidimensional approach was applied to capture the richness of social processing by including retrospective parental observation, clinical assessment ratings, and a test of social cognitive processing. We predict aberrant connectivity is linked to social functioning deficits, and test this by examining group differences in the interaction between connectivity in social cerebellar regions and social function metrics (37-41). Furthermore, based on literature in the general population (42), as well as clinical populations [e.g., autism, schizophrenia (43, 44)], we predict that when compared to healthy controls, CHR individuals will have aberrant connectivity stemming from socially-mediated areas of the cerebellum (i.e., posterior lobules). We hypothesize that these predicted functional neural deficits in the CHR group will be associated with social deficits in domains of social interaction, cognition, and overall functioning. To assess whether impairments in social domains were tied to specific cerebellar social lobule abnormalities, we examined links with social processes and a control region (lobule X, which is implicated in vestibular control). We would not expect this region to be associated with social abilities. Given the breadth of social deficits found among individuals at CHR for psychosis, we expect that each social domain will be linked with cerebellar abnormalities. By exploring distinct relationships between these social domains and the cerebellum, we aim to shed light on what is and is not contributing to these social deficits, which might help to guide future research and intervention.

Methods

Participants

A total of 134 adolescents and young adults 68 CHR, 66 HC were enrolled in the Adolescent Development and Preventive Treatment (ADAPT) Program. CHR status was determined by the presence of attenuated psychosis symptoms, or the presence of schizotypal personality disorder accompanied by a global functioning decline at or before the age of 19, or a family history of psychosis with global functioning decline. Participants were excluded if they met any of the following: younger than 14 or older than 24, diagnosed with a psychotic disorder, diagnosed with ASD, history of traumatic head injuries or neurological disorders, a lifetime history of substance

¹ To reflect the expressed preferences of many in the autistic community, we use identity-first language ("autistic individuals") throughout the manuscript (22).

abuse disorder, contraindications for MRI. All participants provided written informed consent/assent (in the case of minors, guardians provided informed consent) and were compensated for their time. All procedures were approved by the University Institutional Review Board.

Subsamples of these participants have been evaluated with respect to non-motor learning rules (45), cerebellar contributions to symptom severity (46), abnormal hippocampal shape and symptom progression (47), postural sway abnormalities related to cerebellum dysfunction (32), sleep dysfunction (48), and emotion recognition (49). The current study is the first analysis of cerebellar subregions implicated in social cognition that has been conducted or any of the three primary social outcome variables have been analyzed in this sample.

Clinical characterization

Psychodiagnostic interviews were administered by trained assessors and included the Structured Interview for Prodromal Syndromes (SIPS) (50) to determine the presence of attenuated psychosis symptoms and the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV (SCID) (51) to rule out psychosis, substance abuse, and diagnose other psychiatric disorders.

Measures of social abilities

Social interaction

The Autism-Tics, ADHD and other Comorbidities inventory (A-TAC) (52) was used to assess retrospective social interaction quality. The A-TAC is a parent-informed questionnaire intended to identify broad phenotypic indicators of neurodevelopmental and psychiatric diagnoses across a child's lifetime. There are five items in the social interaction subscale rated as follows, "No" scored as 0, "Yes, to some extent" scored as 0.5, and "Yes" scored as 1. Total subscale scores are calculated by summing each item such that a maximum score of 5 indicates deficient reciprocal social behaviors and 0 indicates no social interaction issues.

Social cognition

Social cognition was assessed using the Managing Emotions subtest of the Mayer-Salovey-Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test (MSCEIT-ME) (53). In this neuropsychological assessment, participants are presented with 8 brief vignettes of difficult social situations and then four possible reactions, each of which varies in appropriate levels of emotional reactivity. Participants are instructed to rate the four reactions based on social effectiveness using a 5-point scale from 5, which would be very ineffective to 1, very effective. This scale was developed for populations with schizophrenia or other severe mental illness and has been successfully implemented in early high-risk populations (11).

Social functioning

Clinical impressions of current social functioning were made throughout the clinical interviews and assessed using the Global Functioning Scale—Social; GFS-S (54). The GFS-S evaluates the quality and quantity of peer relationships, peer conflict, age-appropriate romantic relationships, and relationships with family members were evaluated. Assessors provide an overall score ranging from 1 to 10, with 1 indicating severe social impairment and 10 indicating superior social functioning. The GFS-S has been widely used in clinical samples including participants at CHR for developing psychosis and has been shown to have strong internal consistency (55).

Image acquisition

Every participant completed a structural and resting-state functional scan acquired on a 3-Tesla Siemens Tim Trio MRI scanner (Siemens, AG, Munich, Germany), using a standard 12-channel head coil. First, structural images were collected with a T1-weighted 3D magnetization prepared rapid gradient multiecho sequence [MPRAGE; sagittal plane; repetition time (TR) = 2,530 ms; echo times (TE) = 1.64, 3.5, 5.36, 7.22, and 9.08 ms; GRAPPA parallel imaging factor of 2; 1 mm 3 isomorphic voxels, 192 interleaved slices; FOV = 256 mm; flip angle = 7° ; time = 6:03 min]. This was followed by a resting-state bloodoxygen-level-dependent (BOLD) scan during which participants were asked to close their eyes and relax. The scan was collected with a T2-weighted echo-planar functional protocol (number of volumes = 165; TR = 2,000 ms; TE = 29 ms; matrix size = $64 \times$ 64×33 ; FA = 75° ; $3.8 \times 3.8 \times 3.5$ mm 3 voxels; 33 slices; FOV = 240 mm; time = 5:34 min).

MRI scanning procedure

A turbo spin echo proton density (PD)/T2-weighted acquisition (TSE; axial oblique aligned with anterior commissure-posterior commissure line; TR = 3,720 ms; TE = 89 ms; GRAPPA parallel imaging factor of 2; FOV = 240 mm; flip angle: 120° ; .9x.9 mm voxels; 77 interleaved 1.5 mm slices) was acquired to check for incidental pathology.

Resting state functional magnetic resonance imaging preprocessing

Data were preprocessed in FSL (v.5) (56-58), which involved motion correction, brain extraction, high-pass filtering (100s), and spatial smoothing (6mm FWHM). Next, functional images

were aligned to the MNI 2-mm brain template with a two-step procedure. In the first step, the resting-state scan was aligned to the high-resolution MPRAGE using a linear boundary-based registration method, which relies on white matter boundaries (59). For the second step, the MPRAGE was non-linearly aligned to the template and the two registrations were then combined to align the fcMRI scan to the template. To account for motionrelated artifacts, temporal and motion derivative regressors were calculated with the Artifact Rejection Toolbox (ART; http:// www.nitrc.org/projects/artifact_detect/) for both outliers based on mean signal (>3 SD) and motion (>1 mm total). The resultant motion regressors were entered into the model as a temporal derivative nuisance covariate at the subject level.

Motion-related artifact control details

To account for motion-related artifacts, temporal derivative regressors were calculated with the Artifact Rejection Toolbox (ART; http://www.nitrc.org/projects/artifact_detect/). This resulted in three translation and three rotation parameters with additional image specific confound regressors based on brain activation and framewise movement. Brain activation outliers were calculated using both the mean global brain activity and z-normalized mean signal across all voxels as a function of time. Outliers were defined as any frames where the global mean signal exceeded 3 standard deviations. Framewise measures of motion (composite measure of total motion, or maximum voxel displacement, across translation and rotation) were used to identify any motion outliers. Motion outliers were defined as frames where the absolute value of motion exceeded 1 mm. The resultant motion regressors were entered into the model as a temporal derivative nuisance covariate at the subject level. Independent t-tests were used to examine group differences in total mean signal and motion outliers. Results indicated there were no significant group differences in the number of signal outliers $t_{(-0.625)} = 132$, p = 0.533. There was a trending difference in motion outliers where individuals at CHR for psychosis had fewer compared to their HC peers $t_{(-1.95)} = 132$, p = 0.054.

Functional connectivity: Statistical analyses

Functional connectivity analyses were performed in the CONN toolbox v20.b (60) and SPM12. The data were band-pass filtered from 0.008 to 0.09 Hz. Anatomical images were segmented into gray matter, white matter, and CSF with SPM12 in order to create masks for signal extraction. Five temporal components from segmented CSF and white matter were extracted using a principal components analysis within the CONN toolbox. These were used to correct for motion and

physiological noise without regressing out global signal, thus allowing for equivalent global signal.

Regions of interest (ROIs), including the bilateral posterior cerebellum (lobules VIIa, VIIb, VIIIa, and VIIIb), bilateral Crus II and bilateral Lobule X, were defined based on the SUIT atlas (61, 62). Posterior cerebellum and Crus II have been shown to contribute to higher-order cognition in the cerebellum in social abilities (42, 63-65). To assess specificity across the cerebellar lobule ROIs, lobule X, which is primarily involved in vestibular functions, was used as a control region. The mean time-series, averaged across all voxels within each lobular ROI, was used as regression coefficient. It was then correlated with all other voxels in the brain in separate seed-to-voxel connectivity analyses for each ROI. We completed a model for each ROI to investigate relationships between connectivity and the scores on the three measures of social function. All analyses were conducted as interactions such that we investigated areas where the associations between seed-to-voxel connectivity and scores on the measure of interest were different between the CHR and control groups. Therefore, analyses yielded only the regions identified in the results and Supplementary Table 1. Results were thresholded at p < 0.001 at the voxel-level, with a false discovery rate (FDR) cluster-level correction of p < 0.05 (66). To control for the number of social measurements, a Bonferroni adjusted alpha level of 0.017 (0.5/3) was applied to each ROI analysis. To control for outliers further, we applied a robust linear regression to these data using the MASS R statistical package (67).

Demographic analyses

Demographic data and behavioral differences were assessed using independent samples *T*-tests and Chi-squared tests using SPSS, v27. In three separate models, social interaction, social cognition, and social functioning were compared across diagnostic groups (CHR and HC) using *t*-tests. All analyses (imaging and group comparisons on social measures) were run with and without participants using antipsychotics and given that there was no difference in findings when omitting these participants (n = 8), we included them in subsequent analyses. *Post-hoc* analyses also controlled for sex and there was no significant group by sex interaction in any of the connectivity analyses.

Results

Demographic characteristics

Participant demographic and clinical characteristics are summarized in Table 1. There was no difference in age, or parental education, however, there was a difference between groups in sex, whereby the CHR group had significantly more

	CHR (n = 68)	HC $(n = 66)$	Total sample ($n = 134$)	Statistic	Р
Age mean (SD)	18.78 (1.52)	18.79 (1.90)	18.78 (1.71)	$t_{(132)} = -0.03$	0.977
Biological sex					
Female	38.2%	57.6%	46.8%	$X_{(1)}^2 = 5.02$	0.03
Male	61.8%	42.4%	52.2%		
Caregiver education (years) mean (SD)	15.41 (3.02)	15.64 (2.89)	15.52 (2.95)	$t_{(127)} = -0.46$	0.655
Current antipsychotic use (%)	11.8%	na			
Social interaction	N = 46	N = 28	N = 74		
	1.17 (1.24)	0.36 (0.55)	0.87 (1.10)	$t_{(72)} = 3.21$	< 0.001
Social cognition	N =65	N = 63	N = 128		
	44.92 (9.7)	48.90 (8.83)	46.88 (9.50)	$t_{(126)} = -2.42$	0.17
Social functioning	N = 68	N = 65	N = 133		
	6.54 (1.77)	8.66 (0.69)	7.58 (1.72)	$t_{(133)} = -8.99$	< 0.001

TABLE 1 Demographic and social functioning characteristics.

Parental education is the average years of education across both parents. Social interaction refers to social interaction difficulties measured by the Autism-Tics, ADHD and other Comorbidities inventory (A-TAC) (52) in which higher scores refer to increased social interaction impairment. Social cognition is quantified by the Managing Emotions subtest of the Mayer-Salovey-Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test [MSCEIT-ME; (53)] higher scores reflect efficient social cognition. Social functioning scores were tabulated using the Global Functioning Scale – Social (GFS-S) (54), where higher scores indicate successful maintenance, quality, and quantity of social relationships. - refers to negative t-value.



males than females and the HC group had more females than males, $X_{(1)}^2 = 5.02$, p = 0.03. There were no group differences by sex in any of the connectivity analyses.

Group differences in social deficits

As expected, the CHR group demonstrated impaired social function compared to controls; ranging from retrospective accounts of social interaction quality $[t_{(74)} = 3.42, p = 0.001]$, clinical impression of social functioning $[t_{(140)} = -9.19,$

p < 0.001], and social cognition [$t_{(132)} = -2.40$, p = 0.018] (Figure 1).

Connectivity patterns in social processing by group

Connectivity analyses were conducted to examine the role of posterior cerebellar lobules in social processing and identify potential mechanistic differences between the two groups related to social deficits. To assess the relationship between social

		Coordinates	\$			
	x	у	Z	cluster size	<i>P</i> FDR-corrected	Puncorrected
Social functioning						
VIIIb – right frontal pole	+10	+54	+32	268	0.002	0.0001

TABLE 2 Cerebellar seed to voxel connectivity analysis.

A Bonferroni correction was applied to control for the three social regions. Only FDR-corrected values <0.017 (0.05/3) survive the correction and are considered significant.

interaction, social cognition, social functioning on cerebellar connectivity across CHR and HC groups, a mean-centered social covariate was compared across groups to predict any connectivity effect of social cerebellar regions (lobules VIIa, VIIb, VIIIa, and VIIIb), bilateral Crus II) in separate models. To control for the three social regions, a Bonferroni correction was applied (only FDR-corrected values of less or equal to 0.017 (0.05/3) were considered significant. Analyses were run for each of the three social measurements. Below includes the significant result from these analyses, see Supplementary material for details about trending results related to social interaction quality and social cognition. Given the demographic sex differences between groups, sex was added as a covariate across all connectivity analyses and did not change the magnitude or direction of findings.

Social interaction

To assess the relationship between social interaction quality on cerebellar connectivity across CHR and HC groups, a mean-centered social interaction covariate was compared across groups to predict any connectivity effect of lobule VIIIa. No group by social interaction associated with connectivity survived correction for multiple comparisons (Supplementary Table 2).

Social cognition

To assess the relationship between social cognition on cerebellar connectivity across CHR and HC groups, a mean-centered social covariate was compared across groups to predict any connectivity effect on social cerebellum regions (lobules VIIa, VIIb, VIIIa, and VIIIb), bilateral Crus II) in separate models. Similarly, after the Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons, there was not a significant interaction between group by social cognition by connectivity (Supplementary Table 2).

Social functioning

A mean-centered social functioning covariate was used to compare patterns of cerebellar connectivity and social functioning quality between groups. There was a significant group by social functioning interaction associated with connectivity between VIIIb and right frontal pole ($p_{FDR} = 0.002$). When this model was fit *via* a robust regression, which is less sensitive to outliers than ordinary least squares, we find a two-tailed *p*-value of 0.019 for social functioning (see Table 2; Figure 2). Lower connectivity between lobule VIIIb and right frontal pole related to poor social functioning in the CHR group (r = 0.30, p = 0.015). The opposite pattern was shown in the HC group wherein higher connectivity between lobule VIIIb and right frontal pole related to higher social functioning scores (r = -0.29, p = 0.024).

Post-hoc lobule X specificity analyses

To determine whether this connectivity relationship was specific to subregions of the cerebellum or represented overall cerebellar function, we replicated the analysis with the control seed region unrelated to social functioning: lobule X (a region heavily implicated in vestibular function). As expected, this purely motor seed (lobule X) did not relate to any of the social deficits measured.

Discussion

Individuals at CHR for psychosis showed broad social deficits across three domains: social interaction, cognition, and functioning. Though the cerebellum has been widely and consistently shown to be a site for social impairment in other clinical disorders [e.g., ASD; for a review see (28)], this study is the first to explore its contribution to social impairments in individuals at CHR for psychosis. Results from this study implicate the cerebellum as a critical neural correlate for social functioning among individuals at CHR for developing a psychotic disorder. Lower connectivity between the posterior cerebellum seed, lobule VIIIb, and the right frontal pole was related to poorer social functioning in the CHR for psychosis group. In contrast, higher connectivity between these regions in the control group related to superior social functioning. Importantly, to increase the specificity of these results, we found that a cerebellar subfield unrelated to social domains (e.g., lobule X) did not show these connectivity patterns. These findings indicate that individuals at CHR for developing a psychotic disorder may fail to engage cerebello-cortical



connections necessary for supporting smooth and successful social experiences.

Social functioning impairments among individuals at CHR for developing a psychotic disorder were related to higher connectivity between lobule VIIIb and the right frontal pole compared to controls. Both these regions have been heavily implicated in decision making, monitoring and updating values, action observation, and attentional faculties (63, 68). Particularly within healthy controls, functional imaging studies have shown VIIIb to be strongly implicated in cognitions required for successful social functioning such as phonological memory and verb generation (69). And, evidence from morphological analyses done in autistic children found that decreased gray matter volume in this area significantly related to worse scores on social and communication items (27). This measurement of social functioning in this sample captures the most breadth of social processing since it holistically evaluates the quality and quantity of an individual's relationships. As such, the higher connectivity between these regions reflects a global impairment within the CHR group, whereby they may not be taking advantage of other efficient neural mechanisms to facilitate and maintain smooth relationships.

Connectivity results for the other measurements of social ability (social interaction quality and social cognition) were only at the trending level after additional corrections (see Supplemental material for results). These trending results merit a brief discussion given the that the potential social contributions of the cerebellum have been underexplored in this population. Resting-state social interaction impairments among individuals at CHR for developing a psychotic disorder were associated with lower connectivity between lobule VIIIa and the left precentral gyrus, whereas healthy controls exhibited higher connectivity. Lobule VIIIa is implicated in attentional resources and secondary motor representations (63, 70), while the left precentral gyrus is most commonly associated with voluntary movements. A potential explanation that warrants further study is that the motoric information likely relayed in the connectivity between lobule VIIIa and the precentral gyrus is distinctly social-motor information such as identifying and interpreting social movements and/or identifying facial expressions (71). At the trending level, impairments in social cognition among individuals at CHR for psychosis had higher connectivity between crus II and lobule VI. In comparison to control groups, individuals with schizophrenia have been shown to have higher intracerebellar connectivity (41), which may reflect impaired and uncoordinated internal models of social representations within those at clinical high risk for psychosis. Given that a primary function of the cerebellum is to improve motor, cognitive, and affective predictions, impairments can have a cascading effect on the quality and smoothness of how actors engage in the world.

Altered cerebrocerebellar connectivity has been widely observed in both schizophrenia populations and clinical high risks groups (36, 40, 72). Taken together, findings from the current study join the extant experimental work supporting evidence for Andreasen et al. (73–75). "cognitive dysmetria theory of schizophrenia" which posits that dysfunction in cerebello-thalamo-cortical circuitry results in mental incoordination, which give rise to heterogenous psychotic symptoms (36, 40, 72). The increased cerebrocerebellar connectivity patterns in the CHR group reflect potential mechanistic impairments that are present prior to the potential onset of a frank psychotic disorder.

Our results provide key new findings implicating the cerebellum as a neural correlate of social processing impairments among individuals at CHR for developing a psychotic disorder; however, some limitations need to be addressed. Although the sample size is comparable to other neuroimaging studies in this population [for a meta-analysis see (76)] there is slight variation in sample size between neuroimaging and social measures. Therefore, future efforts should aim to replicate these analyses in larger samples of this population (e.g., multisite consortium studies). In addition, the resting state scan time was limited to under 6 min to accommodate the reduced scanning tolerance of adolescents and those at CHR for psychosis. The length of the resting state scan is similar to work from other groups, particularly within this population, and has been shown to be equivalent power to longer scans (72, 77-79). The clinical high-risk state is highly heterogenous, and while some individuals may go on to convert to a psychotic episode, others experience stabilized CHR for psychosis symptoms, and some may experience fully remitted symptoms. Thus, distinct contributions of the cerebellum to social impairments may be important to consider within the context of clinical outcome. Future studies should look across the psychosis spectrum to improve our understanding of the nature and contribution of the cerebellum to social impairments. Additionally, cerebellar neuromodulation has been shown to be a promising treatment target within subclinical psychosis populations and future work should explore its potential to improve social deficits within the CHR for psychosis population. Gupta et al. (80) found improved motor learning rates within subclinical individuals following anodal cerebellar tDCS. Target parameters for cerebellar tDCS are variable with mixed findings, future work could utilize social cerebellar subregions as potential non-motor targets (81). While the current study did not have an extensive social processing battery, it included interrelated levels of social functioning across distinct informants. Despite the presence of these limitations, the findings in this current study identify a critical neural correlate to early social impairment symptoms in the high-risk for psychosis period, particularly within the

context of null results in the control lobule. Importantly, social impairment is a transdiagnostic hallmark of many clinical and neurodevelopmental disorders beyond the psychosis spectrum [e.g., autism spectrum disorder (ASD), depression, bipolar disorder]. Disentangling the shared and distinct pathophysiology underlying these social impairments across these disorders is critical to elucidate the distinct etiologies and design effective interventions. Thus, future analyses of social impairments should include and pay particular attention to potential cerebellar contributions.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

All procedures were approved by the Human Research and IRB University of Colorado, Boulder. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardians or next of kin.

Author contributions

IRF, KSFD, and VAM conceptualized and wrote the initial draft. JAB provided feedback and contributed to the final draft. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health (R01MH094650, R21/R33MH103231 to VAM) and National Institute of Mental Health (to KSFD). Details of all funding sources should be provided, including grant numbers if applicable.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those

of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fpsyt.2022.1027470/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Addington J, Liu L, Perkins DO, Carrion RE, Keefe RSE, Woods SW. The role of cognition and social functioning as predictors in the transition to psychosis for youth with attenuated psychotic symptoms. *Schizophr Bull.* (2017) 43:57–63. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw152

2. Ballon JS, Kaur T, Marks II, Cadenhead KS. Social functioning in young people at risk for schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2007) 151:29–35. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2006.10.012

3. Bolt LK, Amminger GP, Farhall J, McGorry PD, Nelson B, Markulev C, et al. Neurocognition as a predictor of transition to psychotic disorder and functional outcomes in ultra-high risk participants: findings from the NEURAPRO randomized clinical trial. *Schizophr Res.* (2019) 206:67–74. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.12.013

4. Cannon TD, Cadenhead K, Cornblatt B, Woods SW, Addington J, Walker E, et al. Prediction of psychosis in youth at high clinical risk: a multisite longitudinal study in North America. *Arch Gen Psychiatry.* (2008) 65:28–37. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2007.3

5. Cornblatt BA, Carrion RE, Addington J, Seidman L, Walker EF, Cannon TD, et al. Risk factors for psychosis: impaired social and role functioning. *Schizophr Bull.* (2012) 38:1247–57. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr136

6. Couture SM, Penn DL, Roberts DL. The functional significance of social cognition in schizophrenia: a review. *Schizophrenia Bull.* (2006) 32(Suppl. 1), S44–63. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbl,029

7. Mancuso F, Horan WP, Kern RS, Green MF. Social cognition in psychosis: multidimensional structure, clinical correlates, and relationship with functional outcome. *Schizophrenia Res.* (2011) 125:143–51. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2010.11.007

8. Van Overwalle F, Manto M, Cattaneo Z, Clausi S, Ferrari C, Gabrieli JDE, et al. Consensus paper: cerebellum and social cognition. *Cerebellum*. (2020) 19:833–68. doi: 10.1007/s12311-020-01155-1

9. Addington J, Penn D, Woods SW, Addington D, Perkins DO. Facial affect recognition in individuals at clinical high risk for psychosis. *Brit J Psychiatry*. (2008) 192:67–8. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.107.039784

10. Amminger GP, Schäfer MR, Klier CM, Schlögelhofer M, Mossaheb N, Thompson A, et al. Facial and vocal affect perception in people at ultra-high risk of psychosis, first-episode schizophrenia and healthy controls. *Early Interv Psychiatry.* (2012) 6:450–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2012.00362.x

11. Barbato M, Liu L, Cadenhead KS, Cannon TD, Cornblatt BA, McGlashan TH, et al. Theory of mind, emotion recognition and social perception in individuals at clinical high risk for psychosis: findings from the NAPLS-2 cohort. *Schizophrenia Res.* (2015) 2:133–9. doi: 10.1016/j.scog.2015.04.004

12. DeVylder JE, Ben-David S, Kimhy D, Corcoran CM. Attributional style among youth at clinical risk for psychosis. *Early Interv Psychiatry.* (2013) 7:84–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2012.00347.x

13. Healey KM, Penn DL, Perkins D, Woods SW, Addington J. Theory of mind and social judgments in people at clinical high risk of psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 150:498–504. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.08.038

14. Stanford AD, Messinger J, Malaspina D, Corcoran CM. Theory of Mind in patients at clinical high risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2011) 131:11–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.06.005

15. Thompson A, Papas A, Bartholomeusz C, Nelson B, Yung A. Externalized attributional bias in the ultra high risk (UHR) for psychosis population. *Psychiatry Res.* (2013) 206:200–5. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2012.10.017

16. van Rijn S, Schothorst P, Wout M, van 't Sprong M, Ziermans T, van Engeland H, et al. Affective dysfunctions in adolescents at risk for psychosis: Emotion awareness and social functioning. *Psychiatry Res.* (2011) 187:100–5. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2010.10.007

17. Vargas T, Damme KSF, Hooker CI, Gupta T, Cowan HR, Mittal VA. Differentiating implicit and explicit theory of mind and associated neural networks in youth at clinical high risk (CHR) for psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2019) 208:173–81. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2019.03.013

18. Dazzan P, Soulsby B, Mechelli A, Wood SJ, Velakoulis D, Phillips LJ, et al. Volumetric abnormalities predating the onset of schizophrenia and affective psychoses: an MRI study in subjects at ultrahigh risk of psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2012) 38:1083–91. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr035

19. Dodell-Feder D, DeLisi LE, Hooker CI. Neural disruption to theory of mind predicts daily social functioning in individuals at familial highrisk for schizophrenia. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci.* (2014) 9:1914–25. doi: 10.1093/scan/nst186

20. Lincoln SH, Hooker CI. Neural structure and social dysfunction in individuals at clinical high risk for psychosis. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2014) 224:152–8. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2014.08.008

21. Meisenzahl E, Koutsouleris N, Gaser C, Bottlender R, Schmitt G, Mcguire P, et al. Structural brain alterations in subjects at high-risk of psychosis: a voxel-based morphometric study. *Schizophrenia Res.* (2008) 102:150–62. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008.02.023

22. Bottema-Beutel K, Kapp SK, Lester JN, Sasson NJ, Hand BN. Avoiding ableist language: suggestions for autism researchers. *Autism Adulthood.* (2021) 3:18–29. doi: 10.1089/aut.2020.0014

23. Fernandes JM, Cajão R, Lopes R, Jerónimo R, Barahona-Corrêa JB. Social cognition in schizophrenia and autism spectrum disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis of direct comparisons. *Front Psychiatry.* (2018) 9:504. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00504

24. Morrison KE, Pinkham AE, Penn DL, Kelsven S, Ludwig K, Sasson NJ. Distinct profiles of social skill in adults with autism spectrum disorder and schizophrenia. *Autism Res.* (2017) 10:878–87. doi: 10.1002/aur.1734

25. Pinkham AE, Morrison KE, Penn DL, Harvey PD, Kelsven S, Ludwig K, et al. Comprehensive comparison of social cognitive performance in autism spectrum disorder and schizophrenia. *Psychol Med.* (2020) 50:2557–65. doi:10.1017/S0033291719002708

26. Sugranyes G, Kyriakopoulos M, Corrigall R, Taylor E, Frangou S. Autism spectrum disorders and schizophrenia: meta-analysis of the neural correlates of social cognition. *PLoS ONE.* (2011) 6:e25322. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0025322

27. D'Mello AM, Crocetti D, Mostofsky SH, Stoodley CJ. Cerebellar gray matter and lobular volumes correlate with core autism symptoms. *NeuroImage Clin.* (2015) 7:631–9. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2015.02.007

28. Fatemi SH, Aldinger KA, Ashwood P, Bauman ML, Blaha CD, Blatt GJ, et al. Consensus paper: pathological role of the cerebellum in autism. *Cerebellum*. (2012) 11:777–807. doi: 10.1007/s12311-012-0355-9

29. Wang SS-H, Kloth AD, Badura A. The cerebellum, sensitive periods, and autism. *Neuron.* (2014) 83:518–32. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.07.016

30. Green MF, Horan WP, Lee J. Social cognition in schizophrenia. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2015) 16:620-31. doi: 10.1038/nrn4005

31. Kronbichler L, Tschernegg M, Martin AI, Schurz M, Kronbichler M. Abnormal brain activation during theory of mind tasks in schizophrenia: a metaanalysis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2017) 43:1240–50. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx073

32. Bernard JA, Dean DJ, Kent JS, Orr JM, Pelletier-Baldelli A, Lunsford-Avery JR, et al. Cerebellar networks in individuals at ultra high-risk of psychosis: impact on postural sway and symptom severity. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2014) 35:4064–78. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22458

33. Dean DJ, Bernard JA, Orr JM, Pelletier-Baldelli A, Gupta T, Carol EE, et al. Cerebellar morphology and procedural learning impairment in

neuroleptic-naive youth at ultrahigh risk of psychosis. Clin Psychol Sci. (2014) 2:152-64. doi: 10.1177/2167702613500039

34. Mittal VA, Dean DJ, Bernard JA, Orr JM, Pelletier-Baldelli A, Carol EE, et al. Neurological soft signs predict abnormal cerebellar-thalamic tract development and negative symptoms in adolescents at high risk for psychosis: a longitudinal perspective. *Schizophr Bull.* (2014) 40:1204–15. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt199

35. Nogovitsyn N, Metzak PD, Casseb RF, Souza R, Harris JK, Prati LM, et al. Cerebello-limbic functional connectivity patterns in youth at clinical high risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2022) 240:220–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2021.12.041

36. Osborne KJ, Damme KSF, Gupta T, Dean DJ, Bernard JA, Mittal VA. Timing dysfunction and cerebellar resting state functional connectivity abnormalities in youth at clinical high-risk for psychosis. *Psychol Med.* (2021) 51:1289–98. doi: 10.1017/S0033291719004161

37. Andreasen NC, Pierson R. The role of the cerebellum in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2008) 64:81–8. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.01.003

38. Bottmer C, Bachmann S, Pantel J, Essig M, Amann M, Schad LR, et al. Reduced cerebellar volume and neurological soft signs in first-episode schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2005) 140:239–50. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2005.02.011

39. Brady RO, Beermann A, Nye M, Eack SM, Mesholam-Gately R, Keshavan MS, et al. Cerebellar-cortical connectivity is linked to social cognition transdiagnostically. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:1159. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.573002

40. Cao H, Chén OY, Chung Y, Forsyth JK, McEwen SC, Gee DG, et al. Cerebello-thalamo-cortical hyperconnectivity as a state-independent functional neural signature for psychosis prediction and characterization. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:3836. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-06350-7

41. He H, Luo C, Luo Y, Duan M, Yi Q, Biswal BB, et al. Reduction in gray matter of cerebellum in schizophrenia and its influence on static and dynamic connectivity. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2019) 40:517–28. doi: 10.1002/hbm.24391

42. Heleven E, van Dun K, Van Overwalle F. The posterior cerebellum is involved in constructing social action sequences: an fMRI study. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:11110. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-46962-7

43. Brady RO, Gonsalvez I, Lee I, Öngür D, Seidman LJ, Schmahmann JD, et al. Cerebellar-prefrontal network connectivity and negative symptoms in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2019) 176:512–20. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.18040429

44. D'Mello AM, Stoodley CJ. Cerebro-cerebellar circuits in autism spectrum disorder. Front Neurosci. (2015) 9:408. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00408

45. Bernard JA, Orr JM, Dean DJ, Mittal VA. The cerebellum and learning of nonmotor associations in individuals at clinical-high risk for psychosis. *NeuroImage: Clin.* (2018) 19:137–46. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2018.03.023

46. Bernard JA, Orr JM, Mittal VA. Cerebello-thalamo-cortical networks predict positive symptom progression in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis. *NeuroImage Clin.* (2017) 14:622–8. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2017.03.001

47. Dean DJ, Orr JM, Bernard JA, Gupta T, Pelletier-Baldelli A, Carol EE, et al. Hippocampal Shape Abnormalities Predict Symptom Progression in Neuroleptic-Free Youth at Ultrahigh Risk for Psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2016) 42:161–9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv086

48. Lunsford-Avery JR, Orr JM, Gupta T, Pelletier-Baldelli A, Dean DJ, Smith Watts AK, et al. Sleep dysfunction and thalamic abnormalities in adolescents at ultra high-risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 151:148–53. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013. 09.015

49. Pelletier AL, Dean DJ, Lunsford-Avery JR, Smith AK, Orr JM, Gupta T, et al. Emotion recognition and social/role dysfunction in non-clinical psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 143:70–3. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.10.039

50. Miller TJ, McGlashan TH, Rosen JL, Cadenhead K, Cannon T, Ventura J, et al. Prodromal assessment with the structured interview for prodromal syndromes and the scale of prodromal symptoms: predictive validity, interrater reliability, and training to reliability. *Schizophr Bull.* (2003) 29:703–15. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a007040

51. First MB, Spitzer M, Gibbon M, Williams J. Structural Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders (SCID-IV). New York State Psychiatric Institute, Biometrics Research (1997).

52. Larson T, Anckarsäter H, Gillberg C, Ståhlberg O, Carlström E, Kadesjö B, et al. The Autism - tics, AD/HD and other comorbidities inventory (A-TAC): further validation of a telephone interview for epidemiological research. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2010) 10:1. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-10-1

53. Mayer JD, Salovey P, Caruso DR. Mayer-Salovey-Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test (MSCEIT) User's Manual. Toronto, ON: MHS Publishers (2002). 54. Cornblatt BA, Auther AM, Niendam T, Smith CW, Zinberg J, Bearden CE, et al. Preliminary findings for two new measures of social and role functioning in the prodromal phase of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2007) 33:688–702. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm029

55. Carrión RE, Auther AM, McLaughlin D, Olsen R, Addington J, Bearden CE, et al. The global functioning: social and role scales-further validation in a large sample of adolescents and young adults at clinical high risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2019) 45:763–72. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby126

56. Jenkinson M, Beckmann CF, Behrens TEJ, Woolrich MW, Smith SM. FSL. Neuroimage. (2012) 62:782–90. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.09.015

57. Woolrich MW, Jbabdi S, Patenaude B, Chappell M, Makni S, Behrens T, et al. Bayesian analysis of neuroimaging data in FSL. *NeuroImage*. (2009) 45(1, Supplement 1):S173-86. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.10.055

58. Smith SM, Jenkinson M, Woolrich MW, Beckmann CF, Behrens TEJ, Johansen-Berg H, et al. Advances in functional and structural MR image analysis and implementation as FSL. *NeuroImage*. (2004) 23:S208–19. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.07.051

59. Greve DN, Fischl B. Accurate and robust brain image alignment using boundary-based registration. *Neuroimage.* (2009) 48:63–72. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.06.060

60. Whitfield-Gabrieli S, Nieto-Castanon A. Conn: A functional connectivity toolbox for correlated and anticorrelated brain networks. *Brain Connect.* (2012) 2:125-41. doi: 10.1089/brain.2012.0073

61. Diedrichsen J. A spatially unbiased atlas template of the human cerebellum. *Neuroimage.* (2006) 33:127–38. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.05.056

62. Diedrichsen J, Balsters JH, Flavell J, Cussans E, Ramnani N. A probabilistic MR atlas of the human cerebellum. *Neuroimage.* (2009) 46:39–46. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.01.045

63. King M, Hernandez-Castillo CR, Poldrack RA, Ivry RB, Diedrichsen J. Functional boundaries in the human cerebellum revealed by a multidomain task battery. *Nat Neurosci.* (2019) 22:1371-8. doi: 10.1038/s41593-019-0436-x

64. Hoche F, Guell X, Sherman JC, Vangel MG, Schmahmann JD. Cerebellar contribution to social cognition. *The Cerebellum*. (2016) 15:732–43. doi: 10.1007/s12311-015-0746-9

65. Van Overwalle F, Van de Steen F, Mariën P. Dynamic causal modeling of the effective connectivity between the cerebrum and cerebellum in social mentalizing across five studies. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci.* (2019) 19:211-23. doi:10.3758/s13415-018-00659

66. Chumbley JR, Friston KJ. False discovery rate revisited: FDR and topological inference using Gaussian random fields. *Neuroimage*. (2009) 44:62–70. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.05.021

67. CRAN - Package MASS. (2011). Available online at: http://www2.uaem.mx/r-mirror/web/packages/MASS/ (accessed October 28, 2022).

68. Amodio DM, Frith CD. Meeting of minds: the medial frontal cortex and social cognition. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2006) 7:268-77. doi: 10.1038/ nrn1884

69. Stoodley CJ, Valera EM, Schmahmann JD. Functional topography of the cerebellum for motor and cognitive tasks: an fMRI study. *Neuroimage.* (2012) 59:1560–70. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.08.065

70. Brissenden JA, Somers DC. Cortico-cerebellar networks for visual attention and working memory. *Curr Opin Psychol.* (2019) 29:239-47. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2019.05.003

71. Stoodley CJ, Schmahmann JD. Evidence for topographic organization in the cerebellum of motor control versus cognitive and affective processing. *Cortex.* (2010) 46:831–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2009.11.008

72. Anticevic A, Haut K, Murray JD, Repovs G, Yang GJ, Diehl C, et al. Association of thalamic dysconnectivity and conversion to psychosis in youth and young adults at elevated clinical risk. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2015) 72:882–91. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.0566

73. Andreasen NC, O'Leary DS, Cizadlo T, Arndt S, Rezai K, Ponto LL, et al. Schizophrenia and cognitive dysmetria: a positron-emission tomography study of dysfunctional prefrontal-thalamic-cerebellar circuitry. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. (1996) 93:9985–90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.18.9985

74. Andreasen NC, Paradiso S, O'Leary DS. "Cognitive dysmetria" as an integrative theory of schizophrenia: a dysfunction in corticalsubcortical-cerebellar circuitry? *Schizophr Bull.* (1998) 24:203–18. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033321

75. Andreasen NC, Nopoulos P, O'Leary DS, Miller DD, Wassink T, Flaum M. Defining the phenotype of schizophrenia: cognitive

dysmetria and its neural mechanisms. *Biol Psychiatry*. (1999) 46:908–20. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(99)00152-3

76. Del Fabro L, Schmidt A, Fortea L, Delvecchio G, D'Agostino A, Radua J, et al. Functional brain network dysfunctions in subjects at highrisk for psychosis: a meta-analysis of resting-state functional connectivity. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2021) 128:90–101. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2021. 06.020

77. Bang M, Park H-J, Pae C, Park K, Lee E, Lee S-K, et al. Aberrant cerebro-cerebellar functional connectivity and minimal self-disturbance in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis and with first-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2018) 202:138–40. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018. 06.031

78. Colibazzi T, Yang Z, Horga G, Yan C-G, Corcoran CM, Klahr K, et al. Aberrant temporal connectivity in persons at clinical high risk for

psychosis. Biol Psychiatry: Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging. (2017) 2:696-705. doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2016.12.008

79. Van Dijk KRA, Hedden T, Venkataraman A, Evans KC, Lazar SW, Buckner RL. Intrinsic functional connectivity as a tool for human connectomics: theory, properties, and optimization. *J Neurophysiol.* (2010) 103:297–321. doi: 10.1152/jn.00783.2009

80. Gupta T, Dean DJ, Kelley NJ, Bernard JA, Ristanovic I, Mittal VA. Cerebellar transcranial direct current stimulation improves procedural learning in nonclinical psychosis: a double-blind crossover study. *Schizophr Bull.* (2018) 44:1373–80. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx179

81. Batsikadze G, Rezaee Z, Chang D-I, Gerwig M, Herlitze S, Dutta A, et al. Effects of cerebellar transcranial direct current stimulation on cerebellar-brain inhibition in humans: a systematic evaluation. *Brain Stimul.* (2019) 12:1177–86. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2019.04.010

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Ann K. Shinn, McLean Hospital, United States

REVIEWED BY

Debo Dong, Southwest University, China Andrea Escelsior, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria San Martino (IRCCS), Italy Sanne Koops, Utrecht University, Netherlands

*CORRESPONDENCE Judith M. Ford ⊠ judith.ford@ucsf.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 13 October 2022 ACCEPTED 07 December 2022 PUBLISHED 22 December 2022

CITATION

Hua JPY, Abram SV and Ford JM (2022) Cerebellar stimulation in schizophrenia: A systematic review of the evidence and an overview of the methods. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:1069488. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1069488

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Hua, Abram and Ford. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Cerebellar stimulation in schizophrenia: A systematic review of the evidence and an overview of the methods

Jessica P. Y. Hua^{1,2,3}, Samantha V. Abram^{2,3} and Judith M. Ford^{2,3*}

¹Sierra Pacific Mental Illness Research Education and Clinical Centers, San Francisco Veterans Affairs Medical Center, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States, ²San Francisco Veterans Affairs Medical Center, San Francisco, CA, United States, ³Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States

Background: Cerebellar structural and functional abnormalities underlie widespread deficits in clinical, cognitive, and motor functioning that are observed in schizophrenia. Consequently, the cerebellum is a promising target for novel schizophrenia treatments. Here we conducted an updated systematic review examining the literature on cerebellar stimulation efficacy and tolerability for mitigating symptoms of schizophrenia. We discuss the purported mechanisms of cerebellar stimulation, current methods for implementing stimulation, and future directions of cerebellar stimulation for intervention development with this population.

Methods: Two independent authors identified 20 published studies (7 randomized controlled trials, 7 open-label studies, 1 pilot study, 4 case reports, 1 preclinical study) that describe the effects of cerebellar circuitry modulation in patients with schizophrenia or animal models of psychosis. Published studies up to October 11, 2022 were identified from a search within PubMed, Scopus, and PsycInfo.

Results: Most studies stimulating the cerebellum used transcranial magnetic stimulation or transcranial direct-current stimulation, specifically targeting the cerebellar vermis/midline. Accounting for levels of methodological rigor across studies, these studies detected post-cerebellar modulation in schizophrenia as indicated by the alleviation of certain clinical symptoms (mainly negative and depressive symptoms), as well as increased frontal-cerebellar connectivity and augmentation of canonical neuro-oscillations known to be abnormal in schizophrenia. In contrast to a prior review, we did not find consistent evidence for cognitive improvements following cerebellar modulation stimulation. Modern cerebellar stimulation methods appear tolerable for individuals with schizophrenia, with only mild and temporary side effects.

Conclusion: Cerebellar stimulation is a promising intervention for individuals with schizophrenia that may be more relevant to some symptom domains

than others. Initial results highlight the need for continued research using more methodologically rigorous designs, such as additional longitudinal and randomized controlled trials.

Systematic review registration: [https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/], identifier [CRD42022346667].

KEYWORDS

transcranial stimulation, cerebellar vermis, schizophrenia, negative symptoms, depression, tDCS, TMS

1 Introduction

The cerebellum was traditionally considered a primary driver of motor coordination (1); however, more current views acknowledge the cerebellum's central role in multiple motor, cognitive, and behavioral functions (2-6). Indeed, it has been called a scholar and an athlete (7). Schizophrenia is characterized by psychotic symptoms, cognitive difficulties, and impairment in coordinated motor functioning and sensory processing. Converging evidence points to robust cerebellar abnormalities in schizophrenia that may impact an array of clinical symptoms, cognition, and behavior (8-10) likely because of the cerebellum's widespread connections within the cortex (8, 10). The cerebellum is therefore a promising target for novel intervention development (11-13). Cerebellar brain stimulation methods are posited to modulate the cerebellum as well as distributed neural systems connected to the cerebellum (14, 15); this feature is particularly important in the context of schizophrenia and its conceptualization as a disorder of widespread dysconnectivity (16). In the current systematic review, we examine the potential of cerebellar stimulation as a treatment for schizophrenia and its associated symptoms.

1.1 Historical approaches for cerebellar stimulation

Prior to the current use of non-invasive neurostimulation methods to target the cerebellum, studies in the 1970–1980s used surgical methods to implant a cerebellar pacemaker in patients with schizophrenia (17–20). This approach was motivated by animal research showing that the deep cerebellar nuclei are connected to the limbic system and play an important role in affective processing (21). As part of this approach, the pacemaker was implanted into the left side of a patient's chest and connected to electrodes on the cerebellar surface. A battery-operated stimulator worn by the patient then delivered the stimulus through an antenna taped to the skin. During stimulation, electroencephalography (EEG)-based auditory and somatosensory evoked potentials were reduced in amplitude (18). While some participants did benefit, the cerebellar pacemaker was not always well-tolerated by patients. These studies were fraught with high rates of non-compliance (17–19), with many patients refusing to wear the pacemaker and multiple incidents of device and antenna breakage. Long-term use also led to frontal headaches and vertigo in a subset of patients (19). Critically, these invasive surgical procedures were also inherently associated with serious surgical risks, including air embolisms, formation of cerebrospinal fluid fistula, shifting of implanted electrodes, acute inflammation, and/or seizures (18, 20).

1.2 Non-invasive approaches to stimulation

Recent technological advances led to more effective and tolerable, non-invasive brain stimulation methods that can be safely applied to the cerebellum (22, 23). Consequently, there has been exponential growth in studies using the methods depicted in Figure 1 such as repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS), transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS), and transcranial pulsed current stimulation (tPCS). TMS consists of the generation of a brief, high-intensity magnetic field by passing a brief electric current through a magnetic coil (24, 25). This magnetic field will either excite or inhibit a targeted region underneath the coil. Intermittent theta burst stimulation (iTBS) is a newer form of rTMS that provides a two-second train of bursts (30 pulses) every 10 s, and is the most commonly used method of cerebellar stimulation (26). Relative advantages of iTBS vs. traditional rTMS is that stimulation sessions are shorter. utilize a lower threshold intensity, and have more long-term excitatory meta-neuroplastic effects (27, 28). Another form of TBS that has been used is continuous TBS (often referred to as cTBS, though we note that this acronym has also been used to refer to cerebellar TBS in some studies). Continuous TBS provides a burst of 3 pulses at 50 Hz for either 20 or 40 s (29). While iTBS is considered facilitatory, continuous TBS is thought to suppress cortical excitability (29, 30). Although even continuous TBS, which is considered an inhibitory protocol, can lead to downstream increases in functional connectivity between brain areas (31).



In addition to magnetic stimulation approaches, electrical cerebellar stimulation methods have also been used, albeit not as commonly. Through the use of anodal or cathodal stimulation, tDCS can modulate cortical excitability of targeted neural circuits by either increasing or decreasing intrinsic neural firing (32). tDCS entails delivery of a weak direct current through a surface scalp electrode over the cerebellum (33). It is thought that tDCS modulates neural activity in a polarityspecific manner (32, 34). Although, tDCS has poorer focality than TMS (35). tPCS, another method of transcranial electrical stimulation that is used to directly modulate neuro-oscillations, delivers a pulsating current of a specific frequency over a targeted area (36). Advantages of tDCS and tPCS are that these devices are typically inexpensive, battery-operated, and portable (35). Thus, tDCS and tPCS can be used for in-home treatment (32, 37). Initial research across six clinical trials showed the feasibility and tolerability of implementing repeated sessions of at-home tDCS with remote supervision (23). These different approaches highlight the complex and far-reaching capabilities of neurostimulation; capabilities of which we are just beginning to understand.

1.3 The cerebellum as a target of brain stimulation

Previous brain stimulation studies in schizophrenia have typically targeted cortical regions, such as the frontal cortex and the motor cortex, in an effort to improve positive symptoms (38, 39), negative symptoms (40–42), and cognitive

deficits (42, 43). The rationale for the cerebellum as a brain stimulation target in schizophrenia is at least twofold: first, there is increased knowledge documenting relationships between cerebellum abnormalities and clinical features of schizophrenia (8-10), and second, the cerebellum has several unique attributes that make it an attractive stimulation site, such as its immense and distributed connections throughout the cortex, impressive processing capabilities, and inherent plasticity (33, 44-46). The cerebellum contains over 50-80% of the brain's neurons while only accounting for 10% of the brain's volume (47, 48). To accommodate all of these neurons within a small volume, the large number of cells is packed in a columnar array with modules that are perpendicular to the cortical surface and parallel to each other (3-5). This organizational structure is conducive to massive parallel processing (3-5) and has been likened to a biological equivalent of a modern microprocessor chip (5). The cerebellum is also located immediately below the skull making it a convenient site for electrode placement (44). Moreover, the cerebellar cortex has been found to be highly responsive to electrical and magnetic stimulation (44).

One of the critical advantages of cerebellar stimulation lies in the potential for modulating cerebello-cerebral circuits, and in turn, impacting cognitive and behavioral functions that depend on these distributed circuits (12, 14). The cerebellum is structurally and functionally connected to numerous cortical and subcortical regions (6, 49–51), with closed parallel loops that link the cerebellum to distant cortical regions (6, 12, 52). Consequently, the cerebellum has been described "as a window to the whole brain" (15). By stimulating the cerebellum, researchers can indirectly modulate dysfunctional cortical
circuitry *via* cerebello-cerebral circuits (14, 15, 44). Additionally, it has been posited that cerebellar stimulation could lead to long-lasting modulatory effects in schizophrenia through the induction of cerebellar plasticity (53). It is thought that the cerebellum has both long-term synaptic and non-synaptic plasticity (45, 46, 54), both of which drive new learning (46, 54). This notion is supported by evidence of induced plasticity in cerebellum-involved pathways (e.g., cerebello-premotor-motor and cerebello-frontal pathways) following rTMS (55, 56).

1.4 Purported mechanisms of cerebellar stimulation

The precise mechanisms of non-invasive stimulation of the human cerebellum are unknown. One theory is that at least some forms of neurostimulation, like TMS and tDCS, modulate the excitability of Purkinje cells (PCs), a class of GABAergic inhibitory neurons found in the superior cerebellum (53). PCs are large cerebellar output neurons that play a central role in the cerebellar cortical circuit by modulating activity in the deep cerebellar nuclei outflow. Pre-clinical findings have shown that rTMS using a low-intensity current in mice can alter dendritic and spine morphology of Purkinje cells (25). Similarly, it was recently shown that while tDCS-induced electrical field changes can reach deep cerebellar nuclei, PCs were the most sensitive cell type to tDCS (57). More specifically, tDCS anodal stimulation has an excitatory effect that increases output of PCs, and consequently, leads to greater inhibition of cerebellocerebral pathways; cathodal stimulation has the opposite effect, and is thought to be inhibitory to PCs, leading to disinhibition of the cerebral cortex (14, 58).

As noted above, cerebellar neurostimulation has the potential to induce cerebellar plasticity as seen in healthy individuals (55) and in stroke patients (59). TMS has been found to effect such change through the induction of cerebellar long-term plasticity (LTP) (60), and it is thought that tDCS effects change *via* a comparable system (15). The most common form of LTP, and its inverse long-term depression (LTD), depend on activation of *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDAR) (28, 61). The relationship between LTP and NMDAR is evident by the fact that plasticity-inducing effects of neurostimulation effects can be blocked by the administration of NMDAR antagonists, like memantine and dextromethorphan (27, 62). Both LTP and NMDAR abnormalities are also implicated in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia (63–68).

Additionally, the effects of neurostimulation can extend throughout the brain, beyond the initial stimulation target. For instance, tDCS effects may influence activity in both the specific target region and multiple network systems by way of increasing/decreasing release of monoamine neurotransmitters, like dopamine, onto circuits that do not even involve the anodal stimulation site (69, 70). Studies of rTMS (including iTBS) also show downstream effects of stimulation on broader networks (64). These downstream effects on cerebello-cerebral networks are thought to be beneficial in ameliorating clinical symptoms and cognitive deficits.

1.5 Implications of cerebellar stimulation in schizophrenia

Over two decades ago, Andreasen et al. (71) called attention to the cerebellum through their cognitive dysmetria hypothesis, which posits a deficit in the underlying neural system responsible for coordinating the processing, prioritization, and expression of information among people with schizophrenia (71). Since then, a number of other mechanistic hypotheses involving the cerebellum have been proposed to explain clinical phenomena in psychosis (72). These studies have not only led to new discoveries regarding the cerebellum's role in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia, but also have implications for treating schizophrenia.

An initial systematic review reported on 10 studies (3 randomized controlled trials [RCTs], 3 open-label studies, and 2 case reports) of cerebellar stimulation in schizophrenia (26). These studies found that cerebellum stimulation produced clinical changes in negative and depressive symptoms, as well as cognitive functioning domains. Critically, cerebellum modulation showed potential for alleviating schizophrenia symptoms that are less responsive to antipsychotic medications, i.e., negative symptoms (73). These promising findings garnered further enthusiasm for cerebellum stimulation as a treatment for schizophrenia (11, 13), as evidenced by multiple published studies following Escelsior's initial review and several ongoing clinical trials.

1.6 Aims

This manuscript provides a systematic update regarding the effects of cerebellar stimulation in schizophrenia. We discuss the effects on clinical symptoms, cognition and behavior, functional brain networks and underlying neuro-oscillations, movement, and physiology. We also review the tolerability of this intervention method for individuals with schizophrenia. We close by discussing issues and technical considerations regarding implementation of cerebellar stimulation as well as recommendations and future directions.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Abstract and article search

This systematic review was pre-registered on PROSPERO (CRD42022346667) and adheres to PRISMA guidelines (74). JPYH searched research databases (PubMed, Scopus, and

10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1069488

PsycInfo) to identify published articles from inception until October 11, 2022. All empirical studies (i.e., excluding reviews and meta-analyses) that reported on the effects of cerebellar stimulation, obtained by physical or pharmacological means (e.g., electric or magnetic stimulation or in situ injection), among animal models of schizophrenia, patients with schizophrenia-spectrum disorders, and individuals at risk of psychosis were included in the review. Articles were included if they included just an active stimulation arm comparing baseline to post-stimulation, or if they included a comparison of active cerebellar stimulation to a sham or active control condition. Unpublished papers and clinical trials were excluded from the systematic review. We systematically searched titles and abstracts using the following Boolean search terms: schizoph* AND cerebell* AND (modulation OR intervention OR stimulation OR transcranial OR TMS OR tDCS OR TBS OR tACS OR injection). References from all included papers as well as a previous systematic review (26) were also evaluated. This screening process was followed by independent full-text screening of all potentially relevant articles and data extraction by JPYH and SVA. Extracted study data included author name and year, description and size of study sample, type of research design (i.e., RCT, open-label uncontrolled study, pilot study, case report, or preclinical study), names and types of measures, assessment timepoints, cerebellar stimulation and sham parameters, and study outcomes (i.e., clinical, cognitive, behavioral, connectivity and oscillatory, movement, physiological, and tolerability/side effects).

2.2 Risk of bias and quality assessment

Quality of included studies was classified based on Nathan and Gorman's criteria (75) for rating the methodological rigor of study designs. According to this classification system, there are six levels of studies from Type 1 (most rigorous) to Type 6 (least rigorous). Type 1 studies are double-blind, randomized, prospective, controlled clinical trials. These studies involve comparison of randomized groups, state-of-the-art diagnostic and assessment methods, appropriate analytic methods, clear exclusion and inclusion criteria, and adequate sample size. Type 2 studies are clinical trials that lack some of the rigorous criteria of a Type 1 study, such as small sample sizes, lack of clearly defined inclusion and exclusion criteria, and problems with the randomization protocol. Type 3 studies are open treatment studies and include designs such as pilot and casecontrol studies. These studies are often methodologically limited by observer bias, retrospective recall error, and uncontrolled data collection. Type 4 studies entail sophisticated analysis of secondary data analyses (e.g., meta-analysis). Type 5 studies are review studies that do not include data analysis. Type 6 studies are case studies, opinion pieces, and essays. Based on the article inclusion criteria for the current study, Type 4 and 5 studies were not included.

3 Results

3.1 Study selection

The systematic literature search yielded a total of 1,510 published studies (see Figure 2 for PRISMA diagram). Of these, JPYH identified 31 published articles for full review. No additional articles were identified from review of study bibliographies. Based on full-article review, JPYH and SVA independently identified 20 published articles for this review (see Tables 1, 2).

3.2 Study characteristics

3.2.1 Patient characteristics

Collapsed across included articles, this review included 283 patients with schizophrenia, 24 individuals scoring high on schizotypy scales, 9 rodents whose brains were manipulated to simulate schizophrenia-like deficits, and 28 healthy controls. Of the chronic schizophrenia studies, 3 studies recruited patients with moderate symptoms and 7 studies recruited treatment-resistant patients, as defined as patients whose symptoms were unsuccessfully treated through multiple courses of different antipsychotic medications.

3.2.2 Methodological characteristics

Researchers used a variety of study designs, with 7 studies being RCTs, 8 being open-label uncontrolled studies (1 pilot study), 4 case reports, and 1 preclinical study. Of the noninvasive brain stimulation studies, 9 were longitudinal, with the longest follow-up timepoint at 6 months (but the majority were under 6 weeks). Of all studies involving humans, 4 met criteria for Type 1 (RCTs with a sample \geq 40), 3 for Type 2 (RCTs with a sample < 40), 3 for Type 3 (openlabel uncontrolled studies), and 9 for Type 6 (descriptive and case studies). Note that study level criteria were not applied to the preclinical study because the criteria were based on human standards. Although the cerebellar pacemaker papers were technically open-label uncontrolled studies, they were categorized as Type 6 because of the use of clinical summaries as well as broad and non-specific treatment outcome categories. As can be seen in Table 1, there has been a shift in recent years to include more rigorous research designs, such as RCTs with larger sample sizes. In fact, an additional 9 clinical trials are currently recruiting and have not yet posted results.

Most of the included studies used TMS (11 studies), with 6 studies using iTBS, specifically. Three studies used tDCS, 1 used tPCS, and 4 used cerebellar pacemakers (all prior to 1982). The preclinical study used deltafrequency optogenetic stimulation targeting the right lateral cerebellar nuclei. Of the non-invasive brain stimulation studies, 12 studies used repetitive magnetic pulses, and



10 studies included multi-session designs with 10-session designs most commonly used. Eleven studies stimulated the cerebellar midline/vermis.

3.3 Effects of cerebellar stimulation on clinical symptoms and mood

Cerebellar pacemaker studies were the pioneer studies that tested the effectiveness of cerebellar stimulation on alleviating symptoms and improving functioning in schizophrenia. These treatment-resistant, small sample studies showed modest improvements in clinical symptoms and functioning (e.g., living at home, little to no medication, little to no psychotic symptoms) at different follow-up periods (17–20); however, results are difficult to interpret since assessments were not standardized and there were challenges arising from faulty equipment and low treatment tolerability. This approach is rather controversial and no longer recommended (76). Nonetheless, cerebellar pacemaker studies set the stage for the current non-invasive stimulation methods. Due to the increased scientific rigor of more modern studies, we weigh these studies more heavily in our results summary.

References	Participants	Study design	Brain stimulation	Results ^a	Study level
Boechat-Barros et al. (84)*	Four chronic SZ with tardive dyskinesia	Design: Pilot study Measures: PANSS, CGI-SCH (clinical); AIMS (physiological) Time points: baseline (T0), after the 1st session (T1), after the 5th session (T2), post-stimulation 3 months (T3)	Active: Five tDCS sessions on consecutive days targeting the central cerebellum at 2 cm below the inion (2 milliamps for 20 min)	Clinical: Across time, SZ patients showed numerical decreases in AIMS clinician-rated tardive dyskinesia (T1 minus T0: -22.9%; T2 minus T0: -33.5%) and CGI-SCH global symptoms (T1 minus T0: -19.9%; T2 minus T0: -32.8%). SZ patients also showed decreases in PANSS positive (T2 minus T0: -22.9%), negative (T2 minus T0: -27.8%), general (T2 minus T0: -36.5%), and total (T2 minus T0: -32.5%) symptoms. Two patients showed increases in CGI-SCH global and PANSS symptoms at T3. Physiological: Reductions in tardive dyskinesia remained at T3. Tolerability/Side Effects: Mild side effect reported (i.e., skin burn under the cathode electrode).	6
Basavaraju et al. (90)*	60 SZ with at least moderate negative symptoms, i.e., ≥3 on each SANS global item [2 participants were previously reported on in Basavaraju et al. (91)]	Design: Randomized clinical trial; 30 SZ active and 30 SZ sham Measures: SANS, SAPS, CDSS (clinical); MATRICS (cognitive); rsfMRI (connectivity); ataxia (movement); pulse rate, blood pressure (physiological) Time points: baseline (T0), 6 days (T1), 6 weeks (T2)	Active: 10 rTMS-iTBS sessions targeting cerebellar vermis identified through neuronavigation (2 sessions daily spaced 4 h apart for 5 days; 20 trains of 2 s on and 8 s off cycle containing 3-pulse 50 Hz bursts at theta frequency every 200 ms; total of 6,000 pulses; figure-of-eight coil) Sham: 10 sessions that produced a sound comparable to rTMS-iTBS but without magnetic stimulation (2 sessions daily spaced 4 h apart for 5 days)	Clinical: No specific effect of active stimulation for SANS negative, SAPS positive, or CDSS depressive symptoms; rather, both groups improved on all symptoms over time. Cognitive : No significant effect of active stimulation vs. sham. Both groups improved on multiple cognitive measures over time. Connectivity : Following active stimulation only, resting-state functional connectivity increased between the cerebellum and right inferior frontal gyrus, right pallidum, and right frontal pole. Movement : No specific effect of active stimulation. Both groups had decreased extrapyramidal symptoms and ataxia over time. Physiological: No specific effect of active stimulation. Both groups had decreased diastolic blood pressure over time. Tolerability/Side effects: Two participants in the active arm reported mania/hypomania symptoms (also in the 2020 paper). One additional participant in the active arm reported neck muscle contraction and ensuing tolerable neck pain during stimulation.	1
Chauhan et al. (82)*	30 treatment-resistant SZ	Design: Randomized placebo-controlled trial; 16 SZ active and 14 SZ sham Measures: PANSS, BPRS, CGI (clinical); SCoRS (cognitive); SAS (movement) Time points: baseline (T0), after session 10 (T1), post-stimulation 2 weeks (T2)	Active: 10 rTMS-iTBS sessions targeting the cerebellar vermis and positioned using the 10–20 EEG system (2 sessions daily spaced \geq 30 min apart for 5 days; 20 trains of 10 bursts given at 8 s intervals containing 3-pulse 50 Hz bursts at 5 Hz; total of 6,000 pulses; figure-of-eight coil) Sham: 10 sessions carried out by an active/sham coil that had both sound and scalp contact similar to active stimulation (2 sessions daily spaced \geq 30 min apart for 5 days)	Clinical: No specific effect of active stimulation vs. sham on symptom severity. Both groups had decreased psychiatric symptoms as indicated by PANSS, BPRS, and CGI scores at T1 and/or T2. Cognitive: No specific effect of active stimulation vs. sham. Both groups improved on SCoRS cognition over time. Movement: No effect of active stimulation vs. sham. No change in SAS symptoms over time. Tolerability/Side effects: Five patients in the active arm and two in the sham arm reported headaches during the first few sessions that were alleviated with analgesics.	2

TABLE 1 Characteristics of clinical studies reporting on cerebellar stimulation in schizophrenia.

References	Participants	Study design	Brain stimulation	Results ^a	Study level
Zhu et al. (83)*	64 SZ	SZ active and 32 SZ sham Measures: PANSS Time points: baseline, end of treatment, and	below the inion (5 days a week for 2 weeks; 20 trains of 10 bursts given at 8 s intervals containing 3-pulse 50 Hz bursts at 5 Hz; total of 6,000 pulses;	Clinical: Negative symptom scores decreased at each time point in the active group only (baseline vs. post stimulation d = -0.27; baseline vs. 24-week follow-up d = -0.67). PANSS total, positive, and general psychotic symptoms also decreased over time with the lowest scores at 24 weeks. Tolerability/Side effects: Three patients in the active arm reported mild dizziness, pain, nausea, and other symptoms after the first session. These symptoms were relieved after a short break, and there were no other side effects in subsequent sessions.	1
Basavaraju et al. (91)*	Two SZ with at least moderate negative symptoms (i.e.,≥3 on the SANS global ratings)	Design: Case study Measures: SANS, SAPS, YMRS Time points: baseline (T0), 6 days (T1), 6 weeks (T2)	sessions daily spaced 4 h apart for 5 days; 20 trains of 2 s on and 8 s off cycle containing 3-pulse 50 Hz bursts	Clinical: Across time, SZ patients showed numerical decreases in negative (T1 minus T0: -13.0; T2 minus T0: -30.5) and positive (T1 minus T0: -3.5; T2 minus T0: -4.5) symptoms and increases in manic symptoms (T1 minus T0: 4.5; T2 minus T0: 18). Tolerability/Side effects: Two participants in the active arm showed symptoms of mania/hypomania.	6
Laidi et al. (85)*	One SZ	Design: Case study Measures: PANSS, AHRS (clinical); free and cued recall, verbal episode memory tests, WAIS digit span, WAIS spatial span, Stroop test, D2 test of attention (cognitive); eye blink conditioning (behavioral) Time points: pre-stimulation and post-stimulation		Clinical: There was no change in PANSS and AHRS psychotic symptoms following treatment. Cognitive: After treatment, the patient showed broad improvements in cognitive functions, i.e., verbal episodic memory, short term memory, working memory, executive functioning, and attention. Behavioral: After treatment, the patient showed clear improvement of eye blink conditioning. Before treatment, the patient could not be conditioned over the eye blink conditioning session, and after cerebellar tDCS, the patient showed progressive conditioning from block to block. Tolerability/Side effects: No significant side effects reported.	6
Brady et al. (89)	11 SZ	trial; 8 active and 3 sham Measures: PANSS (clinical); rsfMRI (connectivity) Time points: pre-stimulation and post-stimulation	Active: 10 rTMS-iTBS sessions targeting the cerebellar vermis identified using the Brainsight frameless stereotaxic system (2 sessions daily spaced 4 h apart for 5 days; 10 bursts given at 10 s intervals containing 3-pulse 50 Hz bursts at 5 Hz; total of 6,000 pulses; figure-of-eight coil) Sham: sham rTMS-iTBS sessions targeting the cerebellar vermis identified using the Brainsight frameless stereotaxic system (2 sessions daily spaced 4 h apart for 5 days)	Clinical: Reduced PANSS negative symptom severity after stimulation vs. sham (d = -0.91). Connectivity: Increased cerebellar-dorsolateral prefrontal cortex connectivity after stimulation $(d = 0.25)$. Correlation: Increased cerebellar-dorsolateral prefrontal cortex connectivity correlated with PANSS negative symptom reductions $(r = 0.81)$.	2
Gingh et al. (93)	Nine SZ	Design: Double-blind, randomized, sham-controlled trial	Active: One tPCS session targeting the cerebellar vermis at 1 cm below	Oscillatory: Theta oscillations were significantly larger following theta frequency	2

References	Participants	Study design	Brain stimulation	Results ^a	Study level
		Measures: EEG (oscillatory); interval timing task (behavioral); Montreal Cognitive Assessment, Trail Making Task, verbal fluency, and digit span (cognition) Time points: pre-stimulation and post-stimulation	1 mA) Active Control: One tPCS session targeting the cerebellar vermis at 1 cm below the inion at delta frequency (20 min at 1 mA)	cerebellar tPCS, but not delta tPCS, in the midfrontal region. Behavioral: Neither theta nor delta tPCS was associated with changes in the interval timing task. Cognition: There were no significant changes for cognitive tasks after tPCS.	
Gupta et al. (94)	(i.e., high schizotypy) scoring in the top 15th percentile on the CAPE	Design: Randomized, double-blind, sham-controlled crossover trial Measures: pursuit rotor task (cognition) Time points: baseline stimulation and 1-week stimulation	Active: One tDCS session targeting the cerebellar midline at 1–2 cm below the inion (25 min at 2 mA) Sham: One sham session targeting the cerebellar midline at 1–2 cm below the inion (30 s at 2 milliamps)	Cognition: Non-clinical psychosis showed a greater rate of learning in the active condition vs. sham compared to the control group ($\eta^2 = 0.10$). In the active condition, the non-clinical psychosis group performed the task at a level that was comparable to the UCS group, with no difference between groups in the active condition.	1
Garg et al. (81)	40 SZ	Design: Randomized rater blind-sham controlled study; 20 active and 20 sham Measures: PANSS, CDSS (clinical) Time points: pre-treatment, after 10th session, post-stimulation 2 weeks	Active: 10 rTMS (theta range) sessions over 2 weeks targeting the cerebellar vermis at 1cm below the inion (20 pulses each for 30 trains, 10 trains each of 5, 6, and 7 Hz followed each other sequentially; train duration for 5 Hz stimulation was 4 s, for 6 Hz was 3.33 s, and for 7 Hz was 2.857 s and the inter-train interval was kept constant at 20 s; total 6,000 pulses; figure-of-eight coil) Sham: 10 sham sessions over 2 weeks (sound and scalp contact were roughly similar to active stimulation)	Clinical: There was an effect of active vs. sham indicated by reductions in PANSS total symptoms, PANSS negative symptoms, and CDSS depressive symptoms. Yet, when baseline scores were included as covariates, the significant treatment effect on PANSS and depressive symptoms were no longer significant. The time effect for PANSS positive and general symptoms was significant. Tolerability/Side effects: No major side effects were reported. Five patients reported headaches that responded to analgesics. One patient reported excessive sleepiness after each session.	1
Tikka et al. (86)	11 recent-onset SZ	Design: Open-label uncontrolled study Measures: PANSS, CDSS (clinical); EEG (oscillatory) Time points: baseline and post-stimulation	Active: 10 rTMS sessions (theta range) targeting the cerebellar vermis at 1 cm below the inion and positioned using the 10–20 EEG system (5 days per week for 2 weeks; 30 pulses each for 20 train at frequencies of 5, 6, and 7Hz; total of 6,000 pulses; angled double-cone coil)	Clinical: Reduction in PANSS negative (Wilcoxon ES = 0.66) and total symptoms (Wilcoxon ES = 0.65), as well as CDSS depression symptoms (Wilcoxon ES = 0.75) following stimulation. There were no significant changes for PANSS positive symptoms or general psychopathology Oscillatory: Reduction of gamma spectral power in left temporal (Wilcoxon ES = 0.83) and left frontal (Wilcoxon ES = 0.73), though the latter did not survive multiple comparison correction. Correlation: Percent reduction in PANSS negative symptoms correlated with percent reduction in left temporal (rho = 0.74) and left frontal gamma power (rho = 0.78). Percent reduction in CDSS depressive symptoms correlated with percent reduction in left frontal gamma power (rho = 0.85).	3
Garg et al. (92)	One treatment-resistant SZ	Design: Case study Measures: PSYRATS-AH, PANSS hallucination score (clinical) Time points: baseline, day 5, post-stimulation 2 and 8 weeks	Active: Four rTMS sessions over 5 days targeting the cerebellar vermis at 1 cm below the inion and positioned using the 10–20 EEG system (20 trains of 30 pulses at 5 Hz for the first 7 trains, 6 Hz for the next 7 trains, and 7Hz for the final 6 trains; total of 2,400 pulses; figure-of-eight coil)	Clinical: Worse auditory hallucination frequency and hallucination-associated distress. Numerical increase in PSYRATS-AH and PANSS hallucination scores at termination of treatment. Elevated scores remained after 2 weeks, and returned to baseline at 8 weeks. Tolerability/side effects: Discontinued treatment after 4 sessions (instead of 10) due to symptom exacerbation.	6

References	Participants	Study design	Brain stimulation	Results ^a	Study level
Garg et al. (88)	One first-episode SZ	Design: Case study Measures: PANSS (clinical); EEG (oscillatory) Time points: baseline (T0), post-stimulation 2 (T1), 4 (T2), and 6 (T3) weeks	EEG system (20 trains of 30 pulses at 5 Hz for the first 7 trains, 6 Hz for the	Clinical: Decreased PANSS total (T1 minus T0: -38), PANSS anergia (T1 minus T0: -11), and PANSS thought disorder (T1 minus T0: -10) scores. Score decreases maintained at 4 and 6 weeks post-stimulation. Oscillatory: Post rTMS EEG showed significant increases in gamma spectral power in the left frontal, right frontal, and left occipital regions, as well as significant decreases in gamma spectral power in the left temporal region. Tolerability/side effects: No side effects reported.	6
Demirtas- Tatlidede et al. (87)	Eight treatment-resistant SZ with moderate-to-severe illness severity	uncontrolled study	Active: 10 rTMS-iTBS sessions targeting the cerebellar vermis identified using the Brainsight frameless stereotaxic system (2 sessions daily for 5 days; 20 trains of 10 bursts given at 8 s intervals containing 3-pulse 50 Hz bursts at 5 Hz; total of 6,000 pulses; figure-of-eight coil)	Clinical: Patients showed a decrease of PANSS negative symptoms following stimulation; <i>post hoc</i> comparisons showed differences between baseline vs. post-stimulation ($d = 0.69$) and baseline vs. 1-week follow-up ($d = 0.60$). No effect of stimulation on PANSS total, positive or general psychotic symptoms or CGI global impression. Patients showed an increase in CDSS depressive symptoms following stimulation. <i>Post hoc</i> comparisons showed differences between baseline vs. post-stimulation ($d = 0.72$). POMS showed a similar pattern in results, but did not reach significance. Happiness showed an increase, with differences between baseline vs. post-stimulation ($d = 1.39$) and baseline vs. 1-week follow-up ($d = 1.20$). Sadness showed a decrease, with differences between baseline vs. post-stimulation ($d = 1.15$). Alertness showed an increase, with differences between baseline vs. 1-week follow up ($d = 0.80$). Other mood ratings showed no significant effects. Cognitive: After stimulation, patients had improved performance on the continuous performance test, evidenced by fewer omissions during memory ($d = 0.78$) and interference conditions ($d = 1.04$), when for performance at baseline vs. 1-week follow-up. Spatial span forward performance showed an increase between baseline vs. post-stimulation and 1-week follow-up ($d = 0.69$). Further, patients improved in their organization of the Rey–Osterrieth Complex figure at delay for between baseline vs. 1-week follow-up ($d = 0.68$). There was no decrease in performance on any cognitive domain after cerebellar brain stimulation. Physiological: There were no serious cardiovascular events. Diastolic blood pressure increased immediately post-stimulation and five minutes after, but soon returned to baseline levels. No significant change for systolic blood pressure or pulse.	3

References	Participants	Study design	Brain stimulation	Results ^a	Study level
				Tolerability/side effects: Side effects were mild and included neck pain and headache which both responded to analgesics, discomfort at stimulation site, and light-headedness. Patients reported no new symptoms or worsening of existing symptoms.	
Daskalakis et al. (100)*	10 SZ; 10 UCS	Design: Open-label uncontrolled study Measures: Electromyography Time points: post-stimulation	cerebellar hemisphere; figure-of-eight	Electromyography: SZ showed deficits in cerebellar inhibition compared with UCS $(d = 1.02)$.	3
Heath et al. (19)*	15 treatment-resistant SZ; 5 patients appropriate for this study with psychotic behavior after organic brain syndrome [5 of these participants were previously reported on in Heath (17), and all 20 were previously reported on in Heath et al. (18)]	• •	into the left side of a patient's chest and connected to electrodes stimulating the superior surface to the inferior surface of the cerebellar vermis. A battery-operated stimulator worn by the patient delivered an electrical stimulus through an antenna taped to the skin.	Clinical: Among treatment-resistant SZ, 3 had significant functional improvement (living at home, no medications, no psychotic symptoms), 3 had moderate improvement and were functioning outside of the hospital (low medication dosage), 2 had minimal improvement, and 7 showed no improvement (6 of these 7 refused to wear the stimulator). Among patients with psychotic behavior after organic brain syndrome, 2 had significant improvement, 1 had moderate improvement, 1 had minimal improvement. Tolerability/side effects: Six patients refused to wear the stimulator. There were also issues with hardware being defective in many patients.	6
Correa et al. (20)*	12 SZ who were determined to have disabling emotional symptoms; 1 patient with psychotic behavior after organic brain syndrome	Design: Open-label uncontrolled study Measures: Clinical summaries Time points: longitudinal follow-up varied by patient	paravermis regions.	Clinical: At follow-up, 1 SZ was rated as excellent (clearing of hallucinations/delusions, improvement of blunted affect and disorganized thinking), 4 were rated as good (decrease in psychotic symptoms), 1 was rated as fair (no change in hallucinations/delusions, but improvement in affect and disorganized thinking), 4 were rated as poor (no change in symptoms; 3 of the 4 showed long-term improvement), and 2 were lost to follow-up. The patient with psychosis after organic brain syndrome showed some improvement in their emotions. Tolerability/side effects: There were some surgical complications including air embolisms, formation of cerebrospinal fluid fistula, shifting of implanted electrodes, and headaches.	6
Heath et al. (18)	15 treatment-resistant SZ; 5 patients with psychotic behavior after organic brain syndrome [5 of these participants were previously reported on in Heath (17)]	uncontrolled study Measures: Clinical summaries Time points: longitudinal	Active: A pacemaker was implanted into the left side of a patient's chest and connected to electrodes stimulating the superior surface to the inferior surface of the vermis. A battery-operated stimulator worn by the patient then delivers an electrical stimulus through an antenna taped to the skin.	Clinical: Among treatment-resistant SZ patients, 2 had significant improvement (living at home, no medications, no psychotic symptoms), 6 had moderate improvement and were functioning outside of the hospital (low medication dosage), 3 had minimal improvement, and 4 showed no improvement (3 of these 4 refused to wear the stimulator). Among patients with psychotic behavior after organic brain	6

References	Participants	Study design	Brain stimulation	Results ^a	Study level
				syndrome, 4 had significant improvement and 1 showed no improvement. In the most effective protocols, electrodes were placed on the surface of the cerebellar vermis. Tolerability/side effects: Three patients refused to wear the simulator. There were also issues with antenna breakage and formation of cerebrospinal fluid fistula.	
	Five treatment-resistant SZ who had been pronounced incurable by ≥2 physicians	Design: Open-label uncontrolled study Measures: Clinical summaries Time points: longitudinal follow-up between 3 and 16 months	Active: A pacemaker was implanted into the left side of a patient's chest and connected to electrodes on the cerebellar surface, namely rostral vermal and para vermal regions. A battery-operated stimulator worn by the patient then delivers an electrical stimulus through an antenna taped to the skin.	Clinical: Four of five patients showed a significant decrease in psychotic symptoms and in need for neuroleptic medication as well as improvement in functioning. 1 patient, who had a lesion over the stimulation site, showed no improvement and repeatedly destroyed the pacemaker and antenna. Tolerability/side effects: One patient refused to wear the stimulator, and repeatedly destroyed the equipment.	6

AHRS, auditory hallucination rating scale; AIMS, abnormal involuntary movement scale; BPRS, brief psychiatric rating scale; CDSS, calgary depression rating scale; CGI-SCH, clinical global impression—schizophrenia; EEG, electroencephalography; iTBS, intermittent theta burst stimulation; MATRICS, measurement and treatment research to improve cognition in schizophrenia cognitive consensus battery; PANSS, positive and negative syndrome scale; POMS, profile of mood states; PSYRATS, psychotic symptom rating scale-auditory hallucination subscale; rsfMRI, resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging; rTMS, repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation; SANS, scale for the assessment of negative symptoms; SAPS, scale of the assessment of positive symptoms; SAS, Simpson–Angus extrapyramidal side effects scale; SCORS, schizophrenia cognition rating scale; SZ, schizophrenia; TBS, theta burst stimulation; tDCS, transcranial direct current stimulation; UCS, unaffected comparison subject; VAS, visual analogue scales (dimensions of mood: happiness, sadness, calmness, anxiety, wellbeing, anger, self-confidence, fear, alertness, and energy); tPCS, transcranial pulsed current stimulation; WAIS, Wechsler adult intelligence scale; YMRS, young mania rating scale. ^aEffect sizes were included or computed when possible.

*Not included in previous review.

TABLE 2 Characteristics of pre-clinical studies reporting on cerebellar stimulation in rat models of schizophrenia.

References	Participants	Study design	Brain stimulation	Results
Parker et al. (95)	Nine rats with dopamine receptor blockade in medial prefrontal cortex	Design: Experimental open-label study Measures: interval timing task, lever pressing, liquid rewards, or open-field activity (behavioral) Time points: post-stimulation	Active: Optogenetic stimulation (delta frequency) targeting right lateral cerebellar nuclei projections to the thalamus	Behavioral: Optogenetic stimulation of lateral cerebellar nuclei projections at 2 Hz, but not 4, 10, or 20 Hz, rescued behavioral deficits on the interval timing task. There was no clear effect of optogenetic stimulation on lever pressing, rewards or open-field.

Of the studies utilizing non-invasive brain stimulation, 12 examined the effects of cerebellar stimulation on clinical symptoms. The most consistently examined clinical domain was psychotic symptoms, with all 12 studies including measures of psychotic symptoms; 10 studies specifically used the total and/or the positive, negative, and general psychopathology subscales from the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) (77). Three other studies looked at psychotic symptoms using the Scale for the Assessment of Negative Symptoms (SANS) (78) and Scale for the Assessment of Positive Symptoms (SAPS) (79). Additionally, three studies used a measure of overall clinical impression and four used depression and mood inventories, including the Calgary Depression Scale for Schizophrenia (80) and Visual Analogue Scales.

3.3.1 Total symptoms

Seven studies examined the impact of cerebellar stimulation on total symptom scores, which are a combination of negative, positive, and general pscyhopathology symptoms. One study found a specific effect of active rTMS in reducing total symptoms, but this effect was not significant when accounting for baseline total symptom level (81). Several rTMS and iTBS studies observed reductions in total symptoms for participants in both the active and sham arms (81–83). Similarly, several studies with only an active rTMS or iTBS stimulation arm found reductions in total post-stimulation symptoms (84–86) but see Demirtas-Tatlidede et al. (87). These non-specific treatment effects were maintained at 3 months follow-up for five people with schizophrenia who took part in a case study using rTMS or a pilot study using tDCS (84, 88).

3.3.2 Negative symptoms

Nine studies examined negative symptoms associated with psychosis. Multiple RCTs (Ns ranging 11–64) with active/sham rTMS stimulation protocols (some implementing iTBS, specifically) observed significant Stimulation X Time interactions for PANSS negative symptoms (81, 83, 89). More specifically, participants who received active iTBS had significant negative symptoms reductions compared to those who received sham. Although other iTBS studies found significant improvements in negative symptoms for both the active and sham conditions (82, 90). Studies that included only an active stimulation arm reported decreases in negative symptoms (tDCS, rtMS, or iTBS) (84, 86–88), with evidence that these effects were maintained for as long as 24 weeks (84, 88).

3.3.3 Positive symptoms

Nine studies examined the impact on positive symptoms. Three studies observed non-specific iTBS effects on positive symptoms, with significant reductions for participants in the active and control study arms (82, 83, 90). Studies with only an active stimulation arm (rTMS, iTBS, or tDCS) reported mixed results, with some finding no change (86, 87), others finding a reduction (84, 88, 91), and one case study noting an increase (92) in positive symptoms.

3.3.4 General psychopathology symptoms

Four studies looked at the impact of stimulation on general psychopathology. Two studies observed significant improvements in general psychopathology for participants in both the active and sham arms using iTBS (82, 83). Studies with only an active rTMS or iTBS stimulation arm found no change in general symptoms (86, 87).

3.3.5 Clinical global impression symptoms

Clinical global impression was examined in three studies. One RCT (N = 30) and one pilot study found improvement on clinical global impression post-iTBS or tDCS, respectively (82, 84). A small sample study (N = 8) did not find a change in clinical global impression following iTBS (87).

3.3.6 Mood symptoms

Four studies examined the effects of cerebellar stimulation on mood, primarily depressive symptoms. One RCT found that depressive symptoms improved in the active rTMS condition relative to sham (81), although this effect was not significant when accounting for baseline symptoms. In contrast, another RCT found that depressive symptoms similarly improved for both active iTBS and sham (90). Two open-label uncontrolled studies with smaller sample sizes found reductions in depressive symptoms among schizophrenia participants after active rTMS and iTBS stimulation (86, 87). In addition to depressive/sadness features, one study examined the effects of iTBS on several mood states (87). The authors reported increased happiness and alertness from baseline to post-iTBS and at 1-week follow-up; sadness also decreased from baseline to post-stimulation. Other mood ratings (i.e., calmness, wellbeing, anger, self-confidence, fear, and energy) showed no significant differences post-stimulation.

3.4 Effects of cerebellar stimulation on cognition and behavior

Six studies examined the effects of cerebellar stimulation on cognition measured from tasks and paper-pencil tests, and three studies examined effects on behavior based on task performance. Three RCTs in individuals with schizophrenia, two of which had relatively larger sample sizes, found no significant effect of iTBS on cognition (82, 90, 93); and that both the active and sham groups similarly improved on multiple cognitive measures over the course of the study (82, 90). In contrast to the null findings for iTBS RCTs, a small open-label study found that patients with schizophenia had improved performance on a continuous performance test and a visuospatial test (87). Gupta et al. (94) also found that individuals with non-clinical psychosis (i.e., high schizotypy) performed better on a pursuit rotor task following active tDCS stimulation; more specifically, the non-clinical psychosis group exhibited a greater rate of improvement on the pursuit rotor task following active stimulation compared to sham, whereas this interaction was not significant for the unaffected comparison group. In fact, the non-clinical psychosis group performed at a comparable level to the control group after active stimulation (94). Additionally, one patient in a case study Laidi et al. (85) improved across a broad range of cognitive functions (i.e., verbal episodic, short term, and working memory, executive, and attention).

Three studies examined how cerebellar stimulation impacted behavior. In a preclinical study, researchers blocked medial prefrontal cortical dopamine receptors in rats as a model of prefrontal abnormalities characteristic of schizophrenia [as evidenced by performance on an interval timing task (95)]. Optogenetic stimulation at 2Hz delta (but not 4, 10, or 20 Hz) of lateral cerebellar projections in these rats rescued behavioral deficits (95). There was no effect of stimulation on other prefrontally-mitigated behaviors, like lever pressing or open-field activity. Comparatively, a clinical study of patients with schizophrenia did not show enhanced performance on the interval timing task following stimulation with iTBS, delta tPCS, or theta tPCS (93). During an eye blink conditioning task which captures associative learning via a simple reflex pathway independent of motivation, one individual with schizophrenia showed progressive conditioning after cerebellar tDCS (85).

3.5 Effects of cerebellar stimulation on functional brain networks and underlying cortical oscillations

Six studies examined the effects of cerebellar stimulation on underlying brain dynamics, with two studies utilizing resting-state functional connectivity and four studies utilizing electroencephalography (EEG) to derive outcome variables. There is a well-established literature documenting aberrant connectivity between the cerebellum and prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia (96). In a large RCT of individuals with schizophrenia, resting-state functional connectivity increased between the cerebellum and the right inferior frontal gyrus, right pallidum, and right frontal pole following iTBS stimulation relative to sham (90). A different RCT reported increased resting-state functional connectivity between the cerebellum and dorsal prefrontal cortex after active iTBS stimulation relative to sham in participants with schizophrenia (89); further, increased cerebellar-dorsolateral prefrontal cortex connectivity correlated with reductions in PANSS negative symptoms characterized by a large effect size (r = -0.81), though we note this sample was quite small (N = 11).

Underlying neuro-oscillations measured with EEG can be abnormal in schizophrenia, such as frequencies associated with perception, memory, and synaptic plasticity, including theta and gamma (97-99). Theta oscillatory power was significantly improved following theta tPCS, but not delta tPCS, as evidenced by greater power in the midfrontal region (93). Participants with schizophrenia also showed a more normal pattern of reduced gamma spectral power in the left frontal and temporal cortex after rTMS (86). Further, reduced gamma power in frontal and temporal cortices correlated with negative symptom reductions, while the left frontal cortex corresponded with less severe depressive symptoms (86). In contrast, a case study showed increased gamma spectral power in the left/right frontal and left occipital cortex as well as decreased gamma spectral power in the left temporal region following iTBS (88). In addition to being used as a treatment modality, cerebellar stimulation can be used to probe deficits and to better understand mechanisms underlying the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. In line with this work, Daskalakis et al. (100) used TMS to probe cerebellar inhibititon (i.e., an important measure of cerebellar activity and cerebello-thalamic-cortical pathway integrity) in individuals with schizophrenia. As predicted, individuals with schizophrenia showed significant deficits in cerebellar inhibition compared to unaffected comparison participants.

3.6 Effects of cerebellar stimulation on movement

Three studies examined the effects of cerebellar stimulation on movement-related symptoms. Two RCTs found no

significant effect of iTBS. In one study, individuals with schizophrenia showed decreased extrapyramidal symptoms and ataxia at 6-week follow-up irrespective of their treatment condition (90). In the other RCT, individuals with treatmentresistant schizophrenia showed no effect of condition or time on extrapyramidal physical symptoms (e.g., gait, rigidity, and tremor) (82). In contrast, a small pilot study showed numerical decreases in clinician-rated tardive dyskinesia (84).

3.7 Effects of cerebellar stimulation on physiology

Two studies examined the effects of cerebellar stimulation on physiology (i.e., blood pressure, heart rate/pulse). One RCT found no effect of iTBS; individuals with schizophrenia showed decreased diastolic blood pressure at 6-week follow-up irrespective of their treatment condition (90). An open-label uncontrolled study found that diastolic blood pressure increased immediately post-stimulation and 5 min after, but soon returned to baseline levels. There was no significant change for systolic blood pressure, or heart rate/pulse (87).

3.8 Safety/tolerability of cerebellar stimulation

As described earlier, pioneer studies using invasive cerebellar stimulation methods (17–20) had poor tolerability and high rates of non-compliance. Of the 16 studies using non-invasive methods, 10 reported on adverse events and side-effects following stimulation. Of these 10 studies, two reported no side-effects and 6 reported mild side-effects including headaches that were relieved with analgesics (81, 82, 87), pain (83, 87, 90), dizziness and nausea (83), mild skin burn (84), and excessive sleepiness (81). For more serious side effects, cerebellar stimulation (i.e., rTMS) was terminated for one patient due to increased frequency of auditory hallucinations and associated distress (92). Additionally, two participants exhibited increased mania/hypomania after iTBS (90, 91).

3.9 Effects in RCTs

When solely focusing on the 7 RCTs that examined cerebellar stimulation in schizophrenia, results remain largely the same as when all studies are included because the results from RCTs (Types 1 and 2) in this systematic review took precedence over less rigorous study designs (Types 3 and 6).

4 Discussion

This updated systematic review covers available evidence of cerebellar stimulation effectiveness in treating different symptoms of schizophrenia and influencing underlying neural systems that are deficient in schizophrenia. The number of included studies has more than doubled since the last systematic review (26), and multiple registered clinical trials are in progress. Research designs are becoming more rigorous and sophisticated, with randomized sham-controlled designs, larger samples sizes, and longer follow-up periods. These patterns highlight the increasing attention to cerebellar stimulation as a potential therapeutic intervention and mechanistic probe in schizophrenia.

4.1 Clinical symptoms and mood

Over 80% of articles examined whether cerebellar stimulation could alleviate clinical symptoms of schizophrenia. There was some evidence that cerebellar stimulation reduced total psychotic symptoms (i.e., the sum of positive, negative, and general psychopathology symptoms). However, it is unclear whether this reduction was driven by a more specific reduction in negative symptoms. Negative symptoms are thought to account for much of the long-term morbidity, functional impairments, and poor quality of life in schizophrenia, and as such remain a critical unmet need in schizophrenia treatment (101). Cerebellar stimulation was most effective in treating negative symptoms (with some studies reporting reductions maintained up to 24-weeks follow-up), while the findings for positive and general psychopathology symptom reductions were weaker. Because antipsychotic medication is less effective in treating the negative symptoms of schizophrenia (73), the possibility of cerebellar stimulation reducing these symptoms is especially noteworthy. Though we note that existing studies examined overall negative symptoms, and future studies may consider evaluating changes in specific domains of negative symptoms (i.e., experiential/motivational vs. expressive/affective deficits), as they may map onto separate neurobiological systems (102).

Schizophrenia and depression are highly comorbid disorders (103), with both disorders sharing overlapping symptoms, such as anhedonia (104). Initial evidence also raises the possibility that cerebellar stimulation can reduce depressive symptoms in schizophrenia. This is consistent with views of the cerebellum as an "emotional pacemaker," with the cerebellar vermis in particular believed to modulate emotional processing (105). It is also consistent with research showing that the cerebellum modulates reward processing and controls social behavior (106). Unfortunately, many of the cerebellar stimulation studies that included mood measures lacked a neurostimulation control condition; thus, it cannot be ascertained whether mood changes were the result of active stimulation or simply non-specific treatment effects. However, these studies are an important first step in testing the efficacy of cerebellar stimulation for treating depressive symptoms in schizophrenia.

4.2 Cognition and behavior

Surprisingly, cerebellar stimulation did not improve cognition in people with schizophrenia. This contrasts with research in non-psychiatric groups as well as non-psychotic cerebellum-involved disorders, in which participants showed significant gains in learning post-cerebellar stimulation (107, 108). While the previous systematic review (26) concluded that cerebellar stimulation may improve cognitive functioning in schizophrenia, 5 of the 6 papers published after that review showed mixed findings, with comparisons across studies difficult due to study design differences (e.g., different stimulation methods, randomized studies vs. uncontrolled studies), and lack of standardization in cognitive measures and domains assessed. Nonetheless, our understanding of the effects of cerebellar stimulation on cognition in schizophrenia is still an emerging area that would benefit from more rigorous and standardized procedures.

Few studies have looked at whether cerebellar stimulation can impact specific behavioral changes. Interesting findings in rodents showed changes on an interval timing task that captures one's ability to maintain various temporal intervals in working memory (95); this study raises that possibility that stimulating cerebellar projections to the thalamus may be able to boost cognitive control. Along these lines, another future direction is to examine whether augmentation of this cerebellothalamic circuit using cerebellar stimulation could modulate sensory prediction deficits present in schizophrenia that depend on this circuit.

4.3 Functional brain networks and underlying cortical oscillations

Part of the utility of cerebellar stimulation lies in its potential for having widespread impact on distributed cortical networks (6, 12, 49–52). Consistent with this theory, increased functional connectivity between the cerebellum with the frontal cortex (89, 90) and the right pallidum (90) was observed following cerebellar iTBS relative to sham. Gains in cerebellar-to-prefrontal cortex connectivity were also linked with negative symptom reductions (89), suggesting that modulation of cerebellar-cerebral networks *via* the cerebellum could be an approach to improving symptoms in schizophrenia. Studies examining EEG-related oscillations found that individuals with schizophrenia had a more normal pattern of increased theta

10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1069488

oscillatory power in the midfrontal region (93), as well as a more normal pattern of reduced gamma oscillatory power in the left frontal and temporal cortex (86, 88), following tPCS or TMS, respectively. The gamma power reduction corresponded with reductions in negative and depressive symptoms among individuals with schizophrenia (86). Taken together, these studies illustrate how modulation of the cerebellum can impact cerebello-cerebral circuits and their underlying oscillatory dynamics. In turn, this modulation appears to be related to symptom reduction.

4.4 Movement

The cerebellum is heavily involved in movement and coordination, and movement abnormalities are present in schizophrenia (109, 110). Based on two RCTs, there was no effect of iTBS on movement-related symptoms (82, 90), although a small pilot study showed numerical decreased in tardive dyskinesia (84). More research in this area is needed to establish the effect of cerebellar stimulation for schizophrenia patients in this domain.

4.5 Physiology

The brainstem might be inadvertently affected during cerebellar stimulation, and as such, it is recommended that studies systematically monitor physiological symptoms (14, 21). Of the included studies, two studies examined effects on physiology (i.e., blood pressure, heart rate/pulse) in individuals with schizophrenia. In an RCT, there was no significant effect of iTBS with both active and sham conditions showing decreased diastolic blood pressure at 6-week follow-up (90). An open-label uncontrolled study found increased diastolic blood pressure immediately post-stimulation and 5 min after, with no significant change for systolic either blood pressure or pulse (87). Neither study reported any clinically significant or concerning changes in participants' physiological activity.

4.6 Safety/tolerability

Although the side effect profiles for modern cerebellar stimulation methods are generally low (14, 15), stimulating the cerebellum entails additional risk compared to the rest of the cortex due to its potential to induce painful neck muscle contractions and twitching (14, 21). Across all studies that reported side effects in this systematic review, only two participants reported neck pain during stimulation (that was alleviated with analgesics). Other reported side effects included headaches, dizziness and nausea, mild skin burn, and excessive sleepiness; these side effects were reported in approximately 10% of participants and were mild, temporary, and alleviated by analgesics. Overall, non-invasive brain stimulation methods appear well-tolerated by individuals with schizophrenia and pose minimal safety risks.

4.7 Technical issues and considerations when using cerebellar stimulation

To date, the optimal cerebellar stimulation parameters are unknown (15, 21, 44, 111). Efficacy of brain stimulation is determined by coil geometry (for TMS), stimulus intensity, duration and frequency of sessions, depth of the targeted tissue, and location of the cerebellar target. Research in this area is important for increasing efficacy ensuring patient tolerability and developing more personalized treatments.

Despite the cerebellum being a deep brain structure that requires cerebellar-specific stimulation parameters (e.g., coil types and stimulation intensity), most studies have followed standard parameters from cortical stimulation studies (112). Preliminary research on cerebellar-specific stimulation parameters has sought to identify the optimal TMS equipment for effective and tolerable stimulation. These studies compared different TMS coil shapes to find that double-cone (113, 114) and batwing (113) coils, which are designed to stimulate deeper tissue like the cerebellum (115), can effectively stimulate cerebellar targets, with the double-cone-coil being the most effective. Comparatively, one report concluded that the standard figure-of-eight coil produced unreliable results (113). Tolerability of the double-cone coil was significantly less than that of the figure-of-eight, and the authors therefore recommended a double-cone coil at 60% maximal stimulation output to balance reliability and tolerability. Of note, in our systematic review, one study used the angled double-cone coil while the remaining TMS studies used the standard figureof-eight coil. As for location of the cerebellar target, most of the transcranial electric stimulation studies identified the cerebellar vermis as 1-2 cm below the inion, which is consistent with recommended practice and the majority of cerebellar stimulation studies (15, 33). However, some studies used different methods to identify the cerebellar target, such as MRIguided neuronavigation (87, 89-91) and the 10-20 international EEG coordinate system (82, 86, 88, 92). This distinction is relevant as neuronavigation helps maximize the precision of the stimulation location for a given individual. Standardization is needed as electrode placement can impact the direction of the current flow direction and orientation of the electric field (15, 33). In line with this, there has been an effort to optimize and standardize procedures of transcranial electric stimulation for cerebellar targets (15, 116). These studies devise a protocol covering optimal electrode montages for cerebellar stimulation, for balancing optimal efficacy with minimal side effects.

Another technical issue to consider when conducting cerebellar stimulation RCTs is selection of the sham condition. There is great variability in sham methods employed in the field

(e.g., similar sound and scalp contact but without stimulation, stimulation using the same pulse frequency but with the coil flipped, stimulation using a different frequency, etc.). Selection of the sham condition can lead to differential biological effects beyond the intended transient sensations, which in turn affect the results (117). For sham TMS, changing the position of the coil does not completely exclude residual brain stimulation, which is why one common method is to turn the coil upside down (118). Another recommended approach is to combine a purpose-built coil that mimics sound and scalp contact with surface skin electrodes that provide electrical stimulation time-locked to a TMS pulse (119). For sham tDCS, common approaches are to apply stimulation for a few seconds at the beginning of a session or to stimulate at a constant low intensity for the entire duration (118). It is important to ascertain the efficacy of blinding to condition for both participants and researchers (117), which the majority of the included RCTs did not do. While it has become more common to report on blinding success, this is not yet the standard in the field. Participants' and researchers' expectations regarding stimulation/treatment can produce placebo or nocebo effects that impact results (118).

4.8 Recommendations and future directions

A major advancement in this field (that is currently underway) is the implementation of RCTs to evaluate cerebellar stimulation in schizophrenia (11, 13). 57% studies included in this review were designed with an active arm only, meaning there was no control condition to determine the specificity of treatment effects. A strength of a recent study is the direct comparison of different cerebellar stimulation approaches [i.e., theta tPCS vs. delta tPCS (93)]. rTMS has been used the most frequently, especially iTBS which has relative advantages over traditional rTMS in that stimulation sessions are shorter, utilize a lower threshold intensity, and exhibit greater longterm excitatory meta-neuroplasticity (27, 28). It is unclear if using rTMS, particularly iTBS, is based on historical practice or if TMS is more effective than transcranial electric stimulation approaches (i.e., tDCS, tPCS, or even transcranial alternating current stimulation [tACS]) when targeting the cerebellum. These latter approaches could be advantageous as they are not known to induce contraction of neck muscles in patients (21). Moreover, these approaches are also less expensive, more portable, and have potential as in-home treatments.

It has also been argued that research linking clinical symptoms to neurobiological measures is hampered by research design obstacles, many of which were present across these studies (120). Notably, larger sample sizes with greater power are needed to establish the reliability of cerebellar stimulation effects. Most studies to date included fewer than 20 individuals with schizophrenia. Alternatively, standardization across sites and studies would allow for the pooling of data. This point is made not only for the stimulation methods/parameters, but also for the assessments, particularly cognitive batteries (as there is more consistency in the clinical symptom inventories used). Furthermore preclinical models of psychosis are needed to test mechanistic hypotheses of cerebellar stimulation.

Longitudinal designs that extend beyond 6 weeks can help clarify the longevity of effects and whether additional doses/boosters are needed. More nuanced longitudinal studies could also help to clarify whether there are individual plateaus in treatment effects, i.e., the subject-specific point after which there are diminishing returns. Available studies varied widely in terms of when they assessed treatment effects. While some studies assessed change throughout the stimulation period, others only compared pre- and post-completion timepoints.

Additional research is needed to understand who will most benefit from cerebellar stimulation (111). Many studies recruited individuals who were treatment-resistant (17–19, 82, 87, 92) or who had at least moderate symptoms (20, 90, 91); however, it is not clear whether these individuals were more likely to benefit from treatment than those with fewer symptoms. Evaluating individuals across the psychosis spectrum can help elucidate whether less symptomatic individuals or those earlier in the illness course can similarly benefit from cerebellar stimulation. For instance, Gupta et al. (94) provided preliminary evidence that cerebellar stimulation improved cognition in non-clinical high schizotypy individuals, whereas this effect was not present in other studies of chronic schizophrenia patients.

Another future direction is to combine cerebellar stimulation with multiple neuroimaging modalities (MRI, EEG) and behavioral tasks to drill down on the underlying circuits impacted by cerebellar stimulation (121). That is, single studies can benefit from the complementary spatial resolution of MRI and the temporal resolution of EEG to clarify how stimulation modulates specific cerebellar-mediated behaviors. One example is the prediction of self-generated stimuli that is feasibly measured using tasks where participants both vocalize brief sounds and listen to playback of themselves (122). The ability to anticipate self-produced auditory stimuli is notably impaired in schizophrenia, as evidenced by deficient suppression of auditory cortical signals measured with EEG and by failures to deactive auditory cortex (122-124). Importantly, this sensory prediction process is supported by an underlying cortico-cerebellar-thalamo-cortico circuit (10). Testing whether stimulation of the cerebellum can augment the underlying cortico-cerebellar-thalamo-cortical circuit and thus improve sensory prediction, is an important and novel future direction.

A caveat regarding the results of this systematic review is the potential for publication bias, especially since many of the older included studies were small open-label or case studies. Although a systematic review was conducted on multiple databases for published articles, studies finding null results might not have been published due to rejection based on small sample size or because the authors did not attempt to publish the results. As studies in the field shift to larger and more rigorous RCTs or longitudinal designs, which can provide more power for detecting effects and can reduce the probability of a Type II error that is more prevalent in small sample studies, the likelihood of publication of null results becomes greater.

5 Conclusion

Taken together, cerebellar stimulation shows potential for alleviating negative and depressive symptoms in people with schizophrenia. The mechanism of action underlying cerebellar stimulation may be through modulation of underlying brain systems and oscillatory dynamics, consistent with previous suppositions that targeting the cerebellum can have widespread impact due to its role in distributed cerebellar-cerebral networks. Advancements in cerebellar stimulation have great treatment potential for schizophrenia, although improved standardization across studies is needed to establish the best practices for implementing these approaches and to identify the specific clinical features of schizophrenia that are most responsive to cerebellar stimulation.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

JH was responsible for compiling the initial set of studies for further evaluation. JH and SA were responsible for selecting

References

1. Ghez C, Fahn S. The cerebellum. 2nd ed. In: Kandel E, JH S editors. *Principles of Neural Science*. New York, NY: Elsevier (1985). p. 502–22.

2. Buckner R. The cerebellum and cognitive function: 25 years of insight from anatomy and neuroimaging. *Neuron.* (2013) 80:807–15. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2013.10.044

3. Leiner H, Leiner A, Dow R. The human cerebro-cerebellar system: its computing, cognitive, and language skills. *Behav Brain Res.* (1991) 44:113–28. doi: 10.1016/S0166-4328(05)80016-6

4. Leiner H, Leiner A, Dow R. Reappraising the cerebellum: what does the hindbrain contribute to the forebrain? *Behav Neurosci.* (1989) 103:998–1008. doi: 10.1037/0735-7044.103.5.998

the final set of included studies and for extracting data from these studies and drafted the initial manuscript. All authors were responsible for the study concept and design, critically reviewed the manuscript, and approved the final version for publication.

Funding

This work was supported by the Department of Veterans Affairs (CX002355 to SA and CX000497 to JF) and National Institutes of Health (R03 MH121900 to JF). Writing of this manuscript was supported by the Department of Veterans Affairs Office of Academic Affiliations, the Advanced Fellowship Program in Mental Illness Research and Treatment, and the Department of Veterans Affairs Sierra Pacific Mental Illness Research, Education, and Clinical Centers (MIRECC) granted to JH. JF was supported by a Veterans Affairs Senior Research Career Scientist Award (CX002519).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

5. Leiner H, Leiner A, Dow R. The underestimated cerebellum. *Human Brain* Mapp. (1994) 2:244–54. doi: 10.1002/hbm.460020406

6. Strick P, Dum R, Fiez J. Cerebellum and nonmotor function. Annu Rev Neurosci. (2009) 32:413–34. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.31.060407.125606

7. Saul, L. *The Cerebellum — an Athlete and a Scholar*. (2019). Available online at: https://leifsaul.com/2019/11/19/the-cerebellum-an-athlete-and-a-scholar/2019 (accessed January 9, 2022).

8. Andreasen N, Pierson R. The role of the cerebellum in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2008) 64:81–8. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.01.003

9. Picard H, Amado I, Mouchet-Mages S, Olié J, Krebs M. The role of the cerebellum in schizophrenia: an update of clinical, cognitive, and functional evidences. *Schizophr Bull.* (2008) 34:155–72. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm049

10. Pinheiro A, Johnson J, Amorim M, Roberto M, Schwartze M, Kotz S, et al. The cerebellum links to positive symptoms of psychosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Schizophr Bull Open*. (2021) 2:sgab039. doi: 10.1093/schizbullopen/ sgab039

11. Cao H, Cannon T. Cerebellar dysfunction and schizophrenia: from "cognitive dysmetria" to a potential therapeutic target. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2019) 176:498–500. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2019.19050480

12. Parker K, Narayanan N, Andreasen N. The therapeutic potential of the cerebellum in schizophrenia. *Front Syst Neurosci.* (2014) 8:163. doi: 10.3389/fnsys. 2014.00163

13. Escelsior A, Belvederi Murri M. Modulation of cerebellar activity in schizophrenia: is it the time for clinical trials? *Schizophr Bull.* (2019) 45:947–9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbz017

14. Grimaldi G, Argyropoulos G, Boehringer A, Celnik P, Edwards M, Ferrucci R, et al. Non-invasive cerebellar stimulation–a consensus paper. *Cerebellum.* (2014) 13:121–38. doi: 10.1007/s12311-013-0514-7

15. van Dun K, Bodranghien F, Mariën P, Manto M. tDCS of the cerebellum: where do we stand in 2016? Technical issues and critical review of the literature. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2016) 10:199. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2016.00199

16. Friston K, Brown H, Siemerkus J, Stephan K. The dysconnection hypothesis (2016). *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 176:83–94. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.07.014

17. Heath R. Modulation of emotion with a brain pacemaker: treatment for intractable psychiatric illness. *J Nerv Ment Dis.* (1977) 165:300–17. doi: 10.1097/00005053-197711000-00002

18. Heath R, Llewellyn R, Rouchell A. The cerebellar pacemaker for intractable behavioral disorders and epilepsy: follow-up report. *Biol Psychiatry.* (1980) 15:243–56.

19. Heath R, Rouchell A, Llewellyn R, Walker C. Cerebellar pacemaker patients: an update. *Biol Psychiatry*. (1981) 16:953–62.

20. Correa A, Llewellyn R, Epps J, Jarrott D, Eiswirth C, Heath R. Chronic cerebellar stimulation in the modulation of behavior. *Acta Neurol Latinoam.* (1980) 26:143–53.

21. Ponce G, Klaus J, Schutter D. A brief history of cerebellar neurostimulation. *Cerebellum.* (2022) 21:715–30. doi: 10.1007/s12311-021-01310-2

22. Aparício I, Guarienti F, Razza L, Carvalho A, Fregni F, Brunoni AR. A systematic review on the acceptability and tolerability of transcranial direct current stimulation treatment in neuropsychiatry trials. *Brain Stimul.* (2016) 9:671–81. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2016.05.004

23. Pilloni G, Vogel-Eyny A, Lustberg M, Best P, Malik M, Walton-Masters L, et al. Tolerability and feasibility of at-home remotely supervised transcranial direct current stimulation (RS-tDCS): single-center evidence from 6,779 sessions. *Brain Stimul.* (2022) 15:707–16. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2022.04.014

24. Hallett M. Transcranial magnetic stimulation: a primer. Neuron. (2007) 55:187–99. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.06.026

25. Morellini N, Grehl S, Tang A, Rodger J, Mariani J, Lohof A, et al. What does low-intensity rTMS do to the cerebellum? *Cerebellum*. (2015) 14:23–6. doi: 10.1007/s12311-014-0617-9

26. Escelsior A, Belvederi Murri M, Calcagno P, Cervetti A, Caruso R, Croce E, et al. Effectiveness of cerebellar circuitry modulation in schizophrenia: a systematic review. *J Nerv Ment Dis.* (2019) 207:977–86. doi: 10.1097/NMD. 00000000001064

27. Huang Y, Chen R, Rothwell J, Wen H. The after-effect of human theta burst stimulation is NMDA receptor dependent. *Clin Neurophys.* (2007) 118:1028–32. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2007.01.021

28. Suppa A, Huang Y, Funke K, Ridding M, Cheeran B, Di Lazzaro V, et al. Ten years of theta burst stimulation in humans: established knowledge, unknowns and prospects. *Brain Stimul.* (2016) 9:323–35. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2016.01.006

29. Oberman L, Edwards D, Eldaief M, Pascual-Leone A. Safety of theta burst transcranial magnetic stimulation: a systematic review of the literature. *J Clin Neurophysiol.* (2011) 28:67–74. doi: 10.1097/WNP.0b013e318205135f

30. Di Lazzaro V, Pilato F, Dileone M, Profice P, Oliviero A, Mazzone P, et al. The physiological basis of the effects of intermittent theta burst stimulation of the human motor cortex. *J Physiol.* (2008) 586:3871–9. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2008. 152736

31. Beynel L, Powers J, Appelbaum L. Effects of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on resting-state connectivity: a systematic review. *Neuroimage*. (2020) 211:116596. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2020.116596

32. Thair H, Holloway A, Newport R, Smith A. Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS): a beginner's guide for design and implementation. *Front Neurosci.* (2017) 11:641. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2017.00641

33. Ferrucci R, Cortese F, Priori A. Cerebellar tDCS: how to do it. *Cerebellum.* (2015) 14:27–30. doi: 10.1007/s12311-014-0599-7

34. Brunoni A, Nitsche M, Bolognini N, Bikson M, Wagner T, Merabet L, et al. Clinical research with transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS): challenges and future directions. *Brain Stimul.* (2012) 5:175–95. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2011.03. 002

35. Gandiga P, Hummel F, Cohen L. Transcranial DC stimulation (tDCS): a tool for double-blind sham-controlled clinical studies in brain stimulation. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2006) 117:845–50. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2005.12.003

36. Moreno-Duarte I, Gebodh N, Schestatsky P, Guleyupoglu B, Reato D, Bikson M, et al. Transcranial electrical stimulation: transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS), transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS), transcranial pulsed current stimulation (tPCS), and transcranial random noise stimulation (tRNS). In: Cohen Kadosh R editor. *The Stimulated Brain*. San Diego: Academic Press (2014). p. 35–59. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-404704-4.00002-8

37. Liu A, Vöröslakos M, Kronberg G, Henin S, Krause M, Huang Y, et al. Immediate neurophysiological effects of transcranial electrical stimulation. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:5092. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-07233-7

38. Marzouk T, Winkelbeiner S, Azizi H, Malhotra A, Homan P. Transcranial magnetic stimulation for positive symptoms in schizophrenia: a systematic review. *Neuropsychobiology*. (2020) 79:384–96. doi: 10.1159/000502148

39. Rashidi S, Jones M, Murillo-Rodriguez E, Machado S, Hao Y, Yadollahpour A. Transcranial direct current stimulation for auditory verbal hallucinations: a systematic review of clinical trials. *Neural Regen Res.* (2021) 16:666–71. doi: 10.4103/1673-5374.295315

40. Lorentzen R, Nguyen T, McGirr A, Hieronymus F, Østergaard S. The efficacy of transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) for negative symptoms in schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Schizophrenia*. (2022) 8:35. doi: 10.1038/s41537-022-00248-6

41. Tseng P, Zeng B, Hung C, Liang C, Stubbs B, Carvalho A, et al. Assessment of noninvasive brain stimulation interventions for negative symptoms of schizophrenia: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2022) 79:770–9. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2022.1513

42. Yu L, Fang X, Chen Y, Wang Y, Wang D, Zhang C. Efficacy of transcranial direct current stimulation in ameliorating negative symptoms and cognitive impairments in schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Schizophr Res.* (2020) 224:2–10. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2020.10.006

43. Hyde J, Carr H, Kelley N, Seneviratne R, Reed C, Parlatini V, et al. Efficacy of neurostimulation across mental disorders: systematic review and meta-analysis of 208 randomized controlled trials. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2022) 27:2709–19. doi: 10.1038/s41380-022-01524-8

44. Manto M, Kakei S, Mitoma H. The critical need to develop tools assessing cerebellar reserve for the delivery and assessment of non-invasive cerebellar stimulation. *Cerebellum Ataxias.* (2021) 8:2. doi: 10.1186/s40673-020-00126-w

45. Cheron G, Dan B, Márquez-Ruiz J. Translational approach to behavioral learning: lessons from cerebellar plasticity. *Neural Plast.* (2013) 2013:853654. doi: 10.1155/2013/853654

46. D'Angelo E. The organization of plasticity in the cerebellar cortex: from synapses to control. *Prog Brain Res.* (2014) 210:31–58. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-63356-9.00002-9

47. Herculano-Houzel S. The human brain in numbers: a linearly scaled-up primate brain. Front Hum Neurosci. (2009) 3:31. doi: 10.3389/neuro.09.031.2009

48. Li W, Hausknecht M, Stone P, Mauk M. Using a million cell simulation of the cerebellum: network scaling and task generality. *Neural Netw.* (2013) 47:95–102. doi: 10.1016/j.neunet.2012.11.005

49. Buckner R, Krienen F, Castellanos A, Diaz J, Yeo B. The organization of the human cerebellum estimated by intrinsic functional connectivity. *J Neurophysiol.* (2011) 106:2322–45. doi: 10.1152/jn.00339.2011

50. Dum R, Strick P. An unfolded map of the cerebellar dentate nucleus and its projections to the cerebral cortex. *J Neurophysiol.* (2003) 89:634–9. doi: 10.1152/jn.00626.2002

51. Middleton F, Strick P. Dentate output channels: motor and cognitive components. In: De Zeeuw C, Strata P, Voogd J editors. *Progress in Brain Research.* (Vol. 114, Chap. 32), Amsterdam: Elsevier (1997). p. 553–66. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(08)63386-5

52. Watson T, Becker N, Apps R, Jones M. Back to front: cerebellar connections and interactions with the prefrontal cortex. *Front Syst Neurosci.* (2014) 8:4. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2014.00004

53. Koch G. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation: a tool for human cerebellar plasticity. *Funct Neurol.* (2010) 25:159–63.

54. D'Angelo E, Mapelli L, Casellato C, Garrido J, Luque N, Monaco J, et al. Distributed circuit plasticity: new clues for the cerebellar mechanisms of learning. *Cerebellum.* (2016) 15:139–51. doi: 10.1007/s12311-015-0711-7

55. Pauly M, Steinmeier A, Bolte C, Hamami F, Tzvi E, Münchau A, et al. Cerebellar rTMS and PAS effectively induce cerebellar plasticity. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:3070. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-82496-7

56. Song P, Li S, Wang S, Wei H, Lin H, Wang Y. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of the cerebellum improves ataxia and cerebello-fronto plasticity in multiple system atrophy: a randomized, double-blind, sham-controlled and TMS-EEG study. *Aging.* (2020) 12:20611–22. doi: 10.18632/aging.103946

57. Zhang X, Hancock R, Santaniello S. Transcranial direct current stimulation of cerebellum alters spiking precision in cerebellar cortex: a modeling study of cellular responses. *PLoS Comput Biol.* (2021) 17:e1009609. doi: 10.1371/journal. pcbi.1009609

58. Pope P, Miall R. Restoring cognitive functions using non-invasive brain stimulation techniques in patients with cerebellar disorders. *Front Psychiatry.* (2014) 5:33. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00033

59. Koch G, Bonnì S, Casula E, Iosa M, Paolucci S, Pellicciari M, et al. Effect of cerebellar stimulation on gait and balance recovery in patients with hemiparetic stroke: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Neurol.* (2019) 76:170–8. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.3639

60. Koch G, Porcacchia P, Ponzo V, Carrillo F, Cáceres-Redondo M, Brusa L, et al. Effects of two weeks of cerebellar theta burst stimulation in cervical dystonia patients. *Brain Stimul.* (2014) 7:564–72. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2014.05.002

61. Larson J, Munkácsy E. Theta-burst LTP. Brain Res. (2015) 1621:38-50. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.10.034

62. Liebetanz D, Nitsche M, Tergau F, Paulus W. Pharmacological approach to the mechanisms of transcranial DC-stimulation-induced after-effects of human motor cortex excitability. *Brain.* (2002) 125 (Pt 10):2238–47. doi: 10.1093/brain/awf238

63. Javitt D, Zukin S, Heresco-Levy U, Umbricht D. Has an angel shown the way? Etiological and therapeutic implications of the PCP/NMDA model of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2012) 38:958–66. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs069

64. Moghaddam B, Javitt D. From revolution to evolution: the glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia and its implication for treatment. *Neuropsychopharmacology.* (2012) 37:4–15. doi: 10.1038/npp.2011.181

65. Hamilton H, Roach B, Cavus I, Teyler T, Clapp W, Ford J, et al. Impaired potentiation of theta oscillations during a visual cortical plasticity paradigm in individuals with schizophrenia. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:590567. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.590567

66. Cavuş I, Reinhart R, Roach B, Gueorguieva R, Teyler T, Clapp W, et al. Impaired visual cortical plasticity in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2012) 71:512–20. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.01.013

67. Valstad M, Roelfs D, Slapø N, Timpe C, Rai A, Matziorinis A, et al. Evidence for reduced long-term potentiation-like visual cortical plasticity in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Schizophr Bull.* (2021) 47:1751–60. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbab049

68. Coyle J, Tsai G, Goff D. Converging evidence of NMDA receptor hypofunction in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2003) 1003:318–27. doi: 10.1196/annals.1300.020

69. Polanía R, Nitsche M, Paulus W. Modulating functional connectivity patterns and topological functional organization of the human brain with transcranial direct current stimulation. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2011) 32:1236–49. doi: 10.1002/hbm.21104

70. Fonteneau C, Redoute J, Haesebaert F, Le Bars D, Costes N, Suaud-Chagny M, et al. Frontal transcranial direct current stimulation induces dopamine release in the ventral striatum in human. *Cereb Cortex.* (2018) 28:2636–46. doi: 10.1093/ cercor/bhy093

71. Andreasen N, Paradiso S, O'Leary D. "Cognitive dysmetria" as an integrative theory of schizophrenia: a dysfunction in cortical-subcortical-cerebellar circuitry? *Schizophr Bull.* (1998) 24:203–18. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033321

72. Barch D. Cerebellar-thalamic connectivity in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull. (2014) 40:1200-3. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu076

73. Fusar-Poli P, Papanastasiou E, Stahl D, Rocchetti M, Carpenter W, Shergill S, et al. Treatments of negative symptoms in schizophrenia: meta-Analysis of 168 randomized placebo-controlled trials. *Schizophr Bull.* (2015) 41:892–9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu170

74. Page M, McKenzie J, Bossuyt P, Boutron I, Hoffmann T, Mulrow C, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*. (2021) 372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71

75. Nathan P, Gorman J. 4th ed. In: Nathan P, Gorman J editors. A Guide to Treatments That Work. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (2015). doi: 10.1093/med:psych/9780195304145.001.0001

76. O'Neal C, Baker C, Glenn C, Conner A, Sughrue M. Dr. Robert G. Heath: a controversial figure in the history of deep brain stimulation. *Neurosurgical Focus FOC*. (2017) 43:E12. doi: 10.3171/2017.6.FOCUS17252

77. Kay S, Fiszbein A, Opler L. The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (1987) 13:261–76. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ 13.2.261

78. Andreasen, N. The scale for the assessment of negative symptoms (SANS): conceptual and theoretical foundations. *Br J Psychiatry Suppl.* (1989) 7:49–58. doi: 10.1192/S0007125000291496

79. Andreasen N. Scale for the Assessment of Positive Symptoms (SAPS). Iowa City: University of Iowa (1984).

80. Addington D, Addington J, Schissel B. A depression rating scale for schizophrenics. *Schizophr Res.* (1990) 3:247–51. doi: 10.1016/0920-9964(90) 90005-R

81. Garg S, Sinha V, Tikka S, Mishra P, Goyal N. The efficacy of cerebellar vermal deep high frequency (theta range) repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) in schizophrenia: a randomized rater blind-sham controlled study. *Psychiatry Res.* (2016) 243:413–20. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.07.023

82. Chauhan P, Garg S, Tikka S, Khattri S. Efficacy of intensive cerebellar intermittent theta burst stimulation (iCiTBS) in treatment-resistant schizophrenia: a randomized placebo-controlled study. *Cerebellum.* (2021) 20:116–23. doi: 10.1007/s12311-020-01193-9

83. Zhu L, Zhang W, Zhu Y, Mu X, Zhang Q, Wang Y, et al. Cerebellar theta burst stimulation for the treatment of negative symptoms of schizophrenia: a multicenter, double-blind, randomized controlled trial. *Psychiatry Res.* (2021) 305:114204. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2021.114204

84. Boechat-Barros R, von Glehn F, Correa T, Brasil-Neto J. Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation over the cerebellum and primary motor cortex improves tardive dyskinesia: a pilot study. *Brain Stimul.* (2022) 15:488–90. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2022.02.015

85. Laidi C, Levenes C, Suarez-Perez A, Février C, Durand F, Bouaziz N, et al. Cognitive impact of cerebellar non-invasive stimulation in a patient with schizophrenia. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:174. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00174

86. Tikka S, Garg S, Sinha V, Nizamie S, Goyal N. Resting state dense array gamma oscillatory activity as a response marker for cerebellar-repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) in schizophrenia. *J ECT*. (2015) 31:258–62. doi: 10.1097/YCT.0000000000242

87. Demirtas-Tatlidede A, Freitas C, Cromer J, Safar L, Ongur D, Stone W, et al. Safety and proof of principle study of cerebellar vermal theta burst stimulation in refractory schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2010) 124:91–100. doi: 10.1016/j.schres. 2010.08.015

88. Garg S, Tikka S, Goyal N, Sinha V, Nizamie S. Amelioration of anergia and thought disorder with adjunctive high frequency cerebellar vermal repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in schizophrenia: a case report. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 143:225–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.10.022

89. Brady R Jr., Gonsalvez I, Lee I, Öngür D, Seidman L, Schmahmann J, et al. Cerebellar-prefrontal network connectivity and negative symptoms in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2019) 176:512–20. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2018. 18040429

90. Basavaraju R, Ithal D, Thanki M, Ramalingaiah A, Thirthalli J, Reddy R, et al. Intermittent theta burst stimulation of cerebellar vermis enhances frontocerebellar resting state functional connectivity in schizophrenia with predominant negative symptoms: a randomized controlled trial. *Schizophr Res.* (2021) 238:108– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2021.10.005

91. Basavaraju R, Ithal D, Ramalingaiah A, Thirthalli J, Mehta U, Kesavan M. "Apathetic to hypomanic/manic": a case series-illustration of emergent mood symptoms during intermittent theta burst stimulation (iTBS) of cerebellar vermis in schizophrenia with predominant negative symptoms. *Schizophr Res.* (2020) 222:501–2. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2020.05.037

92. Garg S, Goyal N, Tikka S, Sinha V. Exacerbation of auditory verbal hallucinations with adjunctive high-frequency cerebellar vermal repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in schizophrenia: a case report. *J ECT*. (2013) 29:65–6. doi: 10.1097/YCT.0b013e3182706aa1

93. Singh A, Trapp N, De Corte B, Cao S, Kingyon J, Boes A, et al. Cerebellar theta frequency transcranial pulsed stimulation increases frontal theta oscillations in patients with schizophrenia. *Cerebellum.* (2019) 18:489–99. doi: 10.1007/s12311-019-01013-9

94. Gupta T, Dean D, Kelley N, Bernard J, Ristanovic I, Mittal V. Cerebellar transcranial direct current stimulation improves procedural learning in nonclinical psychosis: a double-blind crossover study. *Schizophr Bull.* (2018) 44:1373–80. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx179

95. Parker K, Kim Y, Kelley R, Nessler A, Chen K, Muller-Ewald V, et al. Deltafrequency stimulation of cerebellar projections can compensate for schizophreniarelated medial frontal dysfunction. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2017) 22:647–55. doi: 10. 1038/mp.2017.50

96. Cao H, Wei X, Zhang W, Xiao Y, Zeng J, Sweeney J, et al. Cerebellar functional dysconnectivity in drug-naïve patients with first-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2022):sbac121. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbac121

97. Uhlhaas P, Singer W. High-frequency oscillations and the neurobiology of schizophrenia. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci.* (2013) 15:301–13. doi: 10.31887/DCNS. 2013.15.3/puhlhaas

98. Ford J, Krystal J, Mathalon D. Neural synchrony in schizophrenia: from networks to new treatments. *Schizophr Bull.* (2007) 33:848–52. doi: 10.1093/ schbul/sbm062

99. Ford J, Mathalon D. Neural synchrony in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull. (2008) 34:904-6. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn090

100. Daskalakis Z, Paradiso G, Christensen B, Fitzgerald P, Gunraj C, Chen R. Exploring the connectivity between the cerebellum and motor cortex in humans. *J Physiol.* (2004) 557 (Pt 2):689–700. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2003.059808

101. Correll C, Schooler N. Negative symptoms in schizophrenia: a review and clinical guide for recognition, assessment, and treatment. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2020) 16:519–34. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S225643

102. Millan M, Fone K, Steckler T, Horan W. Negative symptoms of schizophrenia: clinical characteristics, pathophysiological substrates, experimental models and prospects for improved treatment. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2014) 24:645–92. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2014.03.008

103. Siris S. Depression in schizophrenia: perspective in the era of "Atypical" antipsychotic agents. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2000) 157:1379–89. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp. 157.9.1379

104. Abdullah H, Azeb Shahul H, Hwang M, Ferrando S. Comorbidity in schizophrenia: conceptual issues and clinical management. *Focus.* (2020) 18:386–90. doi: 10.1176/appi.focus.20200026

105. Minichino A, Bersani F, Trabucchi G, Albano G, Primavera M, Delle Chiaie R, et al. The role of cerebellum in unipolar and bipolar depression: a review of the main neurobiological findings. *Riv Psichiatr.* (2014) 49:124–31.

106. Carta I, Chen C, Schott A, Dorizan S, Khodakhah K. Cerebellar modulation of the reward circuitry and social behavior. *Science*. (2019) 363:eaav0581. doi: 10.1126/science.aav0581

107. Yao Q, Tang F, Wang Y, Yan Y, Dong L, Wang T, et al. Effect of cerebellum stimulation on cognitive recovery in patients with Alzheimer disease: a randomized clinical trial. *Brain Stimul.* (2022) 15:910–20. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2022. 06.004

108. Bonnì S, Motta C, Pellicciari M, Casula E, Cinnera A, Maiella M, et al. Intermittent cerebellar theta burst stimulation improves visuo-motor learning in stroke patients: a pilot study. *Cerebellum*. (2020) 19:739–43. doi: 10.1007/s12311-020-01146-2

109. Bernard J, Mittal V. Cerebellar-motor dysfunction in schizophrenia and psychosis-risk: the importance of regional cerebellar analysis approaches. *Front Psychiatry.* (2014) 5:160. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00160

110. Hirjak D, Kubera K, Thomann P, Wolf R. Motor dysfunction as an intermediate phenotype across schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders: progress and perspectives. *Schizophr Res.* (2018) 200:26–34. doi: 10.1016/j.schres. 2017.10.007

111. Miterko L, Baker K, Beckinghausen J, Bradnam L, Cheng M, Cooperrider J, et al. Consensus paper: experimental neurostimulation of the cerebellum. *Cerebellum.* (2019) 18:1064–97. doi: 10.1007/s12311-019-01041-5

112. Hurtado-Puerto A, Nestor K, Eldaief M, Camprodon J. Safety considerations for cerebellar theta burst stimulation. *Clin Ther.* (2020) 42:1169–90. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2020.06.001

113. Hardwick R, Lesage E, Miall R. Cerebellar transcranial magnetic stimulation: the role of coil geometry and tissue depth. *Brain Stimul.* (2014) 7:643–9. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2014.04.009

114. Fernandez L, Major B, Teo W, Byrne L, Enticott P. The impact of stimulation intensity and coil type on reliability and tolerability of cerebellar brain inhibition (CBI) via dual-coil TMS. *Cerebellum.* (2018) 17:540–9. doi: 10.1007/s12311-018-0942-5

115. Cai W, George J, Chambers C, Stokes M, Verbruggen F, Aron A. Stimulating deep cortical structures with the batwing coil: how to determine the intensity for transcranial magnetic stimulation using coil-cortex distance. *J Neurosci Methods.* (2012) 204:238–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2011.11.020

116. Sadeghihassanabadi F, Misselhorn J, Gerloff C, Zittel S. Optimizing the montage for cerebellar transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS): a combined computational and experimental study. *J Neural Eng.* (2022) 19:026060. doi: 10.1088/1741-2552/ac676f

117. Fonteneau C, Mondino M, Arns M, Baeken C, Bikson M, Brunoni A, et al. Sham tDCS: a hidden source of variability? Reflections for further blinded, controlled trials. *Brain Stimul.* (2019) 12:668–73. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2018.12.977

118. Braga M, Barbiani D, Emadi Andani M, Villa-Sánchez B, Tinazzi M, Fiorio M. The role of expectation and beliefs on the effects of non-invasive brain stimulation. *Brain Sci.* (2021) 11:1526. doi: 10.3390/brainsci11111526

119. Duecker F, Sack A. Rethinking the role of sham TMS. Front Psychol. (2015) 6:210. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00210

120. Mathalon D, Ford J. Neurobiology of schizophrenia: search for the elusive correlation with symptoms. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2012) 6:136. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00136

121. Abram S, Hua J, Ford J. Consider the pons: bridging the gap on sensory prediction abnormalities in schizophrenia. *Trends Neurosci.* (2022) 45:798–808. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2022.08.008

122. Mathalon D, Ford J. Corollary discharge dysfunction in schizophrenia: evidence for an elemental deficit. *Clin EEG Neurosci.* (2008) 39:82–6. doi: 10.1177/155005940803900212

123. Ford J, Gray M, Faustman W, Roach B, Mathalon D. Dissecting corollary discharge dysfunction in schizophrenia. *Psychophysiology.* (2007) 44:522–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2007.00533.x

124. Ford J, Palzes V, Roach B, Mathalon D. Did I do that? Abnormal predictive processes in schizophrenia when button pressing to deliver a tone. *Schizophr Bull.* (2014) 40:804–12. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt072

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Hengyi Cao, Feinstein Institute for Medical Research, United States

REVIEWED BY Sheeba Arnold, Carle Foundation Hospital, United States Valentina Ciullo, Santa Lucia Foundation (IRCCS), Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Wenjing Zhang ⊠ wjzhang19@scu.edu.cn Su Lui ⊠ lusuwcums@tom.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 29 October 2022 ACCEPTED 28 November 2022 PUBLISHED 22 December 2022

CITATION

Li X, Liu N, Yang C, Zhang W and Lui S (2022) Cerebellar gray matter volume changes in patients with schizophrenia: A voxel-based meta-analysis. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:1083480. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1083480

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Li, Liu, Yang, Zhang and Lui. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Cerebellar gray matter volume changes in patients with schizophrenia: A voxel-based meta-analysis

Xing Li[†], Naici Liu[†], Chengmin Yang, Wenjing Zhang* and Su Lui*

Department of Radiology, Huaxi MR Research Center (HMRRC), West China Hospital of Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

Background: In schizophrenia, the structural changes in the cerebellum are associated with patients' cognition and motor deficits. However, the findings are inconsistent owing to the heterogeneity in sample size, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scanners, and other factors among them. In this study, we conducted a meta-analysis to characterize the anatomical changes in cerebellar subfields in patients with schizophrenia.

Methods: Systematic research was conducted to identify studies that compare the gray matter volume (GMV) differences in the cerebellum between patients with schizophrenia and healthy controls with a voxel-based morphometry (VBM) method. A coordinate-based meta-analysis was adopted based on seed-based d mapping (SDM) software. An exploratory meta-regression analysis was conducted to associate clinical and demographic features with cerebellar changes.

Results: Of note, 25 studies comprising 996 patients with schizophrenia and 1,109 healthy controls were included in the present meta-analysis. In patients with schizophrenia, decreased GMVs were demonstrated in the left Crus II, right lobule VI, and right lobule VIII, while no increased GMV was identified. In the meta-regression analysis, the mean age and illness duration were negatively associated with the GMV in the left Crus II in patients with schizophrenia.

Conclusion: The most significant structural changes in the cerebellum are mainly located in the posterior cerebellar hemisphere in patients with schizophrenia. The decreased GMVs of these regions might partly explain the cognitive deficits and motor symptoms in patients with schizophrenia.

KEYWORDS

cerebellum, schizophrenia, magnetic resonance imaging, cognition, gray matter volume

1 Introduction

Schizophrenia has been widely considered a psychiatric disorder characterized by cognitive deficits (1-6) and motor dysfunctions (7, 8), notably in verbal memory, working memory, processing speed, and motor control (9). A wide range of brain structural and functional alterations (10) have been found in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies of schizophrenia, for instance, the progressive losses of cerebral cortical volume and thickness in the frontal, temporal, parietal, and cingulate cortices and the thalamus (11); decreased regional homogeneity (ReHo) in the cingulate cortex, occipital gyrus and cuneus; and altered functional connectivity of the salience, central executive and defaultmode networks (12-15). Although the cerebral function and structure are of great importance in the pathophysiological progression of schizophrenia, accumulating evidence indicates that the cerebellum also plays a vital role in emotion, cognition, motor, and executive functions in patients with schizophrenia (16-18). Andreasen et al. (19, 20) first proposed the role of the cerebellum in "cognitive dysmetria" and raised the concept of the "cerebello-thalamo-cortical circuit" in schizophrenia. This circuit establishes the functional pathway of information transfer between the cerebral cortex and cerebellum. Its hyperconnectivity was identified as a potential biomarker for genetic risk, diagnosis, and disorder progression in schizophrenia (21-24). In addition, a previous study using a large adolescent cohort indicated that cerebellar morphology was correlated with both general cognitive function and general psychopathology and that the cerebellum might be a critical structure in the development of grievous mental psychosis (25). Regarding the abnormalities of cerebellar subregions in patients with schizophrenia, decreased gray matter volumes (GMV) were reported in the Crus I/II (26, 27) and lobule III, IV (28), V (29, 30), VI (27, 31), and VIIb/VIIIa (32). Some studies reported no significant cerebellar structural changes when comparing patients with schizophrenia to healthy controls (33, 34). In general, the altered cerebellar subregions were inconsistent in the structural MRI studies of schizophrenia.

Various reasons may account for the heterogeneity among abnormal cerebellar structures in patients with schizophrenia, including disorder heterogeneity, sample size, demographic characteristics, the administration of antipsychotic drugs, scanning parameters, and processing methods. The heterogeneity might be explained by the fact that previous studies mainly focused on the cerebral structures instead of structural deficits in the cerebellum.

Previous studies demonstrated structural alterations of the cerebellum in schizophrenia. A mega-analysis of 983 patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders indicated that the losses of cerebellar GMVs in the patients were mainly located in regions concerning higher-level cognitive functions (35). A previous meta-analysis of first-episode schizophrenia involving both adolescents and adults suggested that the decreased GMVs were mainly located in Crus II and lobule IV, right lobule V, and right lobule VII (36).

To further illustrate the remarkable regional changes in the cerebellum in patients with schizophrenia, a meta-analysis was conducted that mainly focused on cerebellar changes in participants aged \geq 18 years and only patients diagnosed with schizophrenia in terms of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM). An exploratory meta-regression was performed to determine the potential relationship between abnormal cerebellar structures and clinical variables.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Search procedures

This meta-analysis adhered to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement. Related literature was searched in the Embase, PubMed, and Web of Science databases from 1 August 1985 to 1 August 2022. The keywords were "schizophrenia" and "cerebellum" and "magnetic resonance imaging" on the condition of "All Fields". We manually searched the reference lists of the selected articles and related reviews. We included studies meeting the following criteria: (1) peer-reviewed articles published in English; (2) studies comparing cerebellar GMV changes between patients with schizophrenia and healthy controls using voxel-based analytical methods; and (3) studies demonstrating cerebellar GMV alterations in the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) or Talairach coordinates. Studies were excluded if (1) they were commentaries, editorials, case reports, or letters; (2) they included patients with a diagnosis other than schizophrenia, such as schizoaffective disorder, bipolar affective disorders, organic mental disorders, substance-related disorders, or early onset schizophrenia (both childhood and adolescent schizophrenia) in the patients' group; (3) they did not use MRI to show gray matter differences in the cerebellum; or (4) they carried out image processing using only region of interest (ROI) or manual approaches. Two investigators conducted the literature search independently, and the results were compared. When confronted with controversies, an agreement was reached between the investigators during the inclusion of studies for this meta-analysis.

2.2 Data extraction

We recorded demographic information and clinical data, including sample size, sex, mean age, age of onset, duration of illness, years of education, and Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) scores. Basic methodological materials

55

(statistical threshold and correction) and scanning parameters [slice thickness, field strength, and full width at half maximum (FWHM)] were well documented using Microsoft Excel. In addition, the peak coordinates of the main results and effect sizes were recorded for SDM calculations.

2.3 Quality assessments of the selected studies

To assess the quality of each study, a modified 10point checklist was obtained from earlier studies in line with Newcastle Ottawa Scale (37, 38). The checklist contained three categories: five items for participant inclusion and exclusion, three items for imaging scanning parameters and analytical methods, and two items for results and conclusions. The scores were separated into three levels: 7–9 was regarded as good, 4–6 was fair, and 0–3 was poor. Each item was scored as 0, 0.5, or 1 point if the criteria were unfulfilled, partially met, or fully met, respectively, and any study scoring > 5.0 points was included in the meta-analysis. The details of the checklist are presented in **Supplementary Table 1**. However, this checklist was only used to evaluate the quality of the studies included in this meta-analysis rather than to judge the work or authors.

2.4 Seed-based d mapping meta-analysis

An anisotropic effect-size version of seed-based d mapping (AES-SDM) software (version 5.15)1 was adopted in this metaanalysis to detect consistent GMV abnormalities in patients with schizophrenia when compared with healthy controls. AES-SDM uses effect sizes and permits the combination of reported peak coordinates with statistical parametric maps, providing elaborate and convincing meta-analyses (39, 40). According to the AES-SDM tutorial, statistical maps and effect size maps of the coordinates of each study were recreated ("gray matter" numbers of randomization = 1, anisotropy = 1, isotropic full width at half maximum FWHM = 20 mm, mask = "gray matter"). Moreover, individual research maps were entered into the meta-analysis. Jackknife sensitivity, heterogeneity, and publication bias analyses were performed to assess the sensitivity and heterogeneity of the results. The analytical parameters obtained from previous studies (41-43) are listed as follows: voxel threshold p = 0.005, peak height threshold z = 1.00, and cluster size threshold = 10 voxels.

Subgroup analyses were tested according to studies reported with corrected results, and studies used a 3.0-T MRI scanning machine. Based on a linear model, meta-regression analysis was performed to detect the association between GMV abnormalities and clinical data (age, age of onset, sex, illness duration, and PANSS subscale scores). The analytical parameters were as follows: threshold of p = 0.0005, peak height threshold z = 1.00, and cluster size threshold = 10 voxels (37, 43). Further details of the jackknife, heterogeneity, publication bias analyses, and meta-regression are described in the **Supplementary material**.

3 Results

3.1 Included studies and clinical information

The flowchart of the literature search is presented in Figure 1. The demographic information, clinical data, and scanning materials of all included GMV studies are summarized in Supplementary Table 2. A total of 25 VBM studies (6, 27, 30, 32, 44-64) were distinguished based on our search protocol. Two articles (52, 53) published by the same author were both included because the cohorts did not overlap. All patients were diagnosed with schizophrenia in line with the DSM criteria, excluding patients with any other schizoaffective disorder, bipolar affective disorders, organic mental disorders, or other mental disorders. In total, 996 patients with schizophrenia (men, 572; mean age, 29.63 years; mean illness duration, 6.19 years; mean PANSS total score, 103.70) and 1,109 matched healthy controls (649 men, mean age 29.90 years) were analyzed. Only five studies (45, 48, 50, 55, 59) were focused on drug-naïve patients. The threshold of 15 studies (27, 30, 44, 46, 48-50, 56-61, 63, 64) was corrected for multiple comparisons, and 14 studies (27, 30, 32, 45-48, 50, 52, 53, 59, 60, 63, 64) used the PANSS for psychotic symptom assessment. The field strength of partial studies was 3.0-T MRI (9/25 datasets), and the thickness was 1 mm (14/25 datasets). The average quality score of the 25 studies was 8.04 (range 7-9.5), which implies that the quality of the included studies was at a high level.

Notably, 17 datasets revealed decreased GMVs involving the bilateral cerebellum, especially in the left Crus I/II and right lobule VI/VIIb in patients with schizophrenia. Six datasets suggested increased GMVs in the bilateral cerebellum, involving the anterior part of the bilateral cerebellum, bilateral cerebellum III, and Vermis IV and V.

3.2 The results of the SDM meta-analysis

Integrating all 25 studies in this meta-analysis, patients with schizophrenia showed decreased GMVs in the left Crus II (z = -1.991, p = 0.000165164), right lobule VI (z = -1.484, p = 0.001656592), and right lobule VIII (z = -1.409,

¹ https://www.sdmproject.com/



p = 0.002353311; Table 1 and Figure 2) when compared with healthy controls. No increased cerebellar GMV was identified.

In the subgroup meta-analysis, studies that reported corrected results (15 studies) and studies that used a 3.0-T scanning machine (9 studies) were in high accordance with the integrated results (Supplementary Table 3).

3.3 Jackknife, heterogeneity, and publication bias analyses

In the jackknife analysis, decreased GMV in the left Crus II was in accordance with all combinations of the 25 datasets. Moreover, decreased GMVs in the right lobule VI and right lobule VIII remained statistically significant in 22/25 datasets (**Supplementary Table 4**). This finding indicates that the significant cerebellar gray volume differences showed good robustness and consistency in this meta-analysis. No significant statistical heterogeneity was identified in the meaningful cerebellar GMV alterations between studies. The Egger test of funnel plot asymmetry did not show statistical significance in the analysis of publication bias. The forest plots are shown in **Supplementary Figure 1**.

3.4 The results of the meta-regression analysis

In the linear regression analysis, mean age (r = -0.461, p = 0.020) and illness duration (r = -0.496, p = 0.019) were negatively associated with GMV in the left Crus II in patients with schizophrenia (Figure 3). No association was found between statistically significant GMV alterations and age of onset, PANSS total scores, or subscale scores.

4 Discussion

This study, which included 996 patients with schizophrenia and 1,109 healthy controls, mainly investigated structural

Region	MNI	coordi	nate	SDM P uncorrected		Voxels	Cluster breakdown (voxels)
	x	У	z	Z score			
Left cerebellum, Crus II	-24	-78	-44	-1.991	0.000165164	2163	Left cerebellum, Crus II (819)*
							Left cerebellum, Crus I (568)
							Left cerebellum, hemispheric lobule VIIB (234)
							Left cerebellum, hemispheric lobule VIII (224)
							Left cerebellum, hemispheric lobule VI, BA 37 (87)
							Left cerebellum, Crus I, BA 37 (52)
							Left cerebellum, Crus I, BA 18 (36)
							Left cerebellum, hemispheric lobule VI (35)
							Cerebellum, vermis lobule VII (26)
							Left fusiform gyrus, BA 37 (22)
							Left cerebellum, hemispheric lobule VI, BA 18 (22)
							Left cerebellum, hemispheric lobule VI, BA 19 (15)
							Left cerebellum, Crus I, BA 19 (12)
							Middle cerebellar peduncles (11)
Right cerebellum, hemispheric lobule VI	10	-66	-24	-1.484	0.001656592	142	Right cerebellum, hemispheric lobule VI (60)
							Right cerebellum, hemispheric lobule VI, BA 37 (33)
							Right cerebellum, hemispheric lobule VI, BA 18 (25)
							Right cerebellum, hemispheric lobule VI, BA 19 (24)
Right cerebellum, hemispheric lobule VIII	20	-60	-58	-1.409	0.002353311	186	Right cerebellum, hemispheric lobule VIII (133)
							Right cerebellum, hemispheric lobule IX (53)

TABLE 1 Gray matter volume changes between patients with schizophrenia and healthy controls (25 studies).

*Less than 10 voxels are not represented in the breakdown of voxels.

BA, Brodmann area; MNI, Montreal Neurological Institute; SDM, seed-based d mapping.

changes in the cerebellum and identified GMV decreases in the left Crus II, right lobule VI, and right lobule VIII in patients with schizophrenia. Similarly, these findings showed good repeatability in both subgroup meta-analysis and jackknife sensitivity analysis. The cerebellar subregional GMV alterations discovered in our meta-analysis might be one of the schizophrenic neuroanatomical bases, especially in the left Crus II. Moreover, we also found that mean age and illness duration were negatively associated with the GMV in the left Crus II, which might suggest that schizophrenia is a progressive disorder.

Consistent with our findings in this meta-analysis, multiple former studies identified decreased GMVs mainly located in the left Crus II, right lobule VI, and right lobule VIII (35, 36, 65–67). In a meta-analysis of 283 volumetric brain studies, decreased cerebellar volume was identified in medicated patients with schizophrenia (68). Moberget et al. (35) found regional decreased GMVs in the bilateral Crus I, left Crus II, right lobule VIII, and right lobule IX in a large voxel-wise level megaanalysis and clarified that the cerebellum was a critical point of brain connectivity in patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. A worldwide multicenter study (66), including 182 patients with schizophrenia and 198 healthy controls, suggested that GMV losses mainly occurred in lobule VIIb and Crus II. The volume changes in the cerebellum may be the most vigorous and stable brain imaging findings in patients with schizophrenia.

Purkinje cells (PCs), a central component of the cerebellum, are correlated with cerebellar function and development. In addition, PCs provide signals in balance, motor coordination, and cognition learning (69–71). A former animal experiment stated that the losses of PCs may lead to motion abnormalities and schizophrenia-like behaviors (72). In addition, the number and size of PCs are related to extensive cognitive impairments and psychopathological symptoms in schizophrenia patients (73). Decreased Purkinje neuron linear density was detected in the cerebellum, especially in the vermis, and presented as cerebellar volume decreases in MRI (72, 74, 75). Thus, a reduction in cerebellar GMV, shown on brain neuroimaging, presumably results in clinical symptoms in patients with schizophrenia, which might be explained by the abnormal number and size of PCs.



Nevertheless, the findings of decreased cerebellar GMV in the left Crus II in patients with schizophrenia are contrary to those of previous studies. For instance, a former study by Morimoto et al. (33) suggested that no differences were found in either white matter volumes or GMVs of the bilateral Crus I/II between patients with schizophrenia and healthy controls. The inconsistency of results might be explained by the differences in the study design, the heterogeneous conditions of schizophrenia, and methodological differences.

The Crus II and lobule VI/VIII occupy a major part of the posterior cerebellar hemisphere (76). These altered cerebellar GMV regions were considered to connect and function together with the cerebrum for high-level cognitive operations, such as sensorimotor control, language, verb generation, working memory, spatial processing, and emotion processing (67, 77-83). More specifically, the Crus II was regarded as a critical hub in a recent functional connectome study of healthy volunteers. The Crus II connected with multiple resting-state networks in the cerebrum, such as the default-mode, cingulo-parietal, frontoparietal, ventral attention, and language networks (84). We suggested that the GMV decreases in these cerebellar subregions might cause the interruptions of cerebrocerebellar communications in schizophrenia (85, 86). For patients with schizophrenia, decreased connectivity between the Crus II and ventral attention, salience, and default-mode networks, as well as increased connectivity with the somatomotor network, were shown in a cerebrocerebellar functional connectivity study (86, 87). An updated review also identified that lobule VI was related to the default-mode network and the executive control network; furthermore, lobule VIII was linked with the sensorimotor network (88). Regions of anatomical abnormalities were extensively involved in functional connectivity between the cerebrum and cerebellum. A non-invasive transcranial magnetic stimulation targeting the Crus I/II was adopted in humans, and it strengthened the point of view that the cerebellum plays a key role in cerebral functional connectivity within networks, especially in the default-mode network (89). Moreover, the GMVs of the bilateral cerebellum I/II were associated with the severity of symptoms in both individuals with ultrahigh-risk and patients with first-episode schizophrenia (33). In summary, the Crus II and lobule VI/VIII widely participated in the cerebrocerebellar functional connectivity and were involved in high-level functions in patients with schizophrenia. We hypothesized that abnormal volume changes in these regions might be potential factors leading to cognitive dysfunction and motor symptoms in patients with schizophrenia.

In addition, our study also found that mean age and illness duration were negatively associated with GMV in the left Crus II in patients with schizophrenia. This finding indicated a further reduction of GMV in the cerebellum with increased age and a prolonged illness course. In accordance with the previous opinion, schizophrenia is a



progressive disorder (6, 90–93). However, antipsychotic medication might contribute to changes in cerebellar GMV (94). The progressive loss of GMV might be a confounding consequence of antipsychotic medication, age, and illness duration. Thus, this finding should be interpreted with caution.

5 Limitations

There are some limitations to our meta-analysis. First, all the included studies were VBM studies conducted mainly from the perspective of the whole brain, and the details of subregional cerebellar information were hard to obtain, except for the specific peak coordinates. Technically, more precise segmentation approaches have been applied to cerebellar subfields (66). However, diverse novel methods (95) have only been applied in limited studies, which do not have enough quantity to conduct a meta-analysis. Second, we only concentrated on the significant cerebellar changes that have been reported, and we omitted the results with no significance in the VBM studies. At the same time, no publication bias was identified in our study. Third, clinical and methodological heterogeneity among different studies could contribute to the evaluation of GMV. To minimize the confounding factors, the subgroup meta-analysis was performed based on studies concerning the 3.0-T MRI and studies with corrected results. The results of the subgroup analysis were in line with the present research. Fourth, most of the patients with schizophrenia were medicated or had a long illness duration in the included studies. A meta-regression analysis was carried out to specify the association between illness duration and significant cerebellar GMV changes, which implicated that illness duration was negatively associated with decreased GMV in the left Crus II.

6 Conclusion

The current meta-analysis of VBM studies provides consolidated evidence that structural changes in the cerebellum are consistently located in the left Crus II, right lobule VI, and right lobule VIII in patients with schizophrenia. The decreased GMVs of these regions might associate with the interruptions of cerebrocerebellar communications in patients with schizophrenia and might partly explain cognitive deficits and motor symptoms in patients with schizophrenia.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Author contributions

WZ and SL contributed to the design of the study and the supervision of all the work of this review. XL and NL contributed to the literature search and drafted the manuscript. CY guided the meta-analysis process. All authors made critical revisions to the manuscript for important intellectual content and gave final approval of the version to be submitted.

Funding

This study was supported by the National Key R&D Program of China (Project nos. 2022YFC2009901 and 2022YFC2009900), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Project nos. 82120108014, 82071908, and 81621003), CAMS Innovation Fund for Medical Sciences (CIFMS) (Project no. 2021-I2M-C&T-A-022), Sichuan Science and Technology Program (Project no. 2021JDTD0002), and

References

1. Kurtz M, Gopal S, John S, Thara R. Cognition, social cognition and functional disability in early-stage schizophrenia: a study from southern India. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 265:231–7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.03.091

2. Dickinson D, Zaidman S, Giangrande E, Eisenberg D, Gregory M, Berman K. Distinct polygenic score profiles in schizophrenia subgroups with different trajectories of cognitive development. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2020) 177:298–307. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2019.19050527

3. Toulopoulou T, Zhang X, Cherny S, Dickinson D, Berman K, Straub R, et al. Polygenic risk score increases schizophrenia liability through cognition-relevant pathways. *Brain.* (2019) 142:471–85. doi: 10.1093/brain/awy279

4. Seitz-Holland J, Wojcik J, Cetin-Karayumak S, Lyall A, Pasternak O, Rathi Y, et al. Cognitive deficits, clinical variables, and white matter microstructure in schizophrenia: a multisite harmonization study. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2022) 2022:1731. doi: 10.1038/s41380-022-01731-3

5. Cannon T. How schizophrenia develops: cognitive and brain mechanisms underlying onset of psychosis. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2015) 19:744–56. doi: 10.1016/j. tics.2015.09.009

6. Tanskanen P, Ridler K, Murray G, Haapea M, Veijola J, Jääskeläinen E, et al. Morphometric brain abnormalities in schizophrenia in a population-based sample: relationship to duration of illness. *Schizophr Bull.* (2010) 36:766–77. doi: 10.1093/ schbul/sbn141

7. Dickson H, Laurens K, Cullen A, Hodgins S. Meta-analyses of cognitive and motor function in youth aged 16 years and younger who subsequently develop

SL acknowledges the support from Humboldt Foundation Friedrich Wilhelm Bessel Research Award and Chang Jiang Scholars (Program no. T2019069).

Conflict of interest

WZ consults with VeraSci.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fpsyt.2022.1083480/full#supplementary-material

schizophrenia. Psychol Med. (2012) 42:743-55. doi: 10.1017/s003329171100 1693

8. Forsyth J, Lewis D. Mapping the consequences of impaired synaptic plasticity in schizophrenia through development: an integrative model for diverse clinical features. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2017) 21:760–78. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2017.06.006

9. Geisler D, Walton E, Naylor M, Roessner V, Lim K, Charles Schulz S, et al. Brain structure and function correlates of cognitive subtypes in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 234:74–83. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2015.08.008

10. Sui J, Qi S, van Erp T, Bustillo J, Jiang R, Lin D, et al. Multimodal neuromarkers in schizophrenia via cognition-guided mri fusion. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:3028. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-05432-w

11. Alemán-Gómez Y, Najdenovska E, Roine T, Fartaria MJ, Canales-Rodríguez EJ, Rovó Z, et al. Partial-volume modeling reveals reduced gray matter in specific thalamic nuclei early in the time course of psychosis and chronic schizophrenia. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2020) 41:4041–61. doi: 10.1002/hbm.25108.

12. Huang Y, Wang W, Hei G, Yang Y, Long Y, Wang X, et al. Altered regional homogeneity and cognitive impairments in first-episode schizophrenia: a resting-state fmri study. *Asian J Psychiatr.* (2022) 71:103055. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2022.103055

13. Yang M, Gao S, Zhang X. Cognitive deficits and white matter abnormalities in never-treated first-episode schizophrenia. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2020) 10:368. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-01049-0

14. Fujiwara H, Yassin W, Murai T. Neuroimaging studies of social cognition in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci*. (2015) 69:259–67. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12258

15. Yasuda Y, Okada N, Nemoto K, Fukunaga M, Yamamori H, Ohi K, et al. Brain morphological and functional features in cognitive subgroups of schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2020) 74:191–203. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12963

16. Kong L, Herold C, Cheung E, Chan R, Schröder J. Neurological soft signs and brain network abnormalities in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2020) 46:562–71. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbz118

17. Gao J, Tang X, Wang C, Yu M, Sha W, Wang X, et al. Aberrant cerebellar neural activity and cerebro-cerebellar functional connectivity involving executive dysfunction in schizophrenia with primary negative symptoms. *Brain Imaging Behav.* (2020) 14:869–80. doi: 10.1007/s11682-018-0032-9

18. Moberget T, Ivry R. Prediction, psychosis, and the cerebellum. *Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuro*. (2019) 4:820–31. doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2019.06.001

19. Andreasen N, O'Leary D, Cizadlo T, Arndt S, Rezai K, Ponto L, et al. Schizophrenia and cognitive dysmetria: a positron-emission tomography study of dysfunctional prefrontal-thalamic-cerebellar circuitry. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1996) 93:9985–90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.18.9985

20. Andreasen N, Paradiso S, O'Leary D. "Cognitive dysmetria" as an integrative theory of schizophrenia: a dysfunction in cortical-subcortical-cerebellar circuitry? *Schizophr Bull.* (1998) 24:203–18. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033321

21. Bernard J, Orr J, Mittal V. Cerebello-thalamo-cortical networks predict positive symptom progression in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2017) 14:622–8. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2017.03.001

22. Cao H, Ingvar M, Hultman C, Cannon T. Evidence for cerebello-thalamocortical hyperconnectivity as a heritable trait for schizophrenia. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2019) 9:192. doi: 10.1038/s41398-019-0531-5

23. Cao H, Wei X, Hu N, Zhang W, Xiao Y, Zeng J, et al. Cerebello-thalamocortical hyperconnectivity classifies patients and predicts long-term treatment outcome in first-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2022) 48:505–13. doi: 10. 1093/schbul/sbab112

24. Cao H, Chén O, Chung Y, Forsyth J, McEwen S, Gee D, et al. Cerebellothalamo-cortical hyperconnectivity as a state-independent functional neural signature for psychosis prediction and characterization. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:3836. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-06350-7

25. Moberget T, Alnæs D, Kaufmann T, Doan N, Córdova-Palomera A, Norbom L, et al. Cerebellar gray matter volume is associated with cognitive function and psychopathology in adolescence. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2019) 86:65–75. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsych.2019.01.019

26. Kühn S, Romanowski A, Schubert F, Gallinat J. Reduction of cerebellar grey matter in crus i and ii in schizophrenia. *Brain Struct Funct.* (2012) 217: 523–9. doi: 10.1007/s00429-011-0365-2

27. He H, Luo C, Luo Y, Duan M, Yi Q, Biswal B, et al. Reduction in gray matter of cerebellum in schizophrenia and its influence on static and dynamic connectivity. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2019) 40:517–28. doi: 10.1002/hbm.24391

28. Rasser P, Schall U, Peck G, Cohen M, Johnston P, Khoo K, et al. Cerebellar grey matter deficits in first-episode schizophrenia mapped using cortical pattern matching. *NeuroImage*. (2010) 53:1175–80.

29. Gupta C, Calhoun V, Rachakonda S, Chen J, Patel V, Liu J, et al. Patterns of gray matter abnormalities in schizophrenia based on an international megaanalysis. *Schizophr Bull*. (2015) 41:1133–42. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu177

30. Sheng J, Zhu Y, Lu Z, Liu N, Huang N, Zhang Z, et al. Altered volume and lateralization of language-related regions in first-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 148:168–74. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.05.021

31. Leung M, Cheung C, Yu K, Yip B, Sham P, Li Q, et al. Gray matter in firstepisode schizophrenia before and after antipsychotic drug treatment. anatomical likelihood estimation meta-analyses with sample size weighting. *Schizophr Bull.* (2011) 37:199–211. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp099

32. Cierpka M, Wolf N, Kubera K, Schmitgen M, Vasic N, Frasch K, et al. Cerebellar contributions to persistent auditory verbal hallucinations in patients with schizophrenia. *Cerebellum.* (2017) 16:964–72.

33. Morimoto C, Uematsu A, Nakatani H, Takano Y, Iwashiro N, Abe O, et al. Volumetric differences in gray and white matter of cerebellar crus i/ii across the different clinical stages of schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2021) 75:256–64. doi: 10.1111/pcn.13277

34. Moussa-Tooks A, Rogers B, Huang A, Sheffield J, Heckers S, Woodward N. Cerebellar structure and cognitive ability in psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2022) 2022:13. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2022.03.013

35. Moberget T, Doan N, Alnaes D, Kaufmann T, Cordova-Palomera A, Lagerberg T, et al. Cerebellar volume and cerebellocerebral structural covariance in schizophrenia: a multisite mega-analysis of 983 patients and 1349 healthy controls. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2018) 23:1512–20. doi: 10.1038/mp.2017.106

36. Ding Y, Ou Y, Pan P, Shan X, Chen J, Liu F, et al. Cerebellar structural and functional abnormalities in first-episode and drug-naive patients with

schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Res Neuro*. (2019) 283:24–33. doi: 10. 1016/j.pscychresns.2018.11.009

37. Li Q, Zhao Y, Chen Z, Long J, Dai J, Huang X, et al. Meta-analysis of cortical thickness abnormalities in medication-free patients with major depressive disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2020) 45:703–12. doi: 10.1038/s41386-019-0563-9

38. Gao X, Zhang W, Yao L, Xiao Y, Liu L, Liu J, et al. Association between structural and functional brain alterations in drug-free patients with schizophrenia: a multimodal meta-analysis. *J Psychiatry Neurosci*. (2017) 43:1–12. doi: 10.1503/jpn. 160219

39. Radua J, Mataix-Cols D. Meta-analytic methods for neuroimaging data explained. *Biol Mood Anxiety Disord*. (2012) 2:6. doi: 10.1186/2045-5380-2-6

40. Müller V, Cieslik E, Laird A, Fox P, Radua J, Mataix-Cols D, et al. Ten simple rules for neuroimaging meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2018) 84:151–61. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.11.012

41. Wei X, Luo C, Li Q, Hu N, Xiao Y, Liu N, et al. White matter abnormalities in patients with parkinson's disease: a meta-analysis of diffusion tensor imaging using tract-based spatial statistics. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2020) 12:610962. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2020.610962

42. Yang C, Li L, Hu X, Luo Q, Kuang W, Lui S, et al. Psychoradiologic abnormalities of white matter in patients with bipolar disorder: diffusion tensor imaging studies using tract-based spatial statistics. *J Psychiatry Neurosci.* (2019) 44:32–44. doi: 10.1503/jpn.170221

43. Chen L, Hu X, Ouyang L, He N, Liao Y, Liu Q, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of tract-based spatial statistics studies regarding attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2016) 68:838–47. doi: 10. 1016/j.neubiorev.2016.07.022

44. Delvecchio G, Lorandi A, Perlini C, Barillari M, Ruggeri M, Altamura A, et al. Brain anatomy of symptom stratification in schizophrenia: a voxel-based morphometry study. *Nordic J Psychiatry*. (2017) 71:348–54.

45. Filippi M, Canu E, Gasparotti R, Agosta F, Valsecchi P, Lodoli G, et al. Patterns of brain structural changes in first-contact, antipsychotic drug-naive patients with schizophrenia. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol.* (2014) 35:30–7. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A 3583

46. Ha T, Youn T, Ha K, Rho K, Lee J, Kim I, et al. Gray matter abnormalities in paranoid schizophrenia and their clinical correlations. *Psychiatry Res Neuro*. (2004) 132:251–60.

47. Huang P, Xi Y, Lu Z, Chen Y, Li X, Li W, et al. Decreased bilateral thalamic gray matter volume in first-episode schizophrenia with prominent hallucinatory symptoms: a volumetric mri study. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:14505. doi: 10.1038/srep14505

48. Jayakumar P, Venkatasubramanian G, Gangadhar B, Janakiramaiah N, Keshavan M. Optimized voxel-based morphometry of gray matter volume in first-episode, antipsychotic-naive schizophrenia. *Prog Neuro Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2005) 29:587–91.

49. Kuehn S, Romanowski A, Schubert F, Gallinat J. Reduction of cerebellar grey matter in crus I and II in schizophrenia. *Brain Struct Funct.* (2012) 217: 523–9.

50. Lei W, Deng W, Li M, He Z, Han Y, Huang C, et al. Gray matter volume alterations in first-episode drug-naïve patients with deficit and nondeficit schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 234:219–26. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2015. 09.015

51. McDonald C, Bullmore E, Sham P, Chitnis X, Suckling J, MacCabe J, et al. Regional volume deviations of brain structure in schizophrenia and psychotic bipolar disorder: computational morphometry study. *Br J Psychiatry.* (2005) 186:369–77. doi: 10.1192/bjp.186.5.369

52. Molina V, Galindo G, Cortes B, De Herrera A, Ledo A, Sanz J, et al. Different gray matter patterns in chronic schizophrenia and chronic bipolar disorder patients identified using voxel-based morphometry. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2011) 261:313–22. doi: 10.1007/s00406-010-0183-1

53. Molina V, Martín C, Ballesteros A, de Herrera A, Hernández-Tamames J. Optimized voxel brain morphometry: association between brain volumes and the response to atypical antipsychotics. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2011) 261:407–16. doi: 10.1007/s00406-010-0182-2

54. Nenadic I, Sauer H, Smesny S, Gaser C. Aging effects on regional brain structural changes in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2012) 38: 838-44.

55. Salgado-Pineda P, Baeza I, Pérez-Gómez M, Vendrell P, Junqué C, Bargalló N, et al. Sustained attention impairment correlates to gray matter decreases in first episode neuroleptic-naive schizophrenic patients. *Neuroimage*. (2003) 19:365–75. doi: 10.1016/s1053-811900094-6

56. Segarra N, Bernardo M, Valdes M, Caldu X, Falcón C, Rami L, et al. Cerebellar deficits in schizophrenia are associated with executive dysfunction. *Neuroreport.* (2008) 19:1513–7. doi: 10.1097/WNR.0b013e3283108bd8

57. Spalthoff R, Gaser C, Nenadic I. Altered gyrification in schizophrenia and its relation to other morphometric markers. *Schizophr Res.* (2018) 202:195–202. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.07.014

58. Suzuki M, Nohara S, Hagino H, Kurokawa K, Yotsutsuji T, Kawasaki Y, et al. Regional changes in brain gray and white matter in patients with schizophrenia demonstrated with voxel-based analysis of Mri. *Schizophr Res.* (2002) 55:41–54.

59. Venkatasubramanian G. Neuroanatomical correlates of psychopathology in antipsychotic-naive schizophrenia. *Indian J Psychiatry.* (2010) 52:28–36. doi: 10. 4103/0019-5545.58892

60. Watson D, Anderson J, Bai F, Barrett S, McGinnity T, Mulholland C, et al. A voxel based morphometry study investigating brain structural changes in first episode psychosis. *Behav Brain Res.* (2012) 227:91–9.

61. Whitford T, Farrow T, Gomes L, Brennan J, Harris A, Williams L. Grey matter deficits and symptom profile in first episode schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2005) 139:229–38. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2005.05.010

62. Wilke M, Kaufmann C, Grabner A, Putz B, Wetter T, Auer D. Gray matterchanges and correlates of disease severity in schizophrenia: a statistical parametric mapping study. *NeuroImage*. (2001) 13:814–24. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2001.0751

63. Yang Y, Li X, Cui Y, Liu K, Qu H, Lu Y, et al. Reduced gray matter volume in orbitofrontal cortex across schizophrenia, major depressive disorder, and bipolar disorder: a comparative imaging study. *Front Neurosci.* (2022) 16:919272. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2022.919272

64. Zhang X, Yao J, Lv Y, Zhao X, Li Y, Sui Y, et al. An association study on the cognitive function and the cerebral grey matter volume of patients with firstepisode schizophrenia. *Shanghai Arch Psychiatry*. (2018) 30:154–67. doi: 10.11919/ j.issn.1002-0829.217138

65. Joyal C, Pennanen C, Tiihonen E, Laakso M, Tiihonen J, Aronen H. Mri volumetry of the vermis and the cerebellar hemispheres in men with schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2004) 131:115–24. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2003.09.003

66. Laidi C, Hajek T, Spaniel F, Kolenic M, d'Albis M, Sarrazin S, et al. Cerebellar parcellation in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2019) 140:468–76. doi: 10.1111/acps.13087

67. Stoodley C, Schmahmann J. Functional topography in the human cerebellum: a meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies. *Neuroimage*. (2009) 44:489–501. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.08.039

68. Haijma S, Van Haren N, Cahn W, Koolschijn P, Hulshoff Pol H, Kahn R. Brain volumes in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis in over 18 000 subjects. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:1129–38. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs118

69. Zhu J, Wang H, Chen Y, Yan L, Han Y, Liu L, et al. The joubert syndrome gene arl13b is critical for early cerebellar development in zebrafish. *Neurosci Bull*. (2020) 36:1023–34. doi: 10.1007/s12264-020-00554-y

70. Wang M, Ye R, Barron E, Baumeister P, Mao C, Luo S, et al. Essential role of the unfolded protein response regulator grp78/bip in protection from neuronal apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ*. (2010) 17:488–98. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2009.144

71. Sillitoe R, Joyner A. Morphology, molecular codes, and circuitry produce the three-dimensional complexity of the cerebellum. *Ann Rev Cell Dev Biol.* (2007) 23:549–77. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.23.090506.123237

72. Maloku E, Covelo I, Hanbauer I, Guidotti A, Kadriu B, Hu Q, et al. Lower number of cerebellar purkinje neurons in psychosis is associated with reduced reelin expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:4407–11. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0914483107

73. Tran K, Smutzer G, Doty R, Arnold S. Reduced purkinje cell size in the cerebellar vermis of elderly patients with schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry.* (1998) 155:1288–90. doi: 10.1176/ajp.155.9.1288

74. Andersen B, Pakkenberg B. Stereological quantitation in cerebella from people with schizophrenia. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2003) 182:354–61. doi: 10.1192/bjp.182. 4.354

75. MacKenzie-Graham A, Tiwari-Woodruff S, Sharma G, Aguilar C, Vo K, Strickland L, et al. Purkinje cell loss in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Neuroimage*. (2009) 48:637–51. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009. 06.073

76. D'Mello A, Stoodley C. Cerebro-cerebellar circuits in autism spectrum disorder. *Front Neurosci.* (2015) 9:408. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00408

77. Van Overwalle F, Ma Q, Heleven E. The posterior crus II cerebellum is specialized for social mentalizing and emotional self-experiences: a meta-analysis. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci.* (2020) 15:905–28. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsaa124

78. Van Overwalle F, Manto M, Cattaneo Z, Clausi S, Ferrari C, Gabrieli J, et al. Consensus paper: cerebellum and social cognition. *Cerebellum*. (2020) 19:833–68. doi: 10.1007/s12311-020-01155-1

79. Nakatani H, Nakamura Y, Okanoya K. Respective involvement of the right cerebellar crus i and ii in syntactic and semantic processing for comprehension of language. *Cerebellum*. (2022) 2022:1451. doi: 10.1007/s12311-022-01451-y

80. Stoodley C, Valera E, Schmahmann J. An fmri study of intra-individual functional topography in the human cerebellum. *Behav Neurol.* (2010) 23:65–79. doi: 10.3233/ben-2010-0268

81. Olivito G, Lupo M, Iacobacci C, Clausi S, Romano S, Masciullo M, et al. Structural cerebellar correlates of cognitive functions in spinocerebellar ataxia type 2. *J Neurol.* (2018) 265:597–606. doi: 10.1007/s00415-018-8738-6

82. Pierce J, Thomasson M, Voruz P, Selosse G, Péron J. Explicit and implicit emotion processing in the cerebellum: a meta-analysis and systematic review. *Cerebellum.* (2022) 2022:1459. doi: 10.1007/s12311-022-01459-4

83. Guell X, Schmahmann J. Cerebellar functional anatomy: a didactic summary based on human fmri evidence. *Cerebellum.* (2020) 19:1–5. doi: 10.1007/s12311-019-01083-9

84. Kawabata K, Bagarinao E, Watanabe H, Maesawa S, Mori D, Hara K, et al. Functional connector hubs in the cerebellum. *Neuroimage*. (2022) 257:119263. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2022.119263

85. Anticevic A, Haut K, Murray J, Repovs G, Yang G, Diehl C, et al. Association of thalamic dysconnectivity and conversion to psychosis in youth and young adults at elevated clinical risk. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2015) 72:882–91. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.0566

86. Kim D, Moussa-Tooks A, Bolbecker A, Apthorp D, Newman S, O'Donnell B, et al. Cerebellar-cortical dysconnectivity in resting-state associated with sensorimotor tasks in schizophrenia. *Hum Brain Mapp*. (2020) 41:3119–32. doi: 10.1002/hbm.25002

87. Shinn A, Baker J, Lewandowski K, Öngür D, Cohen B. Aberrant cerebellar connectivity in motor and association networks in schizophrenia. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2015) 9:134. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015.00134

88. Picard H, Amado I, Mouchet-Mages S, Olie J, Krebs M. The role of the cerebellum in schizophrenia: an update of clinical, cognitive, and functional evidences. *Schizophr Bul.* (2008) 34:155–72. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm049

89. Halko M, Farzan F, Eldaief M, Schmahmann J, Pascual-Leone A. Intermittent theta-burst stimulation of the lateral cerebellum increases functional connectivity of the default network. *J Neurosci.* (2014) 34:12049–56. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci. 1776-14.2014

90. Gallardo-Ruiz R, Crespo-Facorro B, Setién-Suero E, Tordesillas-Gutierrez D. Long-term grey matter changes in first episode psychosis: a systematic review. *Psychiatry Investig.* (2019) 16:336–45. doi: 10.30773/pi.2019.02.10.1

91. Zhang W, Deng W, Yao L, Xiao Y, Li F, Liu J, et al. Brain structural abnormalities in a group of never-medicated patients with long-term schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2015) 172:995–1003. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp. 2015.14091108

92. Jiang Y, Luo C, Li X, Duan M, He H, Chen X, et al. Progressive reduction in gray matter in patients with schizophrenia assessed with mr imaging by using causal network analysis. *Radiology.* (2018) 287:633–42. doi: 10.1148/radiol.201717 1832

93. Tordesillas-Gutierrez D, Koutsouleris N, Roiz-Santiañez R, Meisenzahl E, Ayesa-Arriola R, Marco de Lucas E, et al. Grey matter volume differences in non-affective psychosis and the effects of age of onset on grey matter volumes: a voxelwise study. *Schizophr Res.* (2015) 164:74–82. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.01.032

94. Yue Y, Kong L, Wang J, Li C, Tan L, Su H, et al. Regional abnormality of grey matter in schizophrenia: effect from the illness or treatment? *PLoS One.* (2016) 11:e0147204. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0147204

95. Faber J, Kügler D, Bahrami E, Heinz L, Timmann D, Ernst T, et al. Cerebnet: a fast and reliable deep-learning pipeline for detailed cerebellum sub-segmentation. *Neuroimage*. (2022) 264:119703. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2022.119703

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sebastian Walther, University of Bern, Switzerland

REVIEWED BY Alexandra Moussa-Tooks, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, United States Fabio Ferrarelli, University of Pittsburgh, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Ann K. Shinn ⊠ akshinn@mab.ora

RECEIVED 07 May 2023 ACCEPTED 23 October 2023 PUBLISHED 13 November 2023

CITATION

Shinn AK, Hurtado-Puerto AM, Roh YS, Ho V, Hwang M, Cohen BM, Ôngũr D and Camprodon JA (2023) Cerebellar transcranial magnetic stimulation in psychotic disorders: intermittent, continuous, and sham theta-burst stimulation on time perception and symptom severity. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1218321.

doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1218321

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Shinn, Hurtado-Puerto, Roh, Ho, Hwang, Cohen, Öngür and Camprodon. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Cerebellar transcranial magnetic stimulation in psychotic disorders: intermittent, continuous, and sham theta-burst stimulation on time perception and symptom severity

Ann K. Shinn^{1,2*}, Aura M. Hurtado-Puerto³, Youkyung S. Roh¹, Victoria Ho³, Melissa Hwang¹, Bruce M. Cohen^{2,4}, Dost Öngür^{1,2} and Joan A. Camprodon^{2,3}

¹Psychotic Disorders Division, McLean Hospital, Belmont, MA, United States, ²Department of Psychiatry, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ³Laboratory for Neuropsychiatry and Neuromodulation, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, United States, ⁴Program for Neuropsychiatric Research, McLean Hospital, Belmont, MA, United States

Background: The cerebellum contributes to the precise timing of non-motor and motor functions, and cerebellum abnormalities have been implicated in psychosis pathophysiology. In this study, we explored the effects of cerebellar theta burst stimulation (TBS), an efficient transcranial magnetic stimulation protocol, on temporal discrimination and self-reported mood and psychotic symptoms.

Methods: We conducted a case-crossover study in which patients with psychosis (schizophrenias, schizoaffective disorders, or bipolar disorders with psychotic features) were assigned to three sessions of TBS to the cerebellar vermis: one session each of intermittent (iTBS), continuous (cTBS), and sham TBS. Of 28 enrolled patients, 26 underwent at least one TBS session, and 20 completed all three. Before and immediately following TBS, participants rated their mood and psychotic symptoms and performed a time interval discrimination task (IDT). We hypothesized that cerebellar iTBS and cTBS would modulate these measures in opposing directions, with iTBS being adaptive and cTBS maladaptive.

Results: Reaction time (RT) in the IDT decreased significantly after iTBS vs. Sham (LS-mean difference = -73.3, p = 0.0001, Cohen's d = 1.62), after iTBS vs. cTBS (LS-mean difference = -137.6, p < 0.0001, d = 2.03), and after Sham vs. cTBS (LS-mean difference = -64.4, p < 0.0001, d = 1.33). We found no effect on IDT accuracy. We did not observe any effects on symptom severity after correcting for multiple comparisons.

Conclusion: We observed a frequency-dependent dissociation between the effects of iTBS vs. cTBS to the cerebellar midline on the reaction time of interval discrimination in patients with psychosis. iTBS showed improved (adaptive) while cTBS led to worsening (maladaptive) speed of response. These results demonstrate behavioral target engagement in a cognitive dimension of relevance to patients with psychosis and generate testable hypotheses about the potential therapeutic role of cerebellar iTBS in this clinical population.

Clinical Trial Registration: clinicaltrials.gov, identifier NCT02642029.

KEYWORDS

cerebellum, neuromodulation, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, interval discrimination task

1. Introduction

Psychotic disorders such as schizophrenias (SZ), schizoaffective disorders (SZA), and psychotic bipolar disorders (BD) are severe illnesses that involve disturbances in multiple domains (e.g., thought, behavior, language, cognition, perception, and mood). Despite significant efforts to identify what causes these conditions, a unified understanding of the pathophysiology underlying SZ and psychotic disorders remains elusive. The past few decades have seen increasing interest in the potential role of the cerebellum in disorders of cognition, behavior, and affect (1-4), and a growing literature provides evidence of cerebellar abnormalities in both SZ and BD supporting its role in the pathophysiology of psychosis (5-9). Though the cerebellum was traditionally thought to be involved solely in the homeostatic control of motor activities, it is now well established that the cerebellum is reciprocally connected to multimodal association areas (10-19) in addition to motor cortex, and that it serves a domaingeneral role in processing and coordinating diverse inputs (20–25).

The notion that the cerebellum applies a universal computation to diverse inputs offers an appealing and potentially unifying framework by which to explain the myriad symptoms in psychotic disorders. One of the proposed mechanisms is that the cerebellum performs a multidomain temporal coordination across tasks and brain functions (26-29). Keele and Ivry conceptualized the cerebellum as an "internal clock" that performs temporal computations in both the motor and non-motor domains, hypothesizing that the cerebellum's highly regular cellular organization allows it to produce and coordinate precise temporal delays (26). Indeed, a vast literature corroborates the importance of the cerebellum in timing operations (30). While the cerebellum is not the sole brain area involved in temporal processing (31), it possesses intrinsic timing mechanisms that are not dependent on any network-generated time-varying input (32-36), and is particularly critical for timing functions requiring sub-second precision (37-39).

Precise timing is critical for synchronizing and coordinating diverse tasks. Cerebellar timing functions might play a role as a cognitive and "emotional pacemaker" (40), which, if disrupted, may result in incoordination, or "dysmetria," of cognitive, behavioral, affective, and perceptual processes. Such dysmetria, in turn, may result in symptoms of psychosis (1-4). Consistent with this idea, impairments in time perception have been observed in both SZ and BD. Experimental methods commonly used to investigate time perception (i.e., processes related to the explicit judgment of the duration of events or the production of time intervals) (41) include verbal estimation of intervals (in which participants are presented with a time interval and instructed to estimate the interval duration in seconds or minutes), the repetitive finger tapping task (in which participants tap in time with computer-generated tones, then try to tap at the same pace after the tones are discontinued), the interval discrimination task (in which participants compare the duration of an experimental interval with a standard duration), and the temporal bisection task (in which participants judge whether a stimulus is most similar to a long or short anchor interval) (41, 42). Compared to healthy individuals, people with SZ are less accurate in estimating time durations across a wide range of timing tasks and independent of the duration of intervals that have been tested, suggesting that people with SZ have a primary timing deficit [see meta-analysis (42)]. Studies also indicate that time perception in SZ compared to healthy individuals is more variable [see meta-analysis (41)]. Interestingly, a functional neuroimaging study showed that timing deficits in schizophrenia were associated with alterations in the cerebellum, basal ganglia, supplementary motor area (SMA), and insula, among other brain areas (43). Critically, in this study, time processing deficits were associated with hyperactivation in the cerebellar hemispheres but hypoactivation in the cerebellar vermis (43).

Though the literature on timing abnormalities in BD is more sparse, BD patients are reported to have increased timing variability, as measured by the finger tapping task (44) and the temporal bisection task (45, 46). Notably, one of the latter studies investigated time perception in both SZ and BD and found that the bisection point did not differ across the patient groups, suggesting that both SZ spectrum disorders and BD are associated with disruptions in internal timing mechanisms.

While a growing body of research has contributed to the characterization of timing deficits in psychotic disorders, it remains unclear if such deficits in time perception can be improved. Parker et al. provided evidence, in rodents, of a relationship between timing and fronto-cerebellar circuitry by directly manipulating activity at the cerebellum (47). The authors showed that pharmacological inactivation of either lateral cerebellar nuclei (LCN) or medial frontal cortex (MFC) led to impaired performance by rodents on an interval timing task, and that delta-frequency optogenetic stimulation of the LCN in MFC-inactivated rodents rescued both behavioral timing deficits and MFC activity. Using the human version of the timing task, this group also found impaired interval timing and attenuated MFC delta activity in SZ relative to healthy participants (47). Though the patient data provide parallels with the rodent model and are highly suggestive, the human study was observational, involving no experimental interventions, and hence was limited in its capacity to infer causality.

Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) is a noninvasive method of neuromodulation in which magnetic fields applied over the scalp induce electrical currents to excite or inhibit specific regions of the underlying neural tissue and transynaptically modulate the connectivity of those regions with distal nodes within a given functional network (48). The ability of TMS to up-or down-regulate brain regions and networks has been leveraged to study the functional significance of brain regions and circuits, relying on its interventional nature to establish *causal* relationships between brain physiology and behavior (49). Theta burst stimulation (TBS), a TMS protocol that in its most common variation administers bursts of three 50 Hz pulses (in the gamma range) every 200 ms (i.e., 5 Hz, in the theta range),

10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1218321

induces longer lasting neuroplastic effects despite the much shorter stimulation times compared with traditional repetitive TMS (e.g., in the 1-20 Hz range) (50, 51). In the primary motor cortex, where the effects of TBS have been most investigated, the two most common TBS protocols- continuous TBS (cTBS), whereby TBS is given continuously, and intermittent TBS (iTBS), in which a 2s train of TBS is repeated every 10s with an inter-train interval pause of 8s- have opposing effects on cortical excitability (51): cTBS produces a predominantly long-term depression (LTD)-like inhibitory effect that reduces the amplitude of motor evoked potentials (MEP), while iTBS has an overall long-term potentiation (LTP)-like facilitatory effect, enhancing MEP amplitudes (50, 51) (we do not describe these effects fully as LTD and LTP as these are synaptic physiology phenomena and TBS engages populations of neurons at a larger scale than individual synapses). It is unclear if the TBS parameters that alter cortical excitability in the motor cortex produce the same effects in the cerebellum, which has a distinctive architecture consisting of cell types (e.g., granule cells and Purkinje cells) that are unique to the cerebellum and in a histological configuration quite different from the 6-layer organization of the primary motor cortex. Nevertheless, TBS has been safely administered to the cerebellum in >60 studies to date, ranging from those in patients with neuropsychiatric conditions to investigations of either motor or non-motor functions in healthy individuals [see review (52)].

Previous cerebellar TMS studies in SZ have uncovered diverse effects of cerebellar stimulation on cognition and symptoms, especially negative symptoms (53–57) [though also see (58, 59) for negative studies]. The study by Brady et al., which found that cerebellar TMS (iTBS) not only improved negative symptoms but also restored associated dorsolateral prefrontal-cerebellar resting state circuit abnormalities (56), additionally provides insights into the neural circuitry underlying negative symptoms. Similarly, Tikka et al.'s finding that reductions in resting state gamma power in left frontal and left temporal regions accompanied reductions in negative and depressive symptoms after cerebellar 5–7 Hz TMS (54) provides clues about potential mechanisms by which cerebellar stimulation may result in symptom improvement.

Notably, the participants in the studies published to date received only putatively excitatory TMS. Investigating both excitatory and inhibitory TMS has the potential to provide additional causal mechanistic insights and offers a non-invasive study design in humans that parallels the experimental interventions to the cerebellum performed by Parker et al. in rodents combining pharmacological inactivation and optogenetics (47). Moreover, the previous studies of cerebellar TMS in SZ did not explore disturbances in cerebellar timing functions as a possible mechanism by which cerebellar abnormalities may give rise to the symptoms of psychosis. Studies in healthy humans have examined the effects of TMS applied to the cerebellum on timing and time perception (37-39, 60-62). In addition, Singh et al. recently examined the effect of cerebellar transcranial pulsed current stimulation (tPCS), a special type of transcranial direct current stimulation, on time perception in patients with SZ (63). To our knowledge, no studies to date have investigated timing in SZ or other psychiatric disorders using cerebellar TMS.

In this study, we administered iTBS, cTBS, and sham TBS in a double-blind randomized cross-over design in patients with psychosis to explore the role of the cerebellum in psychotic disorders. We measured the effects of the three TBS conditions on time perception (specifically, time interval discrimination) and selfreported clinical symptom severity. We predicted that iTBS, but not sham, would result in acute improvement on a time interval discrimination task and reductions in mood and psychotic symptoms; conversely, we expected that cTBS might result in acute transient worsening in the interval discrimination task and worsening of symptoms.

2. Methods

2.1. Overview of study design

We conducted a case crossover study in which patients with psychosis (SZ, SZA, or BD) each underwent three sessions of theta burst stimulation (TBS) to the cerebellar vermis in a randomized order: one session of sham TBS, one session of continuous TBS (cTBS), and one session of intermittent TBS (iTBS). See technical details for placebo TMS and blinding below. Participants completed self-ratings of mood and psychosis symptoms and performed the interval discrimination before and after each TMS session. Though the effects of a single session of rTMS are believed to be acute and reversible, with effects usually lasting less than an hour, we separated the sessions by at least 36 h to avoid potential residual carry-over TMS effects from the previous study visit.

2.2. Participants

The study was approved by the Mass General Brigham (MGB) institutional review board, which oversees human subjects research at both Massachusetts General Hospital (MGH) and McLean Hospital. All participants provided written informed consent. We recruited male and female patients who had previously participated in research within the McLean Psychotic Disorders Division and had given permission to be contacted about future studies. To be eligible, patients had to be 18–50 years in age, meet criteria for SZ, SZA, or BD using the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV (SCID) during prior participation in research, and be on a stable psychiatric medication regimen for at least 1 month prior to and during study participation. In addition, for neuronavigation, we recruited only patients who already had a structural brain MRI on file from previous participation in research.

Participants were excluded if they had any change in psychiatric medications within a month prior to and during study participation; had been diagnosed with intellectual disability; had been deemed to have legal or mental incompetency; met criteria for a DSM-IV-TR substance abuse or dependence within the prior 3 months; had a significant medical or neurological illness; had a prior neurosurgical procedure; had a history of seizures; were treated with electroconvulsive therapy or clinical TMS within the prior 3 months; previously participated in a cerebellar TMS study; had an implanted cardiac pacemaker; had conductive, ferromagnetic or other magnetic-sensitive metals implanted in the head or neck or that were non-removable and within 30 cm of the treatment coil (e.g., aneurysm clips or coils, carotid or cerebral stents, metallic devices implanted in the head, facial tattoos or permanent makeup using metallic ink, etc.); or were pregnant.

At the first study visit, prior to the first TMS administration, we characterized patients' baseline clinical characteristics by administering the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS), Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS), Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS), Psychotic Symptom Rating Scale (PSYRATS), and North American Adult Reading Test (NAART). We also collected demographic (age, sex, race/ethnicity, education level) and medication information. We report antipsychotic medication dosages in chlorpromazine (CPZ) equivalent doses.

2.3. Transcranial magnetic stimulation parameters and procedures

All TMS procedures took place at the MGH Laboratory for Neuropsychiatry and Neurostimulation in Boston, MA. Stimulation was delivered using a MagVenture® MagPro X100 stimulator and the Cool DB-80 Active/Placebo figure-of-eight bent coil (MagVenture, Denmark). This coil has a 120° angle designed to stimulate deeper structures. We administered TBS at 100% of active motor threshold (AMT) over the anterior tibialis, a lower extremity muscle which has its primary motor cortical representation deeper in the midline (interhemispheric fissure), more representative of the depth of our cerebellar target than the superficial dorsal representation of the hand. This strategy has been used safely and effectively in previous cerebellar TBS studies [see Hurtado et al. (52) for a detailed discussion]. The AMT was defined as the minimum intensity to elicit a motor-evoked potential greater than 200 µV peak-to-peak, in at least 50% of the trials (3 out of 6) while sustaining a voluntary muscle contraction of approximately 25% of the maximum. We measured the AMT at the first study visit only, but in cases when more than two weeks had passed from the initial AMT measure, we measured it again. Continuous TBS consisted of 3 biphasic pulses delivered at 50 Hz, with these bursts repeated every 200 ms (5 Hz) for 40 s, resulting in a total of 600 pulses per session. Intermittent TBS also applied 600 pulses but over 190 s with cycles of 2 s of stimulation followed by an 8s pause. Sham sessions used cTBS for half of the patients and iTBS for the other half in a randomized order.

The dual active-placebo Cool DB-80 coil is designed in an X-shape, with 2 bent figure-of-eight coils in opposing configurations. Both sides are visually identical, but the placebo side is magnetically shielded. This design allows for transmitting the vibration of the magnetic pulses only (i.e., auditory and sensory stimulation), without electromagnetic neuromodulation. In addition, a pair of electrodes for skin stimulation was also placed immediately below the hairline under the coil to emulate the tactile sensation generated by the electromagnetic fields over the soft tissue, muscle, and peripheral nerve endings. Electrodes were placed in all sessions but were only active in sham sessions. Using research blinding software embedded in the stimulator, the TMS technician entered a multinumeric code that determined if the session was active or sham, and the stimulator then required technicians to use the corresponding side of the coil while keeping them blinded. Hence, placebo TMS was procedurally identical to the active conditions but used the shielded side of the coil designed to only induce the nonspecific sensory effects of TMS (auditory and somatosensory activation) without the neuromodulatory magnetic fields. At the end of each of the three study visits, we assessed the efficacy of the blind by asking participants to indicate what TMS condition—sham or active—they thought they received that day.

TBS was administered with the participant sitting upright in a comfortable TMS chair. The TMS coil placed over the occiput with the handle pointing upward. We used stereotactic neuronavigation with infrared optical tracking (Localite, Germany) to identify the cerebellar vermis as the TBS target and to monitor the position of the coil throughout the stimulation session. Using a T1-weighted structural MRI for each participant, we identified the most posterior portion of the cerebellar vermis (midline) and the coil position for the shortest scalp to vermis distance. We targeted the vermis of the cerebellum because postmortem (64-66) and neuroimaging studies (67-74) have reported abnormalities in the cerebellar vermis of patients with SZ. While lateral hemispheric regions of the cerebellum such as Crus I and II-which have functional connections with higher order association areas such as the default, frontoparietal/control, and salience/ventral attention networks (75-77)- are also implicated in psychosis pathophysiology [e.g., (78, 79)], we targeted the vermis in the medial cerebellum because studies have shown that rTMS applied to the medial cerebellum can modulate time perception in healthy individuals (38, 60, 62). Importantly, in people with SZ, there is evidence of hypoactivity in the cerebellar vermis during performance of a timing task, with vermal activation negatively associated with time processing deficits (43). While this same study found timing deficits to also be associated with altered brain activity in Crus I and II, the findings in Crus I and II were in the opposite direction (i.e., Crus I/II hyperactivations), and activity in these lateral cerebellar regions was not correlated with the severity of timing deficits (43). We targeted the posterior vermis (lobules VI-X), which is believed to subserve cognitive and affective functions (vs. the anterior vermis, comprised of lobules I-V, which is associated with somatomotor functions). Also from a practical standpoint, the posterior vermis (especially lobules VII-VIII) is closer to the skull surface, making it better positioned to receive direct TMS stimulation. Using the Localite TMS neuronavigation system, we co-registered the participant's head to his or her own MRI, and placed the TMS coil over the scalp position that allows direct stimulation of the vermal lobules VII-VIII in the mid-sagittal plane (Figure 1). We assessed the accuracy of the coil placement before and during stimulation with a movement tolerance of 5 mm.

2.4. Interval discrimination task

The interval discrimination task (IDT) (80) requires participants to perform time interval comparisons. In each trial, a pair of two tones separated by 1,200 ms (standard interval) is followed by a 1,000 ms delay (interstimulus interval), after which a second comparison pair of tones (experimental interval) is presented. The duration of the experimental interval (time interval separating the second pair of tones) is either *equal* to (1,200 ms, E-condition), 120 ms *longer* than (1,320 ms, L-condition), or 120 ms *shorter* than (1,080 ms, S-condition) the standard interval. The tones for all conditions were 700 Hz in frequency and 50 ms in duration, presented binaurally via headphones. Studies of time interval discrimination have utilized a variety of different structural parameters, and have generated mixed results (81). In selecting the task parameters for the current study, we adopted the methods described by Papageorgiou et al. (80) so as to enable



FIGURE 1

Transcranial magnetic stimulation targets. Schematic representation of coil positioning and target location in this study. Posterior, superior, and lateral views (A). Coronal, transversal, and mid-sagittal MRI slices of a participant depicting the target on the vermis in red and the motor threshold target, the representation of the tibialis anterior, in blue (B).

comparison of our findings with previous studies of interval discrimination in SZ. Providing support for the IDT version used in this study, temporal sensitivity has been shown to be higher for auditory than visual intervals (81); unaffected by the presentation of filled (stimulus presented continuously) vs. empty intervals (only the onset and offset are marked, with a silent period in between) as used in the current task (81); and similar across base durations ranging from 200 ms to 1,400 ms (82). Furthermore, research has shown that people with SZ have temporal processing deficits across a range of interstimulus intervals (300 ms to 3,000 ms) (83), which includes the interstimulus interval of 1,000 ms used in our study. Additionally, the inclusion of variable foreperiods (time from completion of the participant's response on the preceding trial to the onset of the first stimulus presentation on the following trial) can influence both interval discrimination and reaction time by varying the level of preparation that a participant has to respond to the stimulus in the subsequent trial (84). However, the foreperiod length was held constant in our task.

Participants performed the task on a MacBook Pro laptop computer with the task presented using Superlab v5.0 (Cedrus Corporation, San Pedro, CA). Participants were visually cued with a fixation cross at the start of each trial. The words, "Pair 1" were shown on the computer screen while participants were presented with the first pair of tones, and "Pair 2" shown while participants were presented with the second pair of tones. After each trial, participants were instructed to press "e," "l," or "s" on the computer keyboard to indicate if the interval between the second pair of tones was equal, longer, or shorter, respectively, than the interval between the first pair. There were an equal number of equal, longer, and shorter trials, and trials were presented in pseudorandom order. The task was designed so that participants responded to all trials; the program did not advance to the subsequent trial without a keyboard response. Participants completed 15 trials during each pre-or post-TMS session for a total of up to 90 trials across the three study visits. Prior to each IDT session, participants performed a practice run consisting of six trials. The primary outcomes for this task were overall accuracy (percent of correct responses) and reaction time (RT). Test-retest reliability for IDT accuracy, as measured by the intra-class correlation (ICC) of accuracy scores across the three pre-TMS sessions, was fair (ICC 0.51, 95% CI 0.30-0.72). The ICC for mean RT was moderately high (ICC 0.77, 95% CI 0.65-0.85). These test-retest results suggest that our IDT data

have fair to good reliability across study visits (separated by 36 or more hours).

2.5. Self-rated mood and psychotic symptoms

At each of the three study visits, we assessed both clinical and behavioral measures before and immediately following TMS administration. For clinical symptoms, we instructed participants to indicate on a 0-to-100 point visual analog scale (VAS) their current level of depressed mood, anxiety, elevated mood, auditory hallucinations (AH), visual hallucinations (VH), paranoid ideation (PI), ideas/delusions of reference (IOR), and delusions of control (Supplementary Table S1). VAS's allow participants to easily and rapidly rate the intensity of subjective measures. Participants indicated their ratings for the above mood and psychotic symptoms in a computerized survey custom-designed using Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap) (85) hosted at MGB. The slider was originally positioned in the middle of the VAS at a score of 50 ("moderately"). Participants were instructed to move the position of the slider to set a response. A rating of 0 indicates the absence of a symptom (e.g., "not at all"), while 100 indicates high symptom severity (e.g., "the most depressed I have ever felt"). We included mood symptoms because they are core features of BD and SZA, and are also observed in SZ. We included the psychotic symptoms that we did because of their relative accessibility by patient self-report (vs. thought disorder or bizarre behavior) and because we considered these to be more amenable to acute modulation by a single TMS session (vs. negative symptoms, which are relatively persistent and trait-like). For these pre-and post-TMS symptom measurements, we opted to use brief patient self-ratings rather than more widely used and more comprehensive clinician-administered standardized assessment tools (e.g., PANSS, YMRS, MADRS, which we used for baseline clinical characterization) because of the limited window of time we had to assess the effects of TMS and the lack of psychometric validity of these clinical tools to capture rapid changes over minutes. The effects of a single session of TBS are acute and reversible, usually receding in less than an hour, and this narrow window of time limited the use of standardized measures, which take time to administer. To aid in the interpretation of VAS findings, we explored each item's convergent validity (by calculating Spearman correlations between baseline VAS scores from the first study visit and data from validated symptom measures, collected from the same study visit) and test-retest reliability (by calculating the intra-class correlation of each VAS item across the three pre-TMS sessions). The VAS items for depressed mood, anxiety, AH, VH, and PI showed acceptable validity (Supplementary Table <mark>S</mark>2) and test-retest reliability (Supplementary Table S3). As there was low evidence for convergent validity, test-retest reliability, or both for elated mood, IOR, and delusions of control, we do not report the results for these three VAS items.

2.6. Statistical analyses

The reaction time of single trials was introduced into a generalized linear model with mixed effects (GLMM) with a

gamma distribution, modeled using the glmer function of the lme4 package in R software (v1.0.136). There were initially 1,800 trials in the completers-only data (20 participants, 90 trials each), and 2,055 trials in the dataset with all 26 participants. Three trials (from 2 participants) with a reaction time of zero, reflecting that there was zero time for stimulus encoding or response execution, were considered invalid and excluded from analysis. We also excluded outlier data, i.e., reaction times greater than 3 standard deviations above the mean, so that very slow reaction times at the right tail of the gamma distribution would not severely distort the means. There were 33 such outliers in the completers-only data (where the outlier threshold was RT > 5171.99 ms) and 39 outliers in the all-participant data (threshold RT > 5503.93 ms), resulting in 1,764 and 2,013 analyzed trials, respectively. In both the completers-only and all-participant datasets, chi-square tests showed that there were no significant differences in the proportion of outliers (excluded trials) before and after TMS, by condition (iTBS vs. cTBS vs. sham), or by session (pre-iTBS, post-iTBS, pre-cTBS, post-cTBS, pre-sham, post-sham) (all *p*-values >0.05).

We have previously shown that the gamma distribution is particularly well suited to modeling reaction times (86, 87). The GLMM distributional assumptions were validated using the fitdist and gofstat functions in R, which compute the goodness-of-fit statistics for parametric distributions. GLMMs are powerful, flexible modeling strategies for estimating the generalizability of experimental findings. The ability to account for correlated observations (longitudinal measures collected for each subject are non-independent) while also explicitly accounting for interindividual variation in primary effects of interest makes these modeling approaches well-suited for our repeated-measures crossover design. In particular, considering random effects terms accounts for the possibility that, independent of experimental manipulation, each participant may have a different baseline performance or learning rate. This approach ensures that our observed results are not solely attributed to random variations in the tested cohort, particularly given the relatively small sample size. In addition to comparing the least square (LS) means for reaction times, we assessed reaction time variability by analyzing the coefficient of variation (CV), computed by dividing the standard deviation of the reaction times by the mean reaction time. We calculated the CV of each of the six test sessions for each participant and used mixed effects linear regression models with restricted maximum likelihood (REML) estimation to model the CV data.

Task accuracy (percentage of correct responses) was modeled using a generalized logistic regression with mixed effects and a binomial distribution. Subject ID was included as a random effect to account for baseline differences between subjects, while time points (post- and pre-simulation), stimulation type (sham TBS, iTBS, cTBS), and the interactions between them were included as fixed effects. *Post hoc* tests were performed using the "Ismeans" function, which corrects for multiple comparisons using Bonferroni correction and compares the means of the least squares for each fit. Coefficients were considered significant when p < 0.05 (two-tailed). Effect sizes were calculated for statistically significant IDT results using Cohen's *d* for paired samples.

To assess whether IDT accuracy for each participant was better than chance levels, we conducted binomial tests to identify good IDT performers [similar to previously described methods (80)], testing for each participant the null hypothesis that their performance accuracy was no better than 0.33 (accounting for three possible IDT responses, i.e., shorter, longer, and equal time intervals). Binomial tests were conducted for only pre-TBS trials, as the goal was to assess if IDT performance at baseline, excluding potential TBS effects, was better than chance.

To analyze the visual analog scale (VAS) mood and psychotic symptom scores, we calculated the change in pre-and post-TMS VAS scores ($\Delta_{post-pre}$). As the VAS scores did not follow a normal distribution, we performed Friedman's non-parametric repeated measures ANOVA tests for each of the eight VAS measures to test the null hypothesis that at least one of the conditions (iTBS, cTBS, sham) is different. Given the exploratory nature of this analysis, we set the significance threshold at *p* < 0.05, two-sided, without correcting for multiple comparisons. Statistically significant results from Friedman's tests were followed by post-hoc pairwise testing using the Wilcoxon signed rank test.

Finally, we evaluated the effectiveness of participant blinding to TBS condition. The main concern here is that sham stimulation may not produce the same experience as active TBS. Therefore, at the end of each of the three study visits, participants completed a simple survey to indicate what condition (active vs. sham) they thought they received that day. We conducted chi-square tests to determine if there were any differences by actual TBS condition or by session number (first, second, or third study visit).

3. Results

3.1. Participant characteristics

We enrolled 28 patients with psychotic disorders (6 SZ, 12 SZA, 10 BD). Twenty-six (5 SZ, 12 SZA, 9 BD) underwent at least one session of TMS. Twenty patients completed all three TMS sessions (4 SZ, 9 SZA, 7 BD). Of the eight participants who did not complete the study, three were excluded (1 SZ, 1 SZA, 1 BD) and another five withdrew (1 SZ, 2 SZA, 2 BD) prior to study completion. See flow diagram (Figure 2) for the reasons for exclusions and withdrawals. We report findings from the 20 patients who completed all three TMS sessions (per protocol analysis). We aimed to have 20 completers and focus on completer analysis to avoid biases driven by unbalanced data given the relatively small sample size. Nevertheless, results from all 26 participants who completed at least one study visit (intention-to-treat analysis, though this is a mechanistic and not a therapeutic study) are presented in the Supplementary materials.

See Table 1 for demographic and clinical characteristics of our sample. The twenty completers (4 SZ, 9 SZA, 7 BD) were not



FIGURE 2

Participant flow diagram. Of 28 participants who enrolled in the study, 26 underwent at least one session of transcranial magnetic stimulation (iTBS, cTBS, or sham) and 20 completed all three sessions.

TABLE 1 Clinical and demographic characteristics.

	All patients	Completers	Non-completers ^a	Test statistic ^b	<i>p</i> -value ^t
Sample size	N=28	<i>n</i> = 20	<i>n</i> = 8	_	_
Diagnoses, No. (%)				Fisher's exact	<i>p</i> = 1.000
Schizophrenia (SZ)	6 (21.4%)	4 (20.0%)	2 (25.0%) ^a	-	_
Schizoaffective disorder (SZA)	12 (42.9%)	9 (45.0%)	3 (37.5%)	-	_
Psychotic bipolar disorder (BD)	10 (35.7%)	7 (35.0%)	3 (37.5%) ^a	-	-
Age, mean±SD (range), y	31.8±7.6 (19-48)	31.9±7.8 (19-48)	31.6±7.4 (23-42)	t = -0.0698	p = 0.945
Female, No. (%)	13 (46.4%)	10 (50%)	3 (37.5%)	Fisher's exact	<i>p</i> = 0.686
Race/Ethnicity				Fisher's exact	<i>p</i> = 0.643
White, Non-Hispanic	21 (75.0%)	15 (75.0%)	6 (75.0%)	-	_
White, Hispanic/Latino	1 (3.6%)	1 (5.0%)	0 (0.0%)	-	_
Black/African-American	2 (7.1%)	2 (10.0%)	0 (0.0%)	-	_
Asian	3 (10.7%)	1 (5.0%)	2 (25.0%)	_	_
Mixed	1 (3.6%)	1 (5.0%)	0 (0.0%)	_	_
Completed education, No. (%)				Fisher's exact	p = 0.154
High school/GED	6 (21.4%)	6 (30.0%)	0 (0.0%)	_	_
Part-college or 2 years college	10 (35.7%)	8 (40.0%)	2 (25.0%)	_	_
College/bachelor's degree	8 (28.6%)	4 (20.0%)	4 (50.0%)	_	_
Graduate/professional school	4 (14.3%)	2 (10.0%)	2 (25.0%)	_	_
Estimated IQ ^c , mean ± SD	1				
Verbal IQ	118.3 ± 10.4	116.5±10.8	122.9±8.2	<i>t</i> = 1.3995	p = 0.175
Performance IQ	114.5±4.9	113.6±5.1	116.6±3.9	<i>t</i> = 1.4009	p = 0.175
Full scale IQ	118.7±9.1	117.1±9.5	122.7±7.2	<i>t</i> = 1.3998	p = 0.175
PANSS total score, mean ± SD	41.0±27.3	45.5±23.6	29.9 ± 34.1	t = -1.3939	p = 0.175
Positive	9.8±7.3	11.1±6.9	6.5±7.7	t = -1.5341	p = 0.137
Negative	10.4±7.3	11.4±6.5	8.0±9.0	t = -1.1145	p = 0.275
General psychopathology	20.9±13.5	23.1±11.2	15.4±17.6	t = -1.3834	<i>p</i> = 0.178
PSYRATS-AH, mean±SD	4.1±9.4	4.3±9.3	3.6 ± 10.3	t = -0.1690	p = 0.867
YMRS, mean ± SD	7.3±9.3	7.6±9.8	6.6±8.8	t = -0.2326	p = 0.818
MADRS, mean ± SD	10.9 ± 11.2	12.8±11.2	6.3 ± 10.4	t = -1.4136	p = 0.169
CPZ equivalent dose, mean \pm SD (range), mg/day	242.4±311.6 (0-1,200)	251.7±317.3 (0-1,200)	219.3±316.9 (0-900)	t = -0.2437	p = 0.809
Taking antipsychotic drug	17 (60.7%)	12 (60.0%)	5 (62.5%)		-
Taking mood stabilizer	14 (50.0%)	10 (50.0%)	4 (50.0%)		
Taking either antipsychotic or mood stabilizer	23 (82.1%)	17 (85.0%)	6 (75.0%)		
Not taking any psychotropic drug	4 (14.3%)	3 (15.0%)	1 (12.5%)		

^aTwo non-completers either withdrew (1 BD) or were excluded (1 SZ) prior to TBS randomization and do not contribute any results data.

^bTest statistics and *p*-values are from a comparison of completers vs. non-completers, using a significance threshold of *p* < 0.05. All *t*-tests are 2-sided.

Estimated intelligence quotient (IQ) estimated using the North American Adult Reading Test (NAART); NAART data are missing from 3 patients (2 completers, 1 non-completer).

GED, general educational development test; IQ, intelligence quotient; PANSS, positive and negative syndrome scale; PSYRATS-AH, psychotic symptom rating scale, auditory hallucinations subscale; YMRS, Young mania rating scale; MADRS, montgomery-asberg depression rating scale; CPZ, chlorpromazine.

significantly different from the eight non-completers (2 SZ, 2 SZA, 3 BD) with respect to age, sex, race/ethnicity, educational level, and estimated IQ. Non-completers seemed to have less severe psychopathology, as evidenced by numerically lower PANSS, YMRS, and MADRS scores; however, the differences between completers and non-completers on these clinical measures were not statistically significant. Similarly, there was no significant difference in the chlorpromazine equivalent antipsychotic doses, and the percentages of patients on

antipsychotic and mood stabilizing medications were comparable between the two groups.

Our protocol involved separating TMS visits by a minimum of 36 h to avoid any potential residual effects of TMS from the previous study visit. Including all participants, the mean number of days between the first and second TMS sessions and between the second and third TMS sessions was 6.6 ± 4.6 (range 3–19) and 5.2 ± 4.9 (range 3–22), respectively. Participants who completed all three study visits did so within a one-month time frame (mean 11.6 ± 6.6 , range 4–28 days).

TABLE 2 Least square (LS) means for pre-and post-TBS conditions (n = 20 Completers).

TBS condition	Time	LS-mean	Standard error
iTBS	Pre	1,328 ms	34.6
	Post	1,186 ms	25.6
cTBS	Pre	1,262 ms	31.1
	Post	1,258 ms	19.1
Sham	Pre	1,367 ms	28.2
	Post	1,299 ms	16.3



3.2. Changes in interval discrimination task performance before and after TMS

Table 2 shows the LS-means for each pre-and post-TBS test session. The LS-means are in the range of the reaction times reported in an interval discrimination study conducted in a sample of healthy individuals (88). Analysis of the reaction times showed a significant decrease after iTBS vs. Sham (LS-mean difference = -73.3, p < 0.0001), after iTBS vs. cTBS (LS-mean difference = -137.6, p < 0.0001), and after Sham vs. cTBS (LS-mean difference = -64.4, p < 0.0001) (Figure 3). The corresponding effect sizes, as measured by Cohen's *d* for paired samples, were d = 1.62 (iTBS vs. sham), d = 2.03 (iTBS vs. cTBS), and d = 1.33 (sham vs. cTBS), indicating large effects. The LS-mean of pre-cTBS reaction times is numerically lower than the LS-means of pre-iTBS and

pre-sham reaction times; however, the Kruskal-Wallis test indicated that the reaction times from the three pre-TBS sessions were not statistically significantly different (p = 0.794). Analysis of the reaction time coefficient of variation showed no significant effect of TBS condition, pre- vs. post-TBS session, or their interaction on reaction time variability.

We did not observe any significant effects of TBS condition on IDT performance accuracy (Supplementary Tables S4, S5). Binomial tests indicated that 12 of the 20 completers (60%) were good IDT performers, i.e., performing the task better than chance; this group consisted of 2 SZ (50% of SZ), 6 SZA (67% of SZA), and 4 BD (57% of BD) patients. Among all 26 participants, 14 participants including 2 with SZ (40% of 5 SZ with data), 7 with SZA (58% of 12 SZA), and 5 with BD (56% of 9 BD with data) performed the IDT with better-than-chance accuracy. Spaghetti plots, with each participant color-coded by

diagnosis, showing pre-and post-TBS within-subject changes in IDT reaction time and accuracy are shown in Supplementary Figures S1, S2, respectively.

3.3. Changes in symptom self-ratings before and after TMS

Friedman's nonparametric repeated measures ANOVA revealed that the TMS conditions differed significantly in their effects on self-ratings of paranoid ideation (Q=6.745, p=0.034) (Supplementary Table S6). Note that these effects were not corrected for multiple comparisons, given the exploratory nature of this analysis as stated in the methods section. Post-hoc comparisons showed a significant pairwise difference between cTBS and sham (z=2.227, p=0.026) so that cTBS improved PI (Supplementary Figure S3). This result did not survive correction for multiple comparisons. The three TMS conditions did not significantly differ in changing VAS scores for all other symptom dimensions, even without correction for multiple comparisons, including depressed mood, anxiety, AH, or VH (though see Supplementary Table S10 and Supplementary Figure S8 for the results from the all-participants analysis, showing uncorrected *p*-values < 0.05 for AH as well as PI). Spaghetti plots of within-subject changes in symptom self-ratings pre-and post-TBS, color-coded by diagnosis, are shown in Supplementary Figure S4.

3.4. Assessment of participant blinding

Participants could not easily distinguish sham from active TMS. Across the three visits, there was no significant association between the actual condition and the condition participants thought they received (χ^2 =3.96, p=0.138 for completers; χ^2 =4.65, p=0.098 for all participants). There was also no significant association between visit number (first, second, or third study visit) and what condition participants guessed (χ^2 =3.08, p=0.215 for completers; χ^2 =2.18, p=0.337 for all participants).

4. Discussion

In this study, we used a randomized double-blind cross-over design to explore the effects of a single session of intermittent (iTBS), continuous (cTBS), and sham TBS targeted to the cerebellar vermis using individualized T1 structural MRI-guided stereotactic neuronavigation on time perception (using the interval discrimination task) and mood and psychotic symptoms in a mixed sample of patients with psychotic disorders. We observed that TBS protocols differed in their effect on reaction time in the interval discrimination task: while iTBS reduced RT, cTBS increased RT relative to sham effects. These changes in RT were not at the expense of changes in task accuracy. In fact, we did not observe any changes in task accuracy associated with TBS protocols. The lack of significant findings with respect to task accuracy does not appear to be due to the inability of our participants to perform the task. Sixty percent of participants who completed the study demonstrated better than chance performance in the IDT at baseline. Our sample performed better than the 20% of SZ good IDT performers in a previous study using 1,200 ms range IDT (80), but worse than the 86% of healthy individuals identified as good performers in the same study. In addition, we observed an effect of TBS on one symptom dimension: cTBS improved paranoid ideation compared to sham, but we did not observe any changes from iTBS. We should note that this effect was not corrected for multiple comparisons, and the finding does not survive correction. No other effects on symptom dimensions were observed.

TBS has well-characterized parameter-dependent (i.e., frequencydependent) dissociable neurophysiological effects on cortical excitability and neuroplasticity: while iTBS leads to post-stimulation LTP-like increases in cortical excitability, cTBS leads to LTD-like decreases in cortical excitability (89, 90). These effects have been primarily demonstrated in the motor cortex, and while most TBS studies have now targeted non-motor areas, it remains a partial assumption that the physiological impact of TBS parameters on cortical motor physiology translates to non-motor cortical targets and circuits. This assumption carries even more uncertainty as we consider the impact of TBS on the cerebellum (52). The histology of the cerebellar cortex and vermis is significantly different from that of the highly structured multilayer cerebral cortex, and so are the patterns of cerebellar neuronal connectivity. These morphological differences (types of cells, local organization of cells, and distal connections of cells) translate into differences in neurophysiological profiles and states (91, 92). As the effects of device-based neuromodulation techniques, including TMS, have been demonstrated to be heavily state-dependent (86, 93), one should not assume that the patterns of response to TBS observed in the cerebral cortex directly translate to the cerebellum: these principles need to be tested empirically. While our study did not have neurophysiological outcome measures, we did observe a dissociation in the direction of the behavioral effect of TBS as a function of the stimulation frequency (or duty cycle), similar to the physiological effects described in the cerebral cortex: relative to sham effects, iTBS (excitatory in the motor cortex) decreased reaction time on a temporal discrimination task, while cTBS (inhibitory in the motor cortex) increased reaction time. Though reaction time can be modulated by factors other than the perceptual and motorplanning computations required to prepare a response (94), processing speed is a key component of reaction time. In this context, our findings suggest that iTBS improved while cTBS decreased processing speed. Our results thus suggest that cerebellar TBS leads to dissociable frequency-dependent neuromodulatory effects, similar to the effects of TBS in the cerebral cortex. Future studies should continue to explore the parameter space in cerebellar neuromodulation (e.g., comparing different stimulation frequencies) while adding neurophysiological outcome measures to understand the biological basis of this behavioral dissociation, and further characterize the differences and similarities between cerebellar vs. cerebral cortical responses to TMS.

The "cognitive dysmetria" (2, 95, 96) and "dysmetria of thought" psychopathological and pathophysiological models (1, 4) propose that psychotic symptoms are manifestations of dysmetria, or incoordination, of mental activity resulting from cerebellar and/or cerebro-cerebellar circuit dysfunction. Providing support for these models, there is accumulating evidence for abnormalities of cerebellar structure (8, 97, 98), function (2, 5–7, 99, 100), and connectivity (78, 79, 98, 101–115) in psychotic disorders, with some studies suggesting that abnormalities within cerebro-cerebellar circuitry may even precede (109) and predict progression (110, 113) to psychosis. Previous studies in healthy individuals suggest that the medial

cerebellum is a suitable site to interfere with time perception using 1 Hz rTMS (38, 60) or cTBS (62). In addition, the IDT is a task that is expected to be sensitive to disruptions in cerebellar functioning: studies suggest that interval-based tasks such as the IDT rely on mechanisms involving the cerebellum (62, 116). In healthy individuals, TBS to the medial cerebellum alters interval discrimination but not relative beat-based timing tasks (62), which appear to depend more on the basal ganglia (116).

We used a version of the IDT that has been shown to be abnormal in SZ (80) and report frequency-dependent dissociable effects of iTBS vs. cTBS. Our results suggest an adaptive role of iTBS (improved reaction time) contrasted with a maladaptive role of cTBS (worsened reaction time) relative to the effects of sham. These data lead to the translational hypothesis that iTBS to the cerebellar midline may be therapeutic for psychotic patients. In particular, it could be therapeutic for symptom domains more directly associated with time perception and temporal discrimination. A more nuanced understanding of the association between temporal discrimination deficits and psychotic symptom domains and dimensions would allow a more precise hypothesis about the potential therapeutic benefit of iTBS. It is important to note that our study was designed as a mechanistic, not therapeutic, study: the effects of a single session of TBS are transient and return to a homeostatic baseline approximately 1 h after stimulation. That said, we demonstrate a behavioral target engagement of potential therapeutic significance for the clinical population of study.

It is notable that sham stimulation alone led to a statistically significant non-specific reduction in RT (one could hypothesize this to be driven, at least partially, by practice effects that made subjects faster even if not more accurate). Multiple factors can affect repeated measures performance in behavioral tasks, some associated with the psychometric properties (e.g., learning effects), some with the experimental setting (e.g., duration of the experiment, which can be associated with fatigue), and some with the population of study (e.g., healthy vs. clinical cohorts). Therefore, the observation of longitudinal changes in behavioral task outcomes under sham stimulation conditions is possible and therefore needs to be measured and appropriately controlled for. Interestingly, the uncontrolled change observed before and after cTBS (within condition) was not significant, but when compared with sham (between conditions) and therefore controlling for non-specific confounders, it revealed a de facto significant slowing in RT. This highlights the importance of sham-controlled studies in behavioral TMS research: when compared with the expected non-specific increase in RT captured by the sham condition, cTBS revealed its maladaptive reduction in processing efficiency and speed.

The results in the IDT may contrast with those observed with selfreported symptoms: while the task results conclude that iTBS may be adaptive, we did not observe any positive changes in clinical symptoms after iTBS. Moreover, only one clinical dimension (paranoid ideation) was possibly modulated by TBS, and it was cTBS that improved severity compared to sham (there were no effects associated with iTBS). While the positive effect of cTBS on paranoia may seem contradictory, it is important to highlight that the analysis of symptom severity was not corrected for multiple comparisons and that when correction was applied there were no effects of any TBS condition on any of the symptoms. While we decided to show this uncorrected result, given the small sample size and exploratory nature of the symptom analysis, it is conservative to conclude that while a single session of TBS to the cerebellar midline led to dissociable effects on the reaction time of interval discrimination in psychotic patients, it did not translate into significant effects in symptom severity captured with visual analog scales. Visual analog scales are valid and easy-to-use methods to capture rapid changes in symptom severity, but they are noisy and imperfect clinical outcome measures. Behavioral tasks (like the IDT) are better suited to capture the effects of single-session perturbation studies like ours, but they often reflect specific circuit computations more than syndromal or symptom severity. It is also worth noting that our sample consisted mostly of stable outpatients with low symptom severity as evidenced by the baseline PANSS, YMRS, and MADRS scores, and this may have caused a floor effect in the capacity to modulate VAS clinical outcomes. Finally, while a single session of TMS is known to induce transient but measurable biological and behavioral effects, it may not be sufficient to change symptom severity (not even transiently). Hence the lack of clear effects of a single TMS session on symptom severity assessed with VAS in patients with psychosis should not be interpreted as proof of the lack of therapeutic potential of repeated cerebellar TBS sessions, particularly in light of the reported behavioral results.

4.1. Limitations

The strengths of this study include the parametric exploration of the role of cerebellar TBS frequency by including two active TBS conditions and sham, the cross-over design, the use of individualized MRI-guided stereotactic neuronavigation for precise targeting of TBS to the medial cerebellum (i.e., vermis), and the choice of a task (IDT) that captures a cognitive dimension associated with cerebellar function and psychopathology in psychosis. However, this study also had several limitations.

First, there are limitations related to our sample, chief of which is that the sample size of 26 participants (only 20 of whom completed all three visits) is small. While our statistical analysis of the interval discrimination task was able to use more robust statistics, the analyses of secondary clinical outcomes were uncorrected for multiple comparisons and remain quite exploratory. Another limitation is that our sample consisted mostly of stable outpatients with low psychosis symptom severity (particularly among the subset with psychotic BD), which may have caused a floor effect in the capacity to modulate VAS clinical outcomes. Similarly, the mean IQ (full scale IQ 117 among the 20 participants who completed the study) and level of completed education (30% of completers finished college or graduate/professional school) of our participants were relatively high for a psychosis sample, and this may limit the generalizability of our findings. Future studies should examine the degree to which cognitive ability predicts or moderates the response to TBS in psychotic disorders. Furthermore, most patients were medicated, and it is unclear how TBS and medications interact; however, we employed a within-subject crossover design, and medications and their dosages were constant for the duration of the study across the three TBS conditions. Additionally, our psychosis sample was diagnostically heterogeneous, including patients with psychotic BD as well as SZ spectrum disorders. It is recognized that these disorders have substantial genetic and clinical overlap. Indeed, a study that investigated timing abnormalities in both SZ spectrum

10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1218321

and BD patients found that the bisection point did not differ across groups, suggesting a similar timing deficit in the patient groups (46). Nevertheless, this was a single study, and the ways in which BD and SZ spectrum disorders differ with respect to cerebellar function and temporal discrimination remain to be determined. Though we provide visualizations of individual-level pre- vs. post changes color-coded by diagnosis (Supplementary Figures S1, S2, S4), the limited sample size of this pilot study restricted our ability to conduct subgroup analyses or to directly compare our outcome measures between diagnostic groups, and we are unable to draw any conclusions about the response to TBS according to specific psychosis diagnoses. Investigating similarities and differences in response to cerebellar stimulation across psychotic disorders would be a valuable area of future research. A final point related to our study sample is that we did not collect data from healthy controls. Future studies of cerebellar timing functions in psychotic disorders should include a healthy control group by which to compare the time discrimination findings of people with psychosis, as well as to enable comparisons with the larger literature on cerebellar timing functions in healthy individuals.

Second, there are limitations related to the timing task we employed. While the interval discrimination task is relatively easy to administer and interpret, and has been implemented in many studies of temporal processing including those focused on SZ (80, 83, 117, 118), the measure of accuracy for each trial is binary (correct or incorrect). Further, we collected data for a limited number of stimulus intervals (1,080 ms, 1,200 ms, and 1,320 ms). A task with a more continuous outcome measure, such as the repetitive finger tapping task (119), while more susceptible to potential motor confounds, may have enabled detection of more subtle changes in timing accuracy and variability before and after TBS. The temporal bisection task-in which participants first encode short and long anchor durations and are then presented with stimuli of intermediate durations which they classify as most similar to either the short or the long anchor interval-has also been used to study time perception in SZ (120, 121). While the response to each trial in the temporal bisection task is also binary (short or long), the proportion of "long" responses can be modeled as a function of stimulus duration (122), and changes in perceived time can be identified by shifts of the bisection point (the duration at which short and long classifications are made with equal probability). While these alternative timing tasks may have provided greater sensitivity to detect more subtle time perception changes in response to a single TMS session, it is important to note that we were able to detect the effects of different TBS conditions on the continuous variable of IDT reaction time, even if we identified no effects of TBS condition on the binary measure of interval discrimination accuracy.

Another important limitation related to our task design is that we did not have a reaction time control task to assess the degree to which the observed effects of TBS on IDT reaction times may be due to effects on motor speed and/or behavioral activation rather than selective effects on IDT processing speed. Similarly, we cannot rule out that TBS effects on attention, working memory, and other cognitive processes—which are commonly impaired in psychotic disorders—may account for some of the reaction time results we observed. Though the issue remains debated, the distinct timing hypothesis proposes that there are two distinct mechanisms for temporal processing, with processing of intervals in the sub-second range involving a sensory/automatic timing mechanism not accessible to cognitive control while temporal processing of suprasecond intervals is more cognitively mediated (42, 88, 123). Evidence from functional neuroimaging studies suggests that automatic timing is mediated by supplementary motor area (SMA), sensorimotor cortex, cerebellum, premotor area, thalamus, and basal ganglia, while cognitively mediated timing tasks additionally recruit multi-purpose cognitive circuits within the prefrontal and parietal cortices (124). Our task tested time intervals in the 1,200 ms range. Though 1,200 ms is substantially shorter than the higher interval ranges (3-120 s) that some SZ studies (121, 125-127) have used, our interval range is still in the 1s range and thus may have been susceptible to cognitive confounds. Thus, even though studies indicate that people with SZ have been shown to have timing deficits across a wide range of tasks, independent of whether tasks used sub-second or suprasecond intervals (42), it cannot be excluded that the differential effects of TBS condition on IDT reaction time could be due, in part, to differential impacts of iTBS, cTBS, and sham TBS on cognitive functioning. Finally, we administered a single version of the IDT across the six testing sessions. Given that this was a case cross-over design, repeated administration of the same task could introduce practice effects. Indeed, RT's before and after sham TBS did show evidence of practice effects during a single study visit. Importantly, however, we captured these learning effects by including a sham condition, and still showed that the iTBS and cTBS conditions significantly differed from these sham effects.

Third, there are limitations with respect to our symptom measures. Visual analog scales are easy to use measures that allow for the assessment of rapid changes in severity. The five visual analog scales for which we report results (depressed mood, anxiety, AH, VH, and PI) have satisfactory test-retest reliability and convergent validity with standardized measures, but are very noisy. As rapidly effective treatments (including device-based treatments) are being developed, there is a growing need to develop more robust psychometrically validated measures of rapid changes in neuropsychiatric symptom severity. Another limitation is that we did not evaluate negative symptoms, the domain reported to improve with cerebellar TMS in previous studies of SZ (53-57). However, the goal of our study (which was mechanistic and not therapeutic in nature) was to capture immediate changes within the hour following a single session of TBS, and acute changes in negative symptoms which tend to be relatively persistent, trait-like phenomena are more challenging to measure.

Fourth, we did not include any biological markers by which to measure TBS effects. We selected the cerebellum as the target for neuromodulation because of its emerging role as a brain area of scientific interest in psychotic disorders, its relevance to temporal processing, and its accessibility close to the skull surface. However, the cerebellum is only one of several brain areas involved in temporal processing and is unlikely to be the only target for modulating timing deficits in SZ. For example, Walther and colleagues found that in patients with SZ, a single session of cTBS to the right inferior parietal lobule (IPL) improved both gesture performance accuracy and manual dexterity (128), both of which are more complex motor behaviors but ones that involve mechanisms of timing. Importantly, the cerebellum communicates with many distributed brain areas, including prefrontal and parietal cortices, through polysynaptic cerebro-cerebello-thalamo-cerebral (CCTC) circuits (23). It has already been demonstrated that iTBS targeting the medial cerebellum can impact its connectivity with the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) (56). Similarly, a single session of transcranial pulsed current stimulation to the medial cerebellum during a timing task improved frontal theta oscillations in patients with SZ (63). Conversely, rTMS targeted to the left DLPFC in SZ has been shown to modulate functional connectivity with the cerebellum, thalamus, and other regions within CTCC circuits (129). While it is clear that applying rTMS to one brain area has effects in brain areas that are functionally connected, it remains unclear what neural changes are driving the differential response to TBS effects in the present study. Assessing how cerebellar TBS affects cerebellar physiology and distal connectivity associated with timing and/or psychotic symptoms will be critical in future studies.

Finally, while we used individualized MRI-guided stereotactic target selection, a TMS coil with a 120° angle designed to stimulate deeper structures, and a stimulation intensity with established safety and proven capacity to modulate physiology, behavior, and clinical symptoms, anatomical targeting and dosing remain unresolved problems in cerebellar TMS. The strength of the TMS magnetic field decays rapidly as it moves away from the coil, making TMS a relatively shallow neuromodulatory intervention (48). The cerebellum is a relatively deep structure, with a greater distance to the skull surface than typical cerebral cortical targets. Moreover, there are generally different types of tissues (including a large pool of cerebrospinal fluid) in between the coil and the target, and these anatomical characteristics can be variable across individuals. As we lack electric field modeling studies to understand how all these factors shape the actual topography and intensity of the TMS-induced electric fields across individuals, one should be cautious when making very specific anatomical inferences. Modeling and dose-response studies are urgently needed to accelerate the therapeutic potential of cerebellar TMS.

5. Conclusion

In conclusion, we demonstrate a frequency-dependent dissociation between the acute effects of a single session of iTBS vs. cTBS to the cerebellar midline (600 pulses per session, 100% MT of the AMT, a deep 120° bent figure-of-eight coil, and individualized MRI-guided stereotactic neuronavigation) on the speed of response during a time interval discrimination task in patients with psychosis. Specifically, iTBS showed improved reaction time (adaptive) while cTBS led to worsening speed of response (maladaptive). We did not observe any effects of TBS on affective or positive symptoms of psychosis when appropriately controlling for multiple comparisons. The results of this mechanistic behavioral neuromodulation study demonstrate behavioral target engagement in a cognitive dimension of relevance to the psychopathology and pathophysiology of patients with psychosis, and generate testable hypotheses about the potential adaptive therapeutic role of iTBS to the cerebellar midline in this clinical population.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary materials, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

This study, involving humans, was approved by the Mass General Brigham (MGB) IRB (formerly Partners IRB). The study was conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

AS: conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, writing – original draft, writing – review and editing, and supervision. AH-P: software, investigation, formal analysis, visualization, and writing – review and editing. YR: software, investigation, and project administration. VH and MH: investigation and project administration. BC and DÖ: conceptualization, methodology, resources, and writing – review and editing. JC: conceptualization, methodology, resources, writing – original draft, writing – review and editing, and supervision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

John A. Kaneb Young Investigator Award to AS.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to the patients who participated in this study.

Conflict of interest

JC is a member of the scientific advisory board of Hyka and Flow Neuroscience and has been a consultant for Mifu Technologies.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1218321/ full#supplementary-material

References

1. Schmahmann JD. An emerging concept. The cerebellar contribution to higher function. Arch Neurol. (1991) 48:1178–87. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1991.00530230086029

2. Andreasen NC, O'Leary DS, Cizadlo T, Arndt S, Rezai K, Ponto LL, et al. Schizophrenia and cognitive dysmetria: a positron-emission tomography study of dysfunctional prefrontal-thalamic-cerebellar circuitry. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (1996) 93:9985–90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.18.9985

3. Andreasen NC, Paradiso S, O'Leary DS. "Cognitive dysmetria" as an integrative theory of schizophrenia: a dysfunction in cortical-subcortical-cerebellar circuitry? *Schizophr Bull.* (1998) 24:203–18. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033321

4. Schmahmann JD. Dysmetria of thought: clinical consequences of cerebellar dysfunction on cognition and affect. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (1998) 2:362–71. doi: 10.1016/S1364-6613(98)01218-2

5. Martin P, Albers M. Cerebellum and schizophrenia: a selective review. *Schizophr Bull.* (1995) 21:241–50. doi: 10.1093/schbul/21.2.241

6. Hoppenbrouwers SS, Schutter DJ, Fitzgerald PB, Chen R, Daskalakis ZJ. The role of the cerebellum in the pathophysiology and treatment of neuropsychiatric disorders: a review. *Brain Res Rev.* (2008) 59:185–200. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2008.07.005

7. Bernard JA, Mittal VA. Dysfunctional activation of the cerebellum in schizophrenia: a functional neuroimaging meta-analysis. *Clin Psychol Sci.* (2015) 3:545–66. doi: 10.1177/2167702614542463

8. Moberget T, Doan NT, Alnaes D, Kaufmann T, Cordova-Palomera A, Lagerberg TV, et al. Cerebellar volume and cerebellocerebral structural covariance in schizophrenia: a multisite mega-analysis of 983 patients and 1349 healthy controls. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2018) 23:1512–20. doi: 10.1038/mp.2017.106

9. Moberget T, Ivry RB. Prediction, psychosis, and the cerebellum. *Biol Psychiatry* Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging. (2019) 4:820–31. doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2019.06.001

10. Middleton FA, Strick PL. Anatomical evidence for cerebellar and basal ganglia involvement in higher cognitive function. *Science*. (1994) 266:458–61. doi: 10.1126/science.7939688

11. Middleton FA, Strick PL. Cerebellar projections to the prefrontal cortex of the primate. J Neurosci. (2001) 21:700–12. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.21-02-00700.2001

12. Kelly RM, Strick PL. Cerebellar loops with motor cortex and prefrontal cortex of a nonhuman primate. *J Neurosci.* (2003) 23:8432–44. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-23-08432.2003

13. Cho SS, Yoon EJ, Bang SA, Park HS, Kim YK, Strafella AP, et al. Metabolic changes of cerebrum by repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation over lateral cerebellum: a study with FDG PET. *Cerebellum*. (2012) 11:739–48. doi: 10.1007/s12311-011-0333-7

14. Brodal P. Principles of organization of the corticopontocerebellar projection to crus II in the cat with particular reference to the parietal cortical areas. *Neuroscience*. (1983) 10:621–38. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(83)90207-5

15. Clower DM, West RA, Lynch JC, Strick PL. The inferior parietal lobule is the target of output from the superior colliculus, hippocampus, and cerebellum. *J Neurosci.* (2001) 21:6283–91. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.21-16-06283.2001

16. Clower DM, Dum RP, Strick PL. Basal ganglia and cerebellar inputs to "AIP". *Cereb Cortex*. (2005) 15:913–20. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhh190

17. Sultan F, Augath M, Hamodeh S, Murayama Y, Oeltermann A, Rauch A, et al. Unravelling cerebellar pathways with high temporal precision targeting motor and extensive sensory and parietal networks. *Nat Commun.* (2012) 3:924. doi: 10.1038/ncomms1912

18. Anand BK, Malhotra CL, Singh B, Dua S. Cerebellar projections to limbic system. J Neurophysiol. (1959) 22:451–7. doi: 10.1152/jn.1959.22.4.451

19. Snider RS, Maiti A. Cerebellar contributions to the Papez circuit. *J Neurosci Res.* (1976) 2:133–46. doi: 10.1002/jnr.490020204

20. Leiner HC, Leiner AL, Dow RS. The human cerebro-cerebellar system: its computing, cognitive, and language skills. *Behav Brain Res.* (1991) 44:113–28. doi: 10.1016/S0166-4328(05)80016-6

21. Ito M. Movement and thought: identical control mechanisms by the cerebellum. *Trends Neurosci.* (1993) 16:448–50. doi: 10.1016/0166-2236(93)90073-U

22. Ramnani N. The primate cortico-cerebellar system: anatomy and function. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2006) 7:511–22. doi: 10.1038/nrn1953

23. Strick PL, Dum RP, Fiez JA. Cerebellum and nonmotor function. Annu Rev Neurosci. (2009) 32:413–34. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.31.060407.125606

24. Guell X, Gabrieli JDE, Schmahmann JD. Embodied cognition and the cerebellum: perspectives from the Dysmetria of thought and the universal cerebellar transform theories. *Cortex.* (2018) 100:140–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2017.07.005

25. Marek S, Siegel JS, Gordon EM, Raut RV, Gratton C, Newbold DJ, et al. Spatial and temporal organization of the individual human cerebellum. *Neuron*. (2018) 100:977–993.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2018.10.010

26. Keele SW, Ivry R. Does the cerebellum provide a common computation for diverse tasks? A timing hypothesis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (1990) 608:179–211. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1990.tb48897.x

27. O'Reilly JX, Mesulam MM, Nobre AC. The cerebellum predicts the timing of perceptual events. J Neurosci. (2008) 28:2252-60. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2742-07.2008

28. D'Angelo E, Casali S. Seeking a unified framework for cerebellar function and dysfunction: from circuit operations to cognition. *Front Neural Circuits*. (2012) 6:116. doi: 10.3389/fncir.2012.00116

29. Schwartze M, Kotz SA. A dual-pathway neural architecture for specific temporal prediction. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2013) 37:2587–96. doi: 10.1016/j. neubiorev.2013.08.005

30. Bares M, Apps R, Avanzino L, Breska A, D'Angelo E, Filip P, et al. Consensus paper: decoding the contributions of the cerebellum as a time machine. From neurons to clinical applications. *Cerebellum*. (2019) 18:266–86. doi: 10.1007/s12311-018-0979-5

31. Koch G, Oliveri M, Caltagirone C. Neural networks engaged in milliseconds and seconds time processing: evidence from transcranial magnetic stimulation and patients with cortical or subcortical dysfunction. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci.* (2009) 364:1907–18. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2009.0018

32. Forti L, Cesana E, Mapelli J, D'Angelo E. Ionic mechanisms of autorhythmic firing in rat cerebellar Golgi cells. *J Physiol.* (2006) 574:711–29. doi: 10.1113/ jphysiol.2006.110858

33. Solinas S, Forti L, Cesana E, Mapelli J, De Schutter E, D'Angelo E. Computational reconstruction of pacemaking and intrinsic electroresponsiveness in cerebellar Golgi cells. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2007) 1:2. doi: 10.3389/neuro.03.002.2007

34. Johansson F, Jirenhed DA, Rasmussen A, Zucca R, Hesslow G. Memory trace and timing mechanism localized to cerebellar Purkinje cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2014) 111:14930–4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1415371111

35. Jirenhed DA, Rasmussen A, Johansson F, Hesslow G. Learned response sequences in cerebellar Purkinje cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2017) 114:6127–32. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1621132114

36. Johansson F. Intrinsic memory of temporal intervals in cerebellar Purkinje cells. Neurobiol Learn Mem. (2019) 166:107103. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2019.107103

37. Koch G, Oliveri M, Torriero S, Salerno S, Lo Gerfo E, Caltagirone C. Repetitive TMS of cerebellum interferes with millisecond time processing. *Exp Brain Res.* (2007) 179:291–9. doi: 10.1007/s00221-006-0791-1

38. Lee KH, Egleston PN, Brown WH, Gregory AN, Barker AT, Woodruff PW. The role of the cerebellum in subsecond time perception: evidence from repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation. *J Cogn Neurosci.* (2007) 19:147–57. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2007.19.1.147

39. Del Olmo MF, Cheeran B, Koch G, Rothwell JC. Role of the cerebellum in externally paced rhythmic finger movements. *J Neurophysiol.* (2007) 98:145–52. doi: 10.1152/jn.01088.2006

40. Minichino A, Bersani FS, Trabucchi G, Albano G, Primavera M, Delle Chiaie R, et al. The role of cerebellum in unipolar and bipolar depression: a review of the main neurobiological findings. *Riv Psichiatr.* (2014) 49:124–31. doi: 10.1708/1551.16907

41. Thoenes S, Oberfeld D. Meta-analysis of time perception and temporal processing in schizophrenia: differential effects on precision and accuracy. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2017) 54:44–64. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2017.03.007

42. Ciullo V, Spalletta G, Caltagirone C, Jorge RE, Piras F. Explicit time deficit in schizophrenia: systematic review and meta-analysis indicate it is primary and not domain specific. *Schizophr Bull.* (2016) 42:505–18. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv104

43. Losak J, Huttlova J, Lipova P, Marecek R, Bares M, Filip P, et al. Predictive motor timing and the cerebellar vermis in schizophrenia: an fMRI study. *Schizophr Bull*. (2016) 42:1517–27. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw065

44. Bolbecker AR, Hong SL, Kent JS, Forsyth JK, Klaunig MJ, Lazar EK, et al. Paced finger-tapping abnormalities in bipolar disorder indicate timing dysfunction. *Bipolar Disord*. (2011) 13:99–110. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5618.2011.00895.x

45. Ciullo V, Piras F, Banaj N, Vecchio D, Piras F, Sani G, et al. Internal clock variability, mood swings and working memory in bipolar disorder. *J Affect Disord*. (2022) 315:48–56. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2022.07.063

46. Bolbecker AR, Westfall DR, Howell JM, Lackner RJ, Carroll CA, O'Donnell BF, et al. Increased timing variability in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *PLoS One*. (2014) 9:e97964. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0097964

47. Parker KL, Kim YC, Kelley RM, Nessler AJ, Chen KH, Muller-Ewald VA, et al. Delta-frequency stimulation of cerebellar projections can compensate for schizophreniarelated medial frontal dysfunction. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2017) 22:647–55. doi: 10.1038/ mp.2017.50

48. Camprodon JA. Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation In: JA Camprodon, SL Rauch, BD Greenberg and DD Dougherty, editors. *Psychiatric neurotherapeutics: contemporary surgical & device-based treatments in psychiatry*. New York, NY: Humana Press (2016). 165–86.

49. Sack AT, Kohler A, Linden DE, Goebel R, Muckli L. The temporal characteristics of motion processing in hMT/V5+: combining fMRI and neuronavigated TMS. *NeuroImage*. (2006) 29:1326–35. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.08.027

50. Huang YZ, Edwards MJ, Rounis E, Bhatia KP, Rothwell JC. Theta burst stimulation of the human motor cortex. *Neuron.* (2005) 45:201–6. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.12.033

51. Suppa A, Huang YZ, Funke K, Ridding MC, Cheeran B, Di Lazzaro V, et al. Ten years of Theta burst stimulation in humans: established knowledge, unknowns and prospects. *Brain Stimul.* (2016) 9:323–35. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2016.01.006

52. Hurtado-Puerto AM, Nestor K, Eldaief M, Camprodon JA. Safety considerations for cerebellar theta burst stimulation. *Clin Ther.* (2020) 42:1169–1190.e1. doi: 10.1016/j. clinthera.2020.06.001

53. Demirtas-Tatlidede A, Freitas C, Cromer JR, Safar L, Ongur D, Stone WS, et al. Safety and proof of principle study of cerebellar vermal theta burst stimulation in refractory schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2010) 124:91–100. doi: 10.1016/j. schres.2010.08.015

54. Tikka SK, Garg S, Sinha VK, Nizamie SH, Goyal N. Resting state dense Array gamma oscillatory activity as a response marker for cerebellar-repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) in schizophrenia. *J ECT*. (2015) 31:258–62. doi: 10.1097/ YCT.00000000000242

55. Garg S, Sinha VK, Tikka SK, Mishra P, Goyal N. The efficacy of cerebellar vermal deep high frequency (theta range) repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) in schizophrenia: a randomized rater blind-sham controlled study. *Psychiatry Res.* (2016) 243:413–20. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.07.023

56. Brady RO Jr, Gonsalvez I, Lee I, Ongur D, Seidman LJ, Schmahmann JD, et al. Cerebellar-prefrontal network connectivity and negative symptoms in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2019) 176:512–20. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.18040429

57. Zhu L, Zhang W, Zhu Y, Mu X, Zhang Q, Wang Y, et al. Cerebellar theta burst stimulation for the treatment of negative symptoms of schizophrenia: a multicenter, double-blind, randomized controlled trial. *Psychiatry Res.* (2021) 305:114204. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2021.114204

58. Chauhan P, Garg S, Tikka SK, Khattri S. Efficacy of intensive cerebellar intermittent theta burst stimulation (iCiTBS) in treatment-resistant schizophrenia: a randomized placebo-controlled study. *Cerebellum.* (2021) 20:116–23. doi: 10.1007/ s12311-020-01193-9

59. Basavaraju R, Ithal D, Thanki MV, Ramalingaiah AH, Thirthalli J, Reddy RP, et al. Intermittent theta burst stimulation of cerebellar vermis enhances fronto-cerebellar resting state functional connectivity in schizophrenia with predominant negative symptoms: a randomized controlled trial. *Schizophr Res.* (2021) 238:108–20. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2021.10.005

60. Theoret H, Haque J, Pascual-Leone A. Increased variability of paced finger tapping accuracy following repetitive magnetic stimulation of the cerebellum in humans. *Neurosci Lett.* (2001) 306:29–32. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(01)01860-2

61. Fierro B, Palermo A, Puma A, Francolini M, Panetta ML, Daniele O, et al. Role of the cerebellum in time perception: a TMS study in normal subjects. *J Neurol Sci.* (2007) 263:107–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2007.06.033

62. Grube M, Lee KH, Griffiths TD, Barker AT, Woodruff PW. Transcranial magnetic theta-burst stimulation of the human cerebellum distinguishes absolute, duration-based from relative, beat-based perception of subsecond time intervals. *Front Psychol.* (2010) 1:171. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2010.00171

63. Singh A, Trapp NT, De Corte B, Cao S, Kingyon J, Boes AD, et al. Cerebellar Theta frequency transcranial pulsed stimulation increases frontal Theta oscillations in patients with schizophrenia. *Cerebellum.* (2019) 18:489–99. doi: 10.1007/s12311-019-01013-9

64. Weinberger DR, Kleinman JE, Luchins DJ, Bigelow LB, Wyatt RJ. Cerebellar pathology in schizophrenia: a controlled postmortem study. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1980) 137:359–61. doi: 10.1176/ajp.137.3.359

65. Tran KD, Smutzer GS, Doty RL, Arnold SE. Reduced Purkinje cell size in the cerebellar vermis of elderly patients with schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry.* (1998) 155:1288–90. doi: 10.1176/ajp.155.9.1288

66. Reyes MG, Gordon A. Cerebellar vermis in schizophrenia. Lancet. (1981) 2:700-1.

67. Rossi A, Stratta P, Mancini F, de Cataldo S, Casacchia M. Cerebellar vermal size in schizophrenia: a male effect. *Biol Psychiatry*. (1993) 33:354–7. doi: 10.1016/0006-3223(93)90324-7

68. Jacobsen LK, Giedd JN, Berquin PC, Krain AL, Hamburger SD, Kumra S, et al. Quantitative morphology of the cerebellum and fourth ventricle in childhood-onset schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1997) 154:1663–9. doi: 10.1176/ajp.154.12.1663

69. Nopoulos PC, Ceilley JW, Gailis EA, Andreasen NC. An MRI study of cerebellar vermis morphology in patients with schizophrenia: evidence in support of the cognitive dysmetria concept. *Biol Psychiatry*. (1999) 46:703–11. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(99)00093-1

70. Loeber RT, Cintron CM, Yurgelun-Todd DA. Morphometry of individual cerebellar lobules in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2001) 158:952–4. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.158.6.952

71. Ichimiya T, Okubo Y, Suhara T, Sudo Y. Reduced volume of the cerebellar vermis in neuroleptic-naive schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2001) 49:20–7. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(00)01081-7

72. Okugawa G, Sedvall G, Nordstrom M, Andreasen N, Pierson R, Magnotta V, et al. Selective reduction of the posterior superior vermis in men with chronic schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2002) 55:61–7. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(01)00248-1

73. Okugawa G, Sedvall GC, Agartz I. Smaller cerebellar vermis but not hemisphere volumes in patients with chronic schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2003) 160:1614–7. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.160.9.1614

74. Joyal CC, Pennanen C, Tiihonen E, Laakso MP, Tiihonen J, Aronen HJ. MRI volumetry of the vermis and the cerebellar hemispheres in men with schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2004) 131:115–24. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2003.09.003

75. Xue A, Kong R, Yang Q, Eldaief MC, Angeli PA, DiNicola LM, et al. The detailed organization of the human cerebellum estimated by intrinsic functional connectivity within the individual. *J Neurophysiol.* (2021) 125:358–84. doi: 10.1152/jn.00561.2020

76. Buckner RL, Krienen FM, Castellanos A, Diaz JC, Yeo BT. The organization of the human cerebellum estimated by intrinsic functional connectivity. *J Neurophysiol*. (2011) 106:2322–45. doi: 10.1152/jn.00339.2011

77. Halko MA, Farzan F, Eldaief MC, Schmahmann JD, Pascual-Leone A. Intermittent theta-burst stimulation of the lateral cerebellum increases functional connectivity of the default network. *J Neurosci.* (2014) 34:12049–56. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1776-14.2014

78. Shinn AK, Baker JT, Lewandowski KE, Ongur D, Cohen BM. Aberrant cerebellar connectivity in motor and association networks in schizophrenia. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2015) 9:134. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015.00134

79. Shinn AK, Roh YS, Ravichandran CT, Baker JT, Ongur D, Cohen BM. Aberrant cerebellar connectivity in bipolar disorder with psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging*. (2017) 2:438–48. doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2016.07.002

80. Papageorgiou C, Karanasiou IS, Kapsali F, Stachtea X, Kyprianou M, Tsianaka EI, et al. Temporal processing dysfunction in schizophrenia as measured by time interval discrimination and tempo reproduction tasks. *Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2013) 40:173–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.07.017

81. Rammsayer TH. The effects of type of interval, sensory modality, base duration, and psychophysical task on the discrimination of brief time intervals. *Atten Percept Psychophys.* (2014) 76:1185–96. doi: 10.3758/s13414-014-0655-x

82. Rammsayer T, Ulrich R. The greater temporal acuity in the reminder task than in the 2AFC task is independent of standard duration and sensory modality. *Can J Exp Psychol.* (2012) 66:26–31. doi: 10.1037/a0025349

83. Davalos DB, Kisley MA, Ross RG. Effects of interval duration on temporal processing in schizophrenia. *Brain Cogn.* (2003) 52:295–301. doi: 10.1016/S0278-2626(03)00157-X

84. Laflamme V, Zakay D, Gamache PL, Grondin S. Foreperiod and range effects on time interval categorization. *Atten Percept Psychophys.* (2015) 77:1507–14. doi: 10.3758/s13414-015-0937-y

85. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)—a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. *J Biomed Inform.* (2009) 42:377–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010

86. Dubreuil-Vall L, Chau P, Ruffini G, Widge AS, Camprodon JA. tDCS to the left DLPFC modulates cognitive and physiological correlates of executive function in a statedependent manner. *Brain Stimul.* (2019) 12:1456–63. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2019.06.006

87. Dubreuil-Vall L, Gomez-Bernal F, Villegas AC, Cirillo P, Surman C, Ruffini G, et al. Transcranial direct current stimulation to the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex improves cognitive control in patients with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a randomized behavioral and neurophysiological study. *Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging*. (2021) 6:439–48. doi: 10.1016/j.jbpsc.2020.11.006

88. Rammsayer T, Ulrich R. Elaborative rehearsal of nontemporal information interferes with temporal processing of durations in the range of seconds but not milliseconds. *Acta Psychol.* (2011) 137:127–33. doi: 10.1016/j.actpsy.2011.03.010

89. Huang Y-Z, Sommer M, Thickbroom G, Hamada M, Pascual-Leonne A, Paulus W, et al. Consensus: new methodologies for brain stimulation. *Brain Stimul.* (2009) 2:2–13. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2008.09.007

90. Camprodon JA, Pascual-Leone A. Multimodal applications of transcranial magnetic stimulation for circuit-based psychiatry. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2016) 73:407–8. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.3127

91. Ashida R, Cerminara NL, Brooks J, Apps R. Principles of organization of the human cerebellum: macro- and microanatomy. *Handb Clin Neurol.* (2018) 154:45–58. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-63956-1.00003-5

92. D'Angelo E. Physiology of the cerebellum. Handb Clin Neurol. (2018) 154:85-108. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-63956-1.00006-0

93. Silvanto J, Muggleton NG, Cowey A, Walsh V. Neural adaptation reveals statedependent effects of transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2007) 25:1874–81. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05440.x

94. Wong AL, Goldsmith J, Forrence AD, Haith AM, Krakauer JW. Reaction times can reflect habits rather than computations. *elife*. (2017) 6:6. doi: 10.7554/eLife.28075

95. Andreasen NC, Nopoulos P, O'Leary DS, Miller DD, Wassink T, Flaum M. Defining the phenotype of schizophrenia: cognitive dysmetria and its neural mechanisms. *Biol Psychiatry.* (1999) 46:908–20. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(99)00152-3

96. Andreasen NC. A unitary model of schizophrenia. Bleuler's "fragmented Phrene" as schizencephaly. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (1999) 56:781–7. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.56.9.781 97. Kim DJ, Kent JS, Bolbecker AR, Sporns O, Cheng H, Newman SD, et al. Disrupted modular architecture of cerebellum in schizophrenia: a graph theoretic analysis. *Schizophr Bull*. (2014) 40:1216–26. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu059

98. Ding Y, Ou Y, Pan P, Shan X, Chen J, Liu F, et al. Cerebellar structural and functional abnormalities in first-episode and drug-naive patients with schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2019) 283:24–33. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2018.11.009

99. Picard H, Amado I, Mouchet-Mages S, Olie JP, Krebs MO. The role of the cerebellum in schizophrenia: an update of clinical, cognitive, and functional evidences. *Schizophr Bull.* (2008) 34:155–72. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm049

100. Lungu O, Barakat M, Laventure S, Debas K, Proulx S, Luck D, et al. The incidence and nature of cerebellar findings in schizophrenia: a quantitative review of fMRI literature. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:797–806. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr193

101. Liang M, Zhou Y, Jiang T, Liu Z, Tian L, Liu H, et al. Widespread functional disconnectivity in schizophrenia with resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Neuroreport.* (2006) 17:209–13. doi: 10.1097/01.wnr.0000198434.06518.b8

102. Bluhm RL, Miller J, Lanius RA, Osuch EA, Boksman K, Neufeld RW, et al. Spontaneous low-frequency fluctuations in the BOLD signal in schizophrenic patients: anomalies in the default network. *Schizophr Bull.* (2007) 33:1004–12. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbm052

103. Shen H, Wang L, Liu Y, Hu D. Discriminative analysis of resting-state functional connectivity patterns of schizophrenia using low dimensional embedding of fMRI. *NeuroImage*. (2010) 49:3110–21. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.11.011

104. Liu H, Fan G, Xu K, Wang F. Changes in cerebellar functional connectivity and anatomical connectivity in schizophrenia: a combined resting-state functional MRI and diffusion tensor imaging study. *J Magn Reson Imaging*. (2011) 34:1430–8. doi: 10.1002/jmri.22784

105. Repovs G, Csernansky JG, Barch DM. Brain network connectivity in individuals with schizophrenia and their siblings. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2011) 69:967–73. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsych.2010.11.009

106. Collin G, Hulshoff Pol HE, Haijma SV, Cahn W, Kahn RS, van den Heuvel MP. Impaired cerebellar functional connectivity in schizophrenia patients and their healthy siblings. *Front Psych.* (2011) 2:73. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2011.00073

107. Chen YL, Tu PC, Lee YC, Chen YS, Li CT, Su TP. Resting-state fMRI mapping of cerebellar functional dysconnections involving multiple large-scale networks in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 149:26–34. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.05.029

108. Guo W, Liu F, Chen J, Wu R, Zhang Z, Yu M, et al. Resting-state cerebellar-cerebral networks are differently affected in first-episode, drug-naive schizophrenia patients and unaffected siblings. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:17275. doi: 10.1038/srep17275

109. Wang H, Guo W, Liu F, Wang G, Lyu H, Wu R, et al. Patients with first-episode, drug-naive schizophrenia and subjects at ultra-high risk of psychosis shared increased cerebellar-default mode network connectivity at rest. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:26124. doi: 10.1038/ srep26124

110. Bernard JA, Orr JM, Mittal VA. Cerebello-thalamo-cortical networks predict positive symptom progression in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2017) 14:622–8. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2017.03.001

111. Guo W, Zhang F, Liu F, Chen J, Wu R, Chen DQ, et al. Cerebellar abnormalities in first-episode, drug-naive schizophrenia at rest. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2018) 276:73–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2018.03.010

112. Zhuo C, Wang C, Wang L, Guo X, Xu Q, Liu Y, et al. Altered resting-state functional connectivity of the cerebellum in schizophrenia. *Brain Imaging Behav*. (2018) 12:383–9. doi: 10.1007/s11682-017-9704-0

113. Cao H, Chen OY, Chung Y, Forsyth JK, McEwen SC, Gee DG, et al. Cerebellothalamo-cortical hyperconnectivity as a state-independent functional neural signature for psychosis prediction and characterization. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:3836. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-018-06350-7

114. Ferri J, Ford JM, Roach BJ, Turner JA, van Erp TG, Voyvodic J, et al. Resting-state thalamic dysconnectivity in schizophrenia and relationships with symptoms. *Psychol Med.* (2018) 48:2492–9. doi: 10.1017/S003329171800003X

115. Lee KH, Oh H, Suh JS, Cho KIK, Yoon YB, Shin WG, et al. Functional and structural connectivity of the cerebellar nuclei with the striatum and cerebral cortex in first-episode psychosis. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2018) 31:143–51. doi: 10.1176/appi.neuropsych.17110276

116. Breska A, Ivry RB. Double dissociation of single-interval and rhythmic temporal prediction in cerebellar degeneration and Parkinson's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2018) 115:12283–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1810596115

117. Davalos DB, Kisley MA, Ross RG. Deficits in auditory and visual temporal perception in schizophrenia. *Cogn Neuropsychiatry*. (2002) 7:273-82. doi: 10.1080/13546800143000230

118. Davalos DB, Kisley MA, Freedman R. Behavioral and electrophysiological indices of temporal processing dysfunction in schizophrenia. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2005) 17:517–25. doi: 10.1176/jnp.17.4.517

119. Carroll CA, O'Donnell BF, Shekhar A, Hetrick WP. Timing dysfunctions in schizophrenia as measured by a repetitive finger tapping task. *Brain Cogn.* (2009) 71:345–53. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2009.06.009

120. Elvevag B, McCormack T, Gilbert A, Brown GD, Weinberger DR, Goldberg TE. Duration judgements in patients with schizophrenia. *Psychol Med.* (2003) 33:1249–61. doi: 10.1017/S0033291703008122

121. Carroll CA, O'Donnell BF, Shekhar A, Hetrick WP. Timing dysfunctions in schizophrenia span from millisecond to several-second durations. *Brain Cogn.* (2009) 70:181–90. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2009.02.001

122. Allan LG, Gibbon J. Human bisection at the geometric mean. *Learn Motiv*. (1991) 22:39–58. doi: 10.1016/0023-9690(91)90016-2

123. Rammsayer TH, Troche SJ. In search of the internal structure of the processes underlying interval timing in the sub-second and the second range: a confirmatory factor analysis approach. *Acta Psychol.* (2014) 147:68–74. doi: 10.1016/j. actpsy.2013.05.004

124. Lewis PA, Miall RC. Distinct systems for automatic and cognitively controlled time measurement: evidence from neuroimaging. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* (2003) 13:250–5. doi: 10.1016/S0959-4388(03)00036-9

125. Densen ME. Time perception and schizophrenia. Percept Mot Skills. (1977) 44:436–8. doi: 10.2466/pms.1977.44.2.436

126. Johnson JE, Petzel TP. Temporal orientation and time estimation in chronic schizophrenics. J Clin Psychol. (1971) 27:194–6. doi: 10.1002/1097-4679(197104)27:2<194::AID-JCLP2270270210>3.0.CO;2-F

127. Tracy JI, Monaco C, McMichael H, Tyson K, Chambliss C, Christensen HL, et al. Information-processing characteristics of explicit time estimation by patients with schizophrenia and normal controls. *Percept Mot Skills*. (1998) 86:515–26. doi: 10.2466/ pms.1998.86.2.515

128. Walther S, Alexaki D, Stegmayer K, Vanbellingen T, Bohlhalter S. Conceptual disorganization impairs hand gesture performance in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2020) 215:467–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2019.09.001

129. Huang H, Zhang B, Mi L, Liu M, Chang X, Luo Y, et al. Reconfiguration of functional dynamics in Cortico-Thalamo-cerebellar circuit in schizophrenia following high-frequency repeated transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2022) 16:928315. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2022.928315

Frontiers in **Psychiatry**

Explores and communicates innovation in the field of psychiatry to improve patient outcomes

The third most-cited journal in its field, using translational approaches to improve therapeutic options for mental illness, communicate progress to clinicians and researchers, and consequently to improve patient treatment outcomes.

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



